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PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”), imdling Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FarglrCondition and Results
of Operations in Part Il, ltem 7 below, includes/dard-looking statements within the meaning of ®&c7A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchangef 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).sdditements other than statements of
historical facts contained in this Form 10-K, irdihg statements regarding our future financial fp@sj business strategy and plans and
objectives of management for future operationsf@mgard-looking statements. The words “believayidy,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,”
“anticipate,” “i should,” “plan,” “expectand similar expressions, as they relate to usn&eaded to identify forward-looking

intend,
statements. We have based these forward-lookibgnséants largely on our current expectations angeptions about future events and
financial trends that we believe may affect ouafinial condition, results of operations, businésgegy and financial needs. These forward-
looking statements are subject to a number of riskeertainties and assumptions described in “Rédtors” in Part |, Iltem 1A below, and
elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including, among otimémgs: the future growth of the small business home markets; speed of adoption of
wireless networking worldwide; our business strege@nd development plans; our successful intréoluct new products and technologies;
future operating expenses and financing requirespamd competition and competitive factors in thak business and home markets. In light
of these risks, uncertainties and assumptiondotireard-looking events and circumstances discugséus Form 10-K may not occur and
actual results could differ materially from thos#ieipated or implied in the forward-looking statemts. All forward-looking statements in this
Form 10-K are based on information available tasisf the date hereof and we assume no obligatiapdate any such forward-looking
statements. The following discussion should be readnjunction with our consolidated financialtstaents and the accompanying notes
contained in this Form 10-K.

Item 1. Business
General

We design, develop and market networking produmtfidme users and for small business, which wendefs a business with fewer than
250 employees. We are focused on satisfying the-efase, quality, reliability, performance andoaéfability requirements of these users. Our
product offerings enable users to connect and camuate across local area networks, or LANs, andXoeld Wide Web and share internet
access, peripherals, files, digital multimedia eahtand applications among multiple networked devi@nd other internet-enabled devices. We
sell our products through multiple sales channelddwide, which includes traditional retailers, in@ retailers, wholesale distributors, direct
market resellers, or DMRs, value added resellers¥AdRs, and broadband service providers. A disarssi factors potentially affecting our
operations is set forth in “Risk Factors” in Partém 1A of this Form 10-K.

We were incorporated in Delaware on January 8, 1928 principal executive offices are located & &ast Plumeria Drive, San Jose,
California 95134, and our telephone number atltestion is (408) 907-8000. We file reports, pratgtements and other information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, inrdecge with the Exchange Act. You may read and eypyreports, proxy statements and
other information filed by us at the SEC’s Publief&ence Room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Wgtdnin D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about thdRuReference Room. Our filings are also availdabléhe public over the internet at the
SEC’s website atttp://www.sec.goyand, as soon as practicable after such rep@tiled with the SEC, free of charge through a hijple on
our internet website dttp://www.netgear.coninformation contained on these websites is notragiahis Form 10-K.

Markets

Our goal is to be the leading provider of innovathetworking products to the small business andehmarkets. A number of factors are
driving today’s demand for networking products witemall businesses and homes. As the number opeting devices, such as PCs, has
increased in recent years, networks are being
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deployed in order to share information and resaiazeong users and devices. This information armlres sharing occurs internally, through
a local area network, or externally, via the inggrio take advantage of complex applications, aded communication capabilities and rich
multimedia content, users are upgrading their irgeconnections by deploying high-speed broadbanedsa technologies. Users also seek the
convenience and flexibility of operating their P@gtops and related computing devices and acaefis@ir content in a more mobile, or
wireless, manner. Finally, as the usage of netwanktuding the internet, has increased, users bageme much more focused on the security
of their connections and the protection of the déthin their networks.

Small business and home users demand a compleiewsied and wireless networking and broadbandipets that are tailored to their
specific needs and budgets and also incorporatiatisst networking technologies. These users redh& continual introduction of new and
refined products. Small business and home usegs tdtk extensive IT resources and technical kndgdeand therefore demand ‘plug-and-
play’ or easy-to-install and use products. Thesguseek reliable products that require little @nmaintenance, and are supported by effective
technical support and customer service. We belieaethese users also prefer the convenience afrobg a networking solution from a single
company with whom they are familiar; as these usgpmnd their networks, they tend to be loyal paseins of that brand. In addition,
purchasing decisions of users in the small busiandshome markets are also driven by the afforitloif networking products. To provide
reliable, easy-to-use products at an attractiveeprve believe a successful supplier must havergany-wide focus on the unique
requirements of these markets and the operatioseiptine and cost-efficient company infrastructared processes that allow for efficient
product development, manufacturing and distribution

Sales Channels

We sell our products through multiple sales chasmalrldwide, including traditional retailers, ordimetailers, wholesale distributors,
DMRs, VARs, and broadband service providers.

Wholesale DistributionOur distribution channel supplies our productsetaiters, e-commerce resellers, Direct Market Reselnd
Value Added Resellers. We sell directly to ourritisttors, the largest of which are Ingram Microg.lrand Tech Data Corporation.

Retailers.Our retail channel primarily supplies products tha sold into the home market. We sell direct|yotoenter into consignment
arrangements with, a number of our traditionalitets. The remaining traditional retailers, as vaslour online retailers, are fulfilled through
wholesale distributors. We work directly with oetail channels on market development activitieshsas co-advertising, in-store promotions
and demonstrations, instant rebate programs, epemisorship and sales associate training, as webtablishing “store within a store”
websites and banner advertising.

DMRs and VAR4Ne primarily sell into the small business marketpléhrough an extensive network of DMRs (Direct kéamResellers)
and VARs (Value Added Resellers). Our DMRs incladenpanies such as CDW and Insight. VARs includenetwork of registered
Powershift Partners, and resellers that are nagtezgd in our Powershift partner program. DMRs "#dRs may receive sales incentives,
marketing support and other program benefits fremQur DMRs and VARs generally purchase our pradtiebugh our wholesale
distributors.

Broadband Service Providerg/e also supply our products directly to broadbagrdise providers in the United States and
internationally. Service Providers supply our pragito their small business and home subscribers.

4
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We derive the majority of our net revenue from inggional sales. International sales as a percergaget revenue decreased from 60%
in 2008 to 54% in 2009. The table below sets forthnet revenue by major geographic region.

Percentagt Percentagt
2009 Change 2008 Change 2007
(In thousands, except percentage data)
United State: $314,39: 6% $297,64: 9% $273,69!
EMEA 292,18: (17%) 354,05¢ (7%) 380,35:
Asia Pacific and rest of worl 80,02 (13%) 91,64t 24% 73,73t
$686,59! (8%) $743,34¢ 2% $727,78°

Net revenues from significant customers as a péagerof our total net revenues for the years elsEmber 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2008 2007
Ingram Micro, Inc. 11% 14% 17%
Best Buy Co., Inc 11% 8% 7%
Tech Data Corporatio 8% 11% 14%

Product Offerings

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessiciey that enable Ethernet networking, broadbandss;aetwork connectivity, network
storage and security appliances. These producivaitable in multiple configurations to address tleeds of our customers in each geogr
region in which our products are sold.

Small business networkinghese products include:
» Ethernet switches, which are multiple port devigssd to network PCs and peripherals via Ethernéhgyi

* Wireless controllers, which are devices used toagarand control multiple WiFi base stations whitkuirn provide WiFi
connections to PCs and peripher.

» Internet Security Appliances, which provide intdraecess through capabilities such as-virus and an-spam; anc
* network attached storage, which enables file sgamong multiple PCs and other networked devices alocal area networ

Broadband Acces®&roadband is a transmission medium capable of ngowiare digital content over public high speed neksdhan
traditional low speed telephone lines. Productséhable broadband access include:

» routers, which connect the home or office netwadkthe internet via broadband model

« gateways, which are routers with integrated moddonsnternet acces:

* |IP telephony products, used for transmitting vaiommmunications over a network; a

» Media servers, which store files and multimediateohfor access by PCs, laptops, smart phonesthed ioternet enabled devict

Network ConnectivityProducts that enable network connectivity and resogharing include:
» wireless access points, which provide a wireledsbietween a wired network and wireless devi

5
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» wireless network interface cards and adapters,wiiable devices to be connected to the networdegsly;

» Ethernet network interface cards and adapters,iwdn@ble devices to be connected to the networkEiWeernet wiring
» media adapters, which connect non PC entertaindentes such as TVs, audio players, and game cessoh network
» powerline adapters and bridges, which enable dst@ee connected to the network over existingtetad wiring; and

* MoCA adapters and bridges, which enable devicégtoconnected to the network over existing coaxiehg.

We design our products to meet the specific neétsth the small business and home markets, tagorarious elements of the product
design, including component specification, physataracteristics such as casing, design and caaratnd specific user interface features to
meet the needs of these markets. We also leveragg af our technological developments, high volurmmenufacturing, technical support and
engineering infrastructure across our markets teimmae business efficiencies.

Our products that target the small business manketlesigned with an industrial appearance, inctudietal cases, and for some product
categories, the ability to mount the product witbiandard data networking racks. These productsalyp include higher port counts, higher
data transfer rates and other performance chaistaterdesigned to meet the needs of a small bsisinger. For example, we offer data transfer
rates up to ten Gigabits per second for our busipesducts to meet the higher capacity requiremensisiness users. Some of these products
are also designed to support transmission modésagifiber optic cabling, which is common in mooplsisticated business environments.
Security requirements within our products for snbailsiness broadband access include firewall, \ligtimate network and content threat
management capabilities that allow for secure a&uons between remote offices and business hegadglecations over the internet. Our
connectivity product offerings for the small busisenarket include enhanced security and remotégeoability often required in a business
setting. Our ReadyNAS family of network attacheatagie products implements redundant array of inuldget disks data protection,
enabling small businesses to store and proteatalrdata easily, efficiently and intelligently.

Our products for the home user are designed withgihg visual and physical aesthetics that are ahesiable in a home environment.
Our connectivity offerings for use in the home gemerally at a lower price than higher security eofigurability wireless offerings for the
small business market. Our products for faciligimoadband access in the home are available eatiufes such as parental control capabi
and firewall security, to allow for safer, more tratled internet usage in families with childrerui@roadband products designed for the home
market also contain installation software that gsid less sophisticated user through the installatiocess with their broadband service
provider, using a graphical user interface and Bmpint and click operations. Our connectivity guot offerings for the home include
powerline and MoCA data transmission modes whitdtwahome users to take advantage of their existliagtrical or coaxial wiring
infrastructure for transmitting data among netwooknponents.

Competition

The small business and home networking marketstgesely competitive and subject to rapid techgiglal change. We expect
competition to continue to intensify. Our princigalmpetitors include:

« within the small business networking market, congssuch as 3Com Corporation, Allied Telesyn Irdéomal, Buffalo, Inc., Del
Computer Corporation, D-Link, Hewlerackard Company, the Linksys division of Cisco 8y, Inc., Fortinet, Inc., SonicWAL
Inc., and WatchGuard; at

« within the home networking market, companies suchApple Inc., Belkin Corporation, D-Link, and thanksys division of Cisco
Systems
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Other current competitors include numerous localklegs such as Devolo, LEA and AVM in Europe, Corbgarnational SA and Melco,
Inc. in Japan and TP-Link in China, and broadbaqpdmment suppliers such as Actiontec Electronies,, IARRIS Group, Inc., Comtrend
Corporation, Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd., Motoradfec., Sagem Corporation, Scientific Atlanta—addisompany, Thomson Corporation
and 2Wire, Inc. Our potential competitors includ@sumer electronics vendors and telecommunicagqogpment vendors who could integi
networking capabilities into their line of producésd our channel customers who may decide to séfiftbranded networking products. We
also face competition from service providers whg/andle a free networking device with their broawith service offering, which would
reduce our sales if we are not the supplier ofahitd those service providers.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hireyer operating histories, greater name recagniéind substantially greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and otheoueces. As a result, they may have more advaeobtology, larger distribution channels,
stronger brand names, better customer service@msito more customers than we do. For exampleleittePackard has significant brand
name recognition and has an advertising preseriztastially greater than ours. Similarly, Ciscot8yss is well recognized as a leader in
providing networking products to businesses andshastantially greater financial resources thardaeSeveral of our competitors, such as the
Linksys division of Cisco Systems andLink, offer a range of products that directly cortgperith most of our product offerings. Several af
other competitors primarily compete in a more ledimanner. For example, Hewlett-Packard sells n&ing products primarily targeted at
larger businesses or enterprises. However, the ettinp environment in which we operate change&igpOther large companies with
significant resources could become direct compstiteither through acquiring a competitor or thiougernal efforts.

We believe that the principal competitive factarghie small business and home markets for netwgninducts include product breadth,
size and scope of the sales channel, brand namgljrtess of new product introductions, product genfance, features, functionality and
reliability, price, ease-of-installation, maintegarand use, and customer service and support.

To remain competitive, we believe we must inveghiicant resources in developing new productsemttincing our current products
while continuing to expand our sales channels aamht@ining customer satisfaction worldwide.

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2009, we had 149 employees edgagesearch and development. We believe thasueeess depends on our
ability to develop products that meet changing needs and to anticipate and proactively respordadving technology in a timely and cost-
effective manner. Accordingly, we have made investts in our research and development departmemtiar to effectively evaluate new th
party technologies, develop new in-house technekgind develop and test new products. Our reseactdevelopment employees work
closely with our technology and manufacturing parsrto bring our products to market in a timelghhguality and cost-efficient manner.

We identify, qualify or self-develop new technolegji and we work closely with our various technolegppliers and manufacturing
partners to develop products using one or moraeflevelopment methodologies described below.

ODM. Under the original design manufacturer, or ODM, meeiblogy, which we use for most of our product depment activities, we
define the product concept and specification andmemend the technology selection. We then coordinéth our technology suppliers while
they develop the chipsets, software and detailediitidesigns. On certain new products, one or rsalesystems of the design can be done in-
house and then integrated in with the remaininggdesieces from the ODM. Once prototypes are cotepleve work with our partners to
complete the debugging and systems integrationtestohg. After completion of the final tests, aggapprovals and product documentation,
the product is released for production.
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CM.. Under the contract manufacturer, or CM, methogiplevhich we use for a limited number of produets, define the product
concept and specification and develop the primachinology and software internally. Once prototygescompleted, we work with our
partners to complete the debugging and systemgraiten and testing. After completion of the fitests, agency approvals and product
documentation, the product is released for prodacti

IN-HOUSE DEVELOPMENTUNder the inhouse development model, one or more subsystethe groduct are designed and develc
utilizing the NETGEAR engineering team. Under tmedel some of the primary technology is developedduse. We then work closely with
either an ODM or a contract manufacturer to congpleé development of the entire design, perforrmmessary testing, and obtain regula
approvals before the product is released for proloc

OEM. Under the original equipment manufacturer, or OEMthodology, which we use for a limited number fducts, we define the
product specification and then purchase the proflast OEM suppliers that have existing productsniit our design requirements. In some
cases, once a technology supplier’s product issalewe work with the OEM supplier to complete tlosmetic changes to fit into our
mechanical and packaging design, as well as ourrdentation and graphical user interface, or Glndard. The OEM supplier completes
regulatory approvals on our behalf. When all desigrification and regulatory testing is completda product is released for production.

Our internal research and development efforts facudeveloping and improving the usability, rellapi functionality, cost and
performance of our products. Our total researchdaw&lopment expenses were $30.1 million in 20383,&million in 2008 and $28.1 million
in 2007.

Manufacturing

Our primary manufacturers are Cameo Communications Delta Networks Incorporated, Hon Hai Preaisindustry Co., Ltd. (more
commonly known as Foxconn Corporation), SerComnp@ation, Kepro, and Unihan Corporation (which wpan out of ASUSTek
Computer, Inc. in January 2008), all of which aeadiquartered in Taiwan. The actual manufacturinguofproducts occurs primarily in
mainland China, with pilot and low-volume manufaotg in Taiwan on a select basis. We distributeroanufacturing among these key
suppliers to avoid excessive concentration witingle supplier. In addition to their responsibilftyr the manufacturing of our products, our
manufacturers purchase all necessary parts andiatate produce complete, finished goods. To naintjuality standards for our suppliers,
we have established our own product quality orgeiion based in Hong Kong and mainland China. Thiey@sponsible for auditing and
inspecting process and product quality on the psemof our ODMs, CMs and OEMSs.

We currently outsource warehousing and distribukigistics to four third-party providers who arspensible for warehousing,
distribution logistics and order fulfillment. In diion, these parties are also responsible for soonéiguration and r@ackaging of our produc
including bundling components to form kits, insegtiappropriate documentation, disk drive configorgtand adding power adapters. APL
Logistics Americas, Ltd. in City of Industry, Calihia serves the Americas region, Kerry Logistits. in Hong Kong serves the Asia Pacific
region, and DSV Solutions B.V. and ModusLink B\lre Netherlands serve the Europe, Middle-East drida or EMEA, region.

Sales and Marketing

As of December 31, 2009, we had 268 employees edgiagsales and marketing. We work directly with oustomers on market
development activities, such as co-advertisingtore promotions and demonstrations, instant rglraigrams, event sponsorship and sales
associate training. We also participate in majdustry trade shows and marketing events. Our magkeepartment is comprised of our
product marketing and corporate marketing groups.
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Our product marketing group focuses on producteggsg product development roadmaps, the new pradtroduction process, product
lifecycle management, demand assessment and coingatialysis. The group works closely with ouresadnd research and development
groups to align our product development roadmapeéet customer technology demands from a strateg8ppctive. The group also ensures
that product development activities, product lawssithannel marketing program activities, and amggdiemand and supply planning occur in
a well-managed, timely basis in coordination withr development, manufacturing, and sales groupseisas our ODM, CM, OEM and sales
channel partners.

Our corporate marketing group is responsible fdiniteg and building our corporate brand. The gréaguses on defining our mission,
brand promise and marketing messages on a worldvasis. This group also defines the marketing aggres in the areas of advertising,
public relations, events, channel programs anda@lr delivery mechanisms. These marketing messagkapproaches are customized for |
the small business and home markets through atyafi@elivery mechanisms designed to effectivelsgah end-users in a cost-efficient
manner.

We conduct most of our international sales and etary operations through wholly-owned subsidiavigaéch operate via sales and
marketing subsidiaries and branch offices worldwide

Customer Support

We design our products with “plug and plaése of use. We respond globally to customer guestiver the phone and internet incluc
providing an online Knowledgebase and User Foruust@ner support is provided through a combinatioa lanited number of permanent
employees and use of subcontracted “out-sourcieggurces. Our permanent employees design our tadlsnipport database and are
responsible for training and managing our outsalisté-contractors. We utilize the information gdifim customers by our customer
support organization to enhance our product ofgimcluding further simplifying the installatigmocess.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our continued success will depeirdarily on the technical expertise, speed of tetbgy implementation, creative ski
and management abilities of our officers and keplegees, plus ownership of a limited but importseit of copyrights, trademarks, trade
secrets and patents. We primarily rely on a contlmnaf copyright, trademark and trade secret aateémt laws, nondisclosure agreements
employees, consultants and suppliers and otheramngl provisions to establish, maintain and ptoterr proprietary rights. We hold four
issued patents that expire between years 2023G@2@&l&hd currently have a number of pending UnitdieS patent applications related to
technology and products offered by us. In additiva rely on third-party licensors for patented ek and software license rights in
technology that are incorporated into and are resggdor the operation and functionality of our gwots. Our success will depend in part on
our continued ability to have access to these taoigies.

We have trade secret rights for our products, stingi mainly of product design, technical produstumentation and software. We also
own, or have applied for registration of trademanksonnection with our products in the Unitedt8saand internationally, including
NETGEAR, the NETGEAR logo, NETGEAR Green, NETGEAR)ifal Entertainer, Genie, Readyshare, Neo Pix, WépNet-Doctor,
NETGEAR Stora, the NETGEAR Stora logo, the NETGEBRital Entertainer logo, the Gear Guy logo, Cortneith Innovation,
Everybody’s connecting, IntelliFi, ProSafe, RangelMReadyNAS, Smart Wizard, ProSecure, the ProSdogme Push2TV, and X-RAID. We
have registered a number of internet domain nahssate use for electronic interaction with our onsérs including dissemination of product
information, marketing programs, product registnatisales activities, and other commercial uses.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2009, we had 586 full-time erppés, with 268 in sales, marketing and technicppstt, 149 in research and
development, 71 in operations, and 98 in finanterimation systems and administration. We alsdzetih number of temporary staff to
supplement our workforce. We have never had a wtmpage among our employees and no personna@esented under collective
bargaining agreements. We consider our relatiotis eir employees to be good.

Website Posting of SEC Filings

Our website provides a link to our SEC filings, ethiare available on the same day such filings ax@emThe specific location on the
website where these reports can be found is fittype8tor.netgear.com/sec.cfm. Our website alsoigesva link to Section 16 filings which are
available on the same day as such filings are made.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. The risks described below are not extiaei®f the risks that might affect
our business. Other risks, including those we aufyedeem immaterial, may also impact our businAsg. of the following risks could
materially adversely affect our business operatjoasults of operations and financial condition aswlld result in a significant decline in our
stock price. Before deciding to purchase, holdedr aur common stock, you should carefully consttierrisks described in this section. This
section should be read in conjunction with the ofidated financial statements and accompanyingsititereto, and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d@esults of Operations included in this Annual ReparForm 1(-K.

We expect our operating results to fluctuate on auprterly and annual basis, which could cause our etk price to fluctuate or decline.

Our operating results are difficult to predict andy fluctuate substantially from quarter-to-quadeyear-toyear for a variety of reasor
many of which are beyond our control. If our actiealenue were to fall below our estimates or theeetations of public market analysts or
investors, our quarterly and annual results woelchégatively impacted and the price of our stoakadecline. Other factors that could affect
our quarterly and annual operating results inclimbse listed in the risk factors section of thiga® and others such as:

» changes in the pricing policies of or the introdluetof new products by us or our competitc

« litigation involving patent infringemen

» changes in the terms of our contracts with custeroesuppliers that cause us to incur additionpkases or assume additio
liabilities;

» slow or negative growth in the networking prodyeysonal computer, internet infrastructure, honeetednics and related
technology markets, as well as decreased demaridtéonet acces:

» changes in or consolidation of our sales chanmalsadholesale distributor relationships or failusertanage our sales channel
inventory and warehousing requiremel

» delay or failure to fulfill orders for our produats a timely basis

» disruptions or delays related to our financial anterprise resource planning syste

» our inability to accurately forecast product demne

» component supply constraints from our vend

» unfavorable level of inventory and turr

e unanticipated shift in overall product mix from har to lower margin products that would adverseipact our margins
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unanticipated shift or decline in profit by geodgnagal region that would adversely impact our tabey
delays in the introduction of new products by usnarket acceptance of these produ

an increase in price protection claims, redemptafmearketing rebates, product warranty and stot&tion returns or allowance 1
doubtful accounts

epidemic or widespread failure in one or more afmoducts;
unanticipated safety issue involving one or morewfproducts
challenges associated with integrating acquisittbas we make

operational disruptions, such as transportatioaydebr failure of our order processing system,i@agrly if they occur at the end
a fiscal quarter

delay or failure of our service provider custonmterpurchase at the volumes that we forec

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations injtimessdictions where we transact sales and experaditin local currency
our customer inability to pay for purchased goods in a timelgtn;

bad debt exposure with our existing customers angeaexpand into new international mark

unanticipated increase in costs, including airginei associated with shipping and delivery of owdoicts;

our failure to implement and maintain the apprdpriaternal controls over financial reporting whitiay result in restatements of
our financial statements; al

any changes in accounting rul

As a result, period-tperiod comparisons of our operating results maybeaneaningful, and you should not rely on theraragdicatior
of our future performance. In addition, our futegerating results may fall below the expectatioiygublic market analysts or investors. In that
event, our stock price could decline significantly.

Our stock price may be volatile and your investmenin our common stock could suffer a decline in vale.

With the continuing uncertainty about economic dbads in the United States and abroad, there bas Bignificant volatility in the
market price and trading volume of securities ohtelogy and other companies, which may be unmlati¢he financial performance of these
companies. These broad market fluctuations maytivedyaaffect the market price of our common stock.

Some specific factors that may have a significdfieceon our common stock market price include:

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults or our competitc’ operating results

actual or anticipated changes in the growth rath@fyeneral networking sector, our growth ratesusrcompetitor’ growth rates
conditions in the financial markets in general lbarges in general economic conditic

interest rate or currency exchange rate fluctuati

our ability or inability to raise additional caditand

our ability to report accurate financial result®imr periodic reports filed with the SEC; a

changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorssdety our common stock, other comparable compaiesir industry
generally.
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Economic conditions are likely to materially adversly affect our revenue and results of operations.

Our business has been and may continue to be edfeégta number of factors that are beyond our obatrch as general geopolitical,
economic and business conditions, conditions iffittencial services markets, and changes in theathdemand for networking products. A
severe and/or prolonged economic downturn couléi@gly affect our customers’ financial conditiorddhe levels of business activity of our
customers. Uncertainty about current global econaranditions could cause businesses to postpomelgein response to tighter credit,
negative financial news and/or declines in incomasset values, which could have a material negatifect on the demand for networking
products.

The ongoing economic problems affecting the bankiystem and financial markets and the continue@ainity in global economic
conditions have resulted in a tightening in thelitrmarkets, a low level of liquidity in many fineial markets, and extreme volatility in credit,
equity, currency and fixed income markets. Therdabe a number of follow-on effects from theserewuic developments and negative
economic trends on our business, including theilitybf customers to obtain credit to finance puases of our products; customer
insolvencies; decreased customer confidence to matahasing decisions; decreased customer demaddiexreased customer ability to pay
their trade obligations.

If conditions in the global economy, U.S. economyther key vertical or geographic markets remaiceutain or weaken further, such
conditions could have a material adverse impaaiworbusiness, operating results and financial dandiln addition, if we are unable to
successfully anticipate changing economic andipalitonditions, we may be unable to effectivelstpfor and respond to those changes,
which could materially adversely affect our bussaad results of operations.

Some of our competitors have substantially greateesources than we do, and to be competitive we méy required to lower our prices
or increase our sales and marketing expenses, whicbuld result in reduced margins and loss of markeshare.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly comipeti market, and we expect competition to contitaube intense, including price
competition. Our principal competitors in the snaald medium business market include 3Com, Allielédyn, Buffalo, Dell, D-Link, Fortinet,
Inc., Hewlett-Packard, the Linksys division of GisBystems, SonicWALL, WatchGuard. Our principal petitors in the home market include
Apple, Belkin, D-Link and the Linksys division ofi¥eo Systems. Our principal competitors in the Hb@and service provider market include
Actiontec, ARRIS, Comtrend, Huawei, Motorola, Sag&uientific Atlanta-a Cisco company, ZyXEL, Thomsand 2Wire. Other current and
potential competitors include numerous local vesdrch as Devolo, LEA and AVM in Europe, Corega liedco in Japan and TP-Link in
China. Our potential competitors also include comsuelectronics vendors who could integrate netimgrkapabilities into their line of
products, and our channel customers who may degidéer self-branded networking products. We dsze competition from service
providers who may bundle a free networking devid their broadband service offering, which woutdiuce our sales if we are not the
supplier of choice to those service providers.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hireger operating histories, greater name recagniind substantially greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and otheoueces. These competitors may, among other thimgkertake more extensive marketing
campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing policie&in more favorable pricing from suppliers anchofacturers, and exert more influence
sales channels than we can. We anticipate thatmiuand potential competitors will also intensiigit efforts to penetrate our target markets.
For example, price competition has intensifiedim industry. Average sales prices have declindderpast and may continue to decline in the
future. These competitors may have more advanatthtdogy, more extensive distribution channelgrgier brand names, greater access to
shelf space in retail locations, bigger promotidmadigets and larger customer bases than we doe Toaspanies could devote more capital
resources to develop, manufacture and market camgpgtoducts than we could. If any of these compsiaire successful in competing against
us, our sales could decline, our margins coulddgmtively impacted and we could lose market steame of which could seriously harm our
business and results of operations.
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Our business is subject to the risks of internatioal operations.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue fromternational operations. As a result, our finahcbndition and operating results
could be significantly affected by risks associatgith international activities, including econonaind labor conditions, political instability, tax
laws, and changes in the value of the U.S. doBasws local currencies. Margins on sales of oudyets in foreign countries, and on sales of
products that include components obtained fromidorsuppliers, could be materially adversely afeldby foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations and by international trade regulatiohdditionally, certain foreign countries have cdexregulatory requirements as condition:
doing business. Meeting these requirements magaser our operating expenses as we expand intaraliio

We obtain several key components from limited or de sources, and if these sources fail to satisfy supply requirements, we may lose
sales and experience increased component costs.

Any shortage or delay in the supply of key procdtarnponents would harm our ability to meet schedplediuct deliveries. Many of the
semiconductors used in our products are speckiciEsigned for use in our products and are obtdired sole source suppliers on a purchase
order basis. In addition, some components thatised in all our products are obtained from limgedrces. These components include
connector jacks, plastic casings and physical laggisceivers. We also obtain switching fabric semductors, which are used in our Ethernet
switches and internet gateway products, and wisdtEsal area network chipsets, which are used iof alur wireless products, from a limited
number of suppliers. Semiconductor suppliers hapergenced and continue to experience componemtafes themselves, such as with
substrates used in manufacturing chipsets, whittrmadversely impact our ability to procure semigductors from them. Our third party
manufacturers generally purchase these componeraardbehalf on a purchase order basis, and wetbave any contractual commitments
or guaranteed supply arrangements with our sugplifdemand for a specific component increasesnag not be able to obtain an adequate
number of that component in a timely manner. Initaatd if worldwide demand for the components irases significantly, the availability of
these components could be limited. Further, oupkens may experience financial or other difficeftias a result of uncertain and weak
worldwide economic conditions. It could be diffitutostly and time consuming to obtain alternativerces for these components, or to ch:
product designs to make use of alternative compsnénaddition, difficulties in transitioning froemn existing supplier to a new supplier could
create delays in component availability that wcidde a significant impact on our ability to fulfdrders for our products.

If we are unable to obtain a sufficient supply ofmponents, or if we experience any interruptiothiznsupply of components, our prod
shipments could be reduced or delayed. Componentagjes and delays affect our ability to meet satetiproduct deliveries, damage our
brand and reputation in the market, and cause las¢éomarket share. For example, component sharfaghe fourth quarter of 2009 limited
our ability to supply all the worldwide demand farr products and our revenue was affected.

If we do not effectively manage our sales channelientory and product mix, we may incur costs assoaied with excess inventory, or
lose sales from having too few products.

If we are unable to properly monitor, control andrmage our sales channel inventory and maintaimpgpropriate level and mix of
products with our wholesale distributors and witbur sales channels, we may incur increased amxpented costs associated with this
inventory. We generally allow wholesale distribst@and traditional retailers to return a limited amiof our products in exchange for other
products. Under our price protection policy, if meeluce the list price of a product, we are ofteuired to issue a credit in an amount equal to
the reduction for each of the products held in imwey by our wholesale distributors and retailéreur wholesale distributors and retailers are
unable to sell their inventory in a timely mannee, might lower the price of the products, or thpagies may exchange the products for newer
products. Also, during the transition from an erigtproduct to a new replacement product, we mestirately predict the demand for the
existing and the new product.
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We determine production levels based on our foteadsdemand for our products. Actual demand farpyoducts depends on many
factors, which makes it difficult to forecast. Wavie experienced differences between our actuabantbrecasted demand in the past and
expect differences to arise in the future. If weioperly forecast demand for our products we ceuald up with too many products and be
unable to sell the excess inventory in a timely neanif at all, or, alternatively we could end ujgthwtoo few products and not be able to satisfy
demand. This problem is exacerbated because waptte closely match inventory levels with proddetmand leaving limited margin for
error. If these events occur, we could incur insesbexpenses associated with writing off excessivasolete inventory, lose sales, incur
penalties for late delivery or have to ship produmt air freight to meet immediate demand incuriimgemental freight costs above the sea
freight costs, a preferred method, and suffericgraesponding decline in gross margins.

We are exposed to adverse currency exchange ratedtuations in jurisdictions where we transact in l@al currency, which could harm
our financial results and cash flows.

Because a significant portion of our business iglaated outside the United States, we face expdsw@verse movements in foreign
currency exchange rates. These exposures may chaagéme as business practices evolve, and tbelddhave a material adverse impact on
our results of operations, financial position aadtcflows. Although a portion of our internatiosales are currently invoiced in United States
dollars, we have implemented and continue to implanfor certain countries and customers both irimgiand payment in foreign currencies.
Our primary exposure to movements in foreign curyeexchange rates relates to non-U.S. dollar demat@d sales in Europe, Japan and
Australia as well as our global operations, and-bd®. dollar denominated operating expenses aridinassets and liabilities. In addition,
weaknesses in foreign currencies for U.S. dollaod@nated sales could adversely affect demanddopmducts. Conversely, a strengthening
in foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar cantidease foreign currency denominated costs. isalt we may attempt to renegotiate
pricing of existing contracts or request paymertiganade in U.S. dollars. We cannot be sure thatustomers would agree to renegotiate
along these lines. This could result in customeentially terminating contracts with us or in ogcition to terminate certain contracts, which
would adversely affect our sales.

We implemented a hedging program in November 260&tige exposures to fluctuations in foreign cuayesxchange rates as a
response to the risks of changes in the valuerefdn currency denominated assets and liabilitiés.may enter into foreign currency forward
contracts or other instruments, the majority ofakhinature within approximately five months. Ourdign currency forward contracts reduce,
but do not eliminate, the impact of currency exgearate movements. For example, we do not exeout&afd contracts in all currencies in
which we conduct business. In addition, in the sddiscal quarter of 2009, we commenced impleméentaif a hedging program to reduce
impact of volatile exchange rates on net revengress profit and operating profit for limited pedgof time. However, the use of such hedging
activities may not offset more than a portion & #uverse financial effect resulting from unfavdeabhovements in foreign exchange rates.

The average selling prices of our products typicajl decrease rapidly over the sales cycle of the pradt, which may negatively affect our
gross margins.

Our products typically experience price erosiofgidy rapid reduction in the average unit selliprices over their respective sales cycles.
In order to sell products that have a falling ageranit selling price and maintain margins at th@e time, we need to continually reduce
product and manufacturing costs. To manage manufagtcosts, we must collaborate with our thirdtpamanufacturers to engineer the most
cost-effective design for our products. In additiase must carefully manage the price paid for congmds used in our products. We must also
successfully manage our freight and inventory casteduce overall product costs. We also needmirtually introduce new products with
higher sales prices and gross margins in orderaiotain our overall gross margins. If we are unablmanage the cost of older products or
successfully introduce new products with highersgrmargins, our net revenue and overall gross marguld likely decline.
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Changes in tax rates, adverse changes in tax lawsexposure to additional income tax liabilities cold affect our future profitability.
Factors that could materially affect our futureseffve tax rates include but are not limited to:
» Changes in the regulatory environme
* Changes in accounting and tax standards or prac
» Changes in the composition of operating incomealyjurisdiction; anc
*  Our operating results before tax

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statelsnumerous foreign jurisdictions. Our effectise rate has fluctuated in the past
may fluctuate in the future. Future effective tates could be affected by changes in the composifi@arnings in countries with differing tax
rates, changes in deferred tax assets and liabiliir changes in tax laws. Recently announcedpsdp for new US tax legislation proposec
President Obama’s administration could also adlyeedéect our tax rate if adopted.

We are also subject to examination by the InteRelenue Service (“IRS”) and other tax authoritiesluding state revenue agencies and
foreign governments. While we regularly assesdikieéihood of favorable or unfavorable outcomesutésg from examinations by the IRS a
other tax authorities to determine the adequa@uofrovision for income taxes, there can be narasge that the actual outcome resulting
from these examinations will not materially advéysdfect our financial condition and operatingutts. Additionally, the IRS and other tax
authorities have increasingly focused attentiointgrcompany transfer pricing with respect to salegroducts and services and the use of
intangible assets. Tax authorities could disagrigle @ur intercompany charges, cross-jurisdictianahsfer pricing or other matters and assess
additional taxes. Any such disagreements may affecprofitability.

We have had to restate our historical financial st&ements.

In July 2009, we announced that we had incorreefprted our income tax provision for the three therended March 29, 2009 and,
result of this error, we restated the financiatesteents in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q far tiwee months ended March 29, 2009. The
restatement, which related solely to the correatibtihhe income tax provision for the three monthdexl March 29, 2009, resulted in
adjustments related to income taxes in our findrstédiements. In our previously filed financialtstaents for the three months ended Marcl
2009, we incorrectly included a particular foretity in calculating our estimated annualizedpeovision. This foreign entity should not
have been included in the calculation becausertieipated losses in that entity would not giverie tax benefits. While our overall annual
provision was not be affected for the entire yearmade an error in inter-quarter allocations eftdx provision. Material changes to our
previously reported financial information occuri@sla result of this error.

In connection with this restatement we identifiedtain control deficiencies relating to the apgima of applicable accounting literature
related to recordation of tax expenses. Theseidafies constituted a material weakness in intezoatrol over financial reporting as of
March 29, 2009, which led to items requiring coti@tin our financial statements and our conclug@restate such financial statements to
correct those items. Specifically, the control dieficies related to our failure to correctly apihlg authoritative guidance for income taxes in
determining the proper allocation of our annualitedprovision.

Although this material weakness has been remediatddkecember 31, 2009, we cannot be certain tieattbasures we have taken since
this restatement will ensure that restatementsnailloccur in the future. Execution of restatemdikisthe one described above create a
significant strain on our internal resources anaddcause delays in our filing of quarterly or aahfinancial results, increase our costs and
cause management distraction. Restatements magigtgficantly affect our stock price in an advensanner.
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We are required to evaluate our internal controls mder Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@2d any adverse results from
such evaluation could impact investor confidence ithe reliability of our internal controls over financial reporting.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, we are required to furnish a report by management on our internal control
over financial reporting. Such report must contimong other matters, an assessment of the effaetgeof our internal control over financial
reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, inchgda statement as to whether or not our internatrobover financial reporting is effective. This
assessment must include disclosure of any mateeiaknesses in our internal control over finan@alorting identified by management.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, in cotivacwith the restatement of our previously isstiedncial statements for the period
ended March 29, 2009, and our assessment of czloslise controls and procedures, management cattlindt as of March 29, 2009, our
disclosure controls and procedures were not effeethd that we had a material weakness in intearatol over financial reporting. The
material weakness related to the accounting farmetaxes. Specifically, we did not maintain aisigfit complement of tax personnel with
the required proficiency to identify, evaluate,iesv, and report complex tax accounting matterartter to remediate the material weakness,
we hired additional personnel in the tax departmtit sufficient knowledge and experience in tastiengthen the controls around the tax
provision. We also engaged tax specialists to asgsis the preparation and review of the inconxeptavision. As a result of these actions,
management has concluded that we have remediaeadaterial weakness related to income taxes agoémber 31, 2009.

We will continue to perform the system and prodissumentation and evaluation needed to comply S&ttion 404, which is both
costly and challenging. During this process, if management identifies one or more material weaasei our internal control over financial
reporting, we will be unable to assert such intecoatrol is effective. If we are unable to assbat our internal control over financial reporting
is effective as of the end of a fiscal year oruf smdependent registered public accounting firmriable to express an opinion on the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting, we could lose investor confidenceha aiccuracy and completeness of our fina
reports, which may have an adverse effect on aakgtrice.

We are subject to numerous governmental regulationsoncerning the manufacturing and use of our produis. We must stay in
compliance with all such regulations and any futureegulations. Any failure to comply with such reguétions, and the unanticipated
costs of complying with future regulations, may adersely affect our business, financial condition andesults of operations.

We manufacture and sell products which containtela@ components, and as such components mayioaonterials that are subject to
government regulation in both the locations thatmenufacture and assemble our products, as wiiedscations where we sell our products.
An example of a regulated material is the use ad i@ electronic components. We maintain compliamitie all current government regulatio
concerning the materials utilized in our produfis all the locations in which we operate. Sinceaperate on a global basis, this is a complex
process which requires continual monitoring of faians and an ongoing compliance process to ertkateve and our suppliers are in
compliance with all existing regulations. There areas where future regulations may be enactedwduiold increase our cost of the
components that we utilize. While we do not cutlsekbow of any proposed regulation regarding congras in our products, which would
have a material impact on our business, if theenignanticipated new regulation which significaithpacts our use of various components or
requires more expensive components, that would hawaterial adverse impact on our business, fighcondition and results of operations.

Our manufacturing process is also subject to nuosegovernmental regulations, which cover both e af various materials as well as
environmental concerns. We maintain compliance wafiticurrent government regulations concerningmoduction processes, for all locations
in which we operate. Since we operate on a gloasikshthis is also a complex process which requioesinual monitoring of regulations and
an ongoing
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compliance process to ensure that we and our ssplire in compliance with all existing regulatiofisere are areas where future regulations
may be enacted which could increase our cost ofufaature. One area which has a large number ohfiatehanges in regulations is the
environmental area. Environmental areas such dstipol and climate change have had significantsiegiive and regulatory efforts on a global
basis, and there are expected to be additionalesato the regulations in these areas. These chaogdd directly increase the cost of energy
which may have an impact on the way we manufagitwducts or utilize energy to produce our productaddition, any new regulations or
laws in the environmental area might increase t#t aof raw materials we use in our products. Whitere changes in regulations appears
likely, we are currently unable to predict how augh changes will impact us and if such impactsheilmaterial to our business. If there is a
new law or regulation that significantly increases costs of manufacturing or causes us to sigmifly alter the way that we manufacture our
products, this would have a material adverse afieaiur business, financial condition and resultsperations.

We are currently involved in various litigation matters and may in the future become involved in addibnal litigation, including
litigation regarding intellectual property rights, which could be costly and subject us to significartability.

The networking industry is characterized by thestxice of a large number of patents and frequairthsland related litigation regarding
infringement of patents, trade secrets and othieléctual property rights. In particular, leadicgmpanies in the data communications marl
some of which are competitors, have extensive patemfolios with respect to networking technologyom time to time, third parties,
including these leading companies, have assertednary continue to assert exclusive patent, copyriggdemark and other intellectual
property rights against us demanding license oaltgypayments or seeking payment for damages, étigmrelief and other available legal
remedies through litigation. These include thirdtipa who claim to own patents or other intelletraperty that cover industry standards that
our products comply with. If we are unable to rgsdhese matters or obtain licenses on acceptalzsienomercially reasonable terms, we could
be sued or we may be forced to initiate litigationprotect our rights. The cost of any necessagnies could significantly harm our business,
operating results and financial condition. Alsoaay time, any of these companies, or any othed fiarty could initiate litigation against us,
we may be forced to initiate litigation againstrthevhich could divert management attention, belgastdefend or prosecute, prevent us from
using or selling the challenged technology, requs¢o design around the challenged technologycande the price of our stock to decline. In
addition, third parties, some of whom are poterdahpetitors, have initiated and may continue itiaite litigation against our manufacturers,
suppliers, members of our sales channels or ouicggprovider customers, alleging infringementtwdit proprietary rights with respect to
existing or future products. In the event succdsdéims of infringement are brought by third pastiand we are unable to obtain licenses or
independently develop alternative technology omaly basis, we may be subject to indemnificatibligations, be unable to offer competit
products, or be subject to increased expensedl\Fioansumer class-action lawsuits related torttagketing and performance of our home
networking products have been asserted and maaeifuture be asserted against us. For additiof@nration regarding certain of the lawsuits
in which we are involved, see the information settf under Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated éfed Statements in Part I, Item 1 of this
report, which information is incorporated into thism 1A by reference. If we do not resolve thds@ms on a favorable basis, our business,
operating results and financial condition couldskgmificantly harmed.

If our products contain defects or errors, we couldncur significant unexpected expenses, experienpeoduct returns and lost sales,
experience product recalls, suffer damage to our land and reputation, and be subject to product liality or other claims.

Our products are complex and may contain defeotsrseor failures, particularly when first introdect or when new versions are relea:
The industry standards upon which many of our petelare based are also complex, experience chamgeime and may be interpreted in
different manners. Some errors and defects maydoevkered only after a product has been instaltetused by the end-user. For example, in
January 2008, we

17



Table of Contents

announced a voluntary recall of the XE103 Powellitigernet Adapter made for Europe and other casitrsing 220-240 volt power sources
and sold individually or in a bundled kit. In addit, certain of our contracts include epidemicuegl clauses. If invoked, these clauses may
entitle the customer to return for replacementhiain credits for products and inventory, as weltexminate an existing contract and cancel
future purchase orders. In such instances, we fsayba obligated to cover significant costs incdrog the customer associated with the
consequences of such epidemic failure, includiegyfit and transportation required for product repilaent. Costs or payments we make in
connection with an epidemic failure may materiatversely affect our results of operations andnioie condition. If our products contain
defects or errors, or are found to be noncompliatht industry standards, we could experience deg@aales and increased product returns,
loss of customers and market share, and increaseide, warranty and insurance costs. In addithem,reputation and brand could be dama
and we could face legal claims regarding our préglue product liability or other claim could resudtnegative publicity and harm our
reputation, resulting in unexpected expenses andraely impact our operating results. For instaifaethird party were able to successfully
overcome the security measures in our product$, ayerson or entity could misappropriate custoshaga, third party data stored by our
customers and other information, including inteilet property. In addition, the operations of ond@ser customers may be interrupted. If
happens, affected end-users or others may filersetigainst us alleging product liability, tort,bweach of warranty claims.

If we fail to continue to introduce new products tlat achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basiwe will not be able to compete
effectively and we will be unable to increase or matain net revenue and gross margins.

We operate in a highly competitive, quickly chamgéenvironment, and our future success depends oability to develop and introduce
new products that achieve broad market acceptaniteeismall business and home markets. Our futloeess will depend in large part upon
our ability to identify demand trends in the snimlkiness and home markets and quickly develop, faatuwe and sell products that satisfy
these demands in a cost effective manner. Sucdiggsfedicting demand trends is difficult, andstvery difficult to predict the effect
introducing a new product will have on existing ¢wot sales. We will also need to respond effecgtiteinew product announcements by our
competitors by quickly introducing competitive puamts.

We have experienced delays and quality issuedaasi|g new products in the past, which resultddwrer quarterly net revenue than
expected. In addition, we have experienced, andim#ye future experience, product introductioret tiall short of our projected rates of
market adoption. Any future delays in product depetent and introduction or product introductionstttio not meet broad market acceptance
could result in:

* loss of or delay in revenue and loss of marketest

* negative publicity and damage to our reputation lanashd;

» adecline in the average selling price of our pobsit

» adverse reactions in our sales channels, suctdaseae shelf space, reduced online product visibitit loss of sales channel; a
* increased levels of product retur

We depend substantially on our sales channels, amdr failure to maintain and expand our sales chanrle would result in lower sales
and reduced net revenue.

To maintain and grow our market share, net revamaebrand, we must maintain and expand our samels. We sell our products
through our sales channels, which consists ofticadil retailers, online retailers, DMRs, VARs, damdadband service providers. Some of
these entities purchase our products through ooteshle distributors. We generally have no mininpurchase commitments or long-term
contracts with any of these third parties.
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Traditional retailers have limited shelf space pnoimotional budgets, and competition is intensdlese resources. If the networking
sector does not experience sufficient growth, l&tsimay choose to allocate more shelf space t&r attnsumer product sectors. A competitor
with more extensive product lines and stronger thidentity, such as Cisco Systems, may have greatgaining power with these retailers.
Any reduction in available shelf space or increasmupetition for such shelf space would requiréouisicrease our marketing expenditures
simply to maintain current levels of retail shgdase, which would harm our operating margin. Tleené trend in the consolidation of online
retailers and DMR channels has resulted in intetsifompetition for preferred product placementhsas product placement on an online
retailer’s internet home page. Expanding our presémthe VAR channel may be difficult and expeasiWe compete with established
companies that have longer operating historied@mgistanding relationships with VARs that we wofifdl highly desirable as sales channel
partners. We also sell products to broadband sepriaviders. Competition for selling to broadbaadvie providers is intense. Penetrating
service provider accounts typically involves a l@@des cycle and the challenge of displacing inemhBuppliers with established relationst
and field-deployed products. If we were unable tortain and expand our sales channels, our growtiidibe limited and our business would
be harmed.

We must also continuously monitor and evaluate gingrsales channels. If we fail to establish agmes in an important developing
sales channel, our business could be harmed.

We depend on a limited number of third party manufacturers for substantially all of our manufacturing needs. If these third party
manufacturers experience any delay, disruption or gality control problems in their operations, we cold lose market share and our
brand may suffer.

All of our products are manufactured, assemblexddetband generally packaged by a limited numberigfnal design manufacturers
(“ODMs”), contract manufacturers (“CMs”) and originequipment manufacturers (“OEMs”). We rely on manufacturers to procure
components and, in some cases, subcontract enigineesrk. Some of our products are manufactured bingle manufacturer. We do not
have any long-term contracts with any of our thgedty manufacturers. Some of these third party faturers produce products for our
competitors. Due to weak economic conditions, tlability of some of these third party manufactuneray be at risk. The loss of the services
of any of our primary third party manufacturers lcbecause a significant disruption in operations dathys in product shipments. Qualifying a
new manufacturer and commencing volume product@xpensive and time consuming.

Our reliance on third party manufacturers also sggaus to the following risks over which we haweitiéd control:
* unexpected increases in manufacturing and repats;
* inability to control the quality of finished prodis¢
» inability to control delivery schedules; a
» potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacalirer a part of the products we requi
All of our products must satisfy safety and regutgtstandards and some of our products must atsive government certifications. Our
ODMs, CMs and OEMs are primarily responsible fotaiing most regulatory approvals for our produtiteur ODMs, CMs and OEMs fail

obtain timely domestic or foreign regulatory appisvor certificates, we would be unable to sell pnarducts and our sales and profitability
could be reduced, our relationships with our salesnel could be harmed, and our reputation anebseuld suffer.

Specifically, substantially all of our manufactiginccurs in mainland China and any disruptions fratural disasters, health epidemics
and political, social and economic instability woalffect the ability of our ODMs to manufacture guoducts. If our manufacturers or
warehousing facilities are disrupted or destroyeglwould have no other readily available alterregifor manufacturing our products and our
business would be
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significantly harmed. Further, if the ODMs, CMs aD&Ms fail to maintain good relations with their glmyees or contractors, and production
and manufacturing of our products is affected, tivermay be subject to shortages of products anlityjoéproducts delivered may be
affected.

If disruptions in our transportation network occur or our shipping costs substantially increase, we nyabe unable to sell or timely
deliver our products and our operating expenses cadd increase.

We are highly dependent upon the transportatiotesyswe use to ship our products, including surfaaair freight. Our attempts to
closely match our inventory levels to our produstnéind intensify the need for our transportationesys to function effectively and without
delay. On a quarterly basis, our shipping volunse &nds to steadily increase as the quarter gegsewhich means that any disruption in our
transportation network in the latter half of a gaawill have a more material effect on our busgggn at the beginning of a quarter.

The transportation network is subject to disruptiortongestion from a variety of causes, includatwpr disputes or port strikes, acts of
war or terrorism, natural disasters and conges#salting from higher shipping volumes. Labor digguamong freight carriers and at ports of
entry are common, especially in Europe, and we eXpbor unrest and its effects on shipping oudpmis to be a continuing challenge for us.
Since September 11, 2001, the rate of inspectiantefational freight by governmental entities babstantially increased, and has become
increasingly unpredictable. If our delivery timesriease unexpectedly for these or any other reasanability to deliver products on time
would be materially adversely affected and resutiélayed or lost revenue as well as customer iggppsnalties. In addition, if increases in
fuel prices occur, our transportation costs woilldly increase. Moreover, the cost of shipping praducts by air freight is greater than other
methods. From time to time in the past, includimghie fourth quarter of 2009, we have shipped prtalusing extensive air freight to meet
unexpected spikes in demand, shifts in demand legtweoduct categories and to bring new producbéhictions to market quickly. If we rely
more heavily upon air freight to deliver our prothyour overall shipping costs will increase. Alprged transportation disruption or a
significant increase in the cost of freight couddarely disrupt our business and harm our operaéisglts.

We are exposed to the credit risk of some of our stomers and to credit exposures in weakened marketahich could result in material
losses.

A substantial portion of our sales are on an opeditbasis, with typical payment terms of 30 todg@s in the United States and, bec:
of local customs or conditions, longer in some retsloutside the United States. We monitor individuatomer financial viability in granting
such open credit arrangements, seek to limit speim @redit to amounts we believe the customergpagnand maintain reserves we believe
adequate to cover exposure for doubtful accounts.

In the past, there have been bankruptcies amongsustomer base. Although any resulting loss lvadeen material to date, future
losses, if incurred, could harm our business awe lamaterial adverse effect on our operating tesuld financial condition. To the degree
the recent turmoil in the credit markets makesaterdifficult for some customers to obtain finargiour customers’ ability to pay could be
adversely impacted, which in turn could have a nitadverse impact on our business, operatindteesand financial condition.

If we fail to successfully overcome the challengessociated with profitably growing our broadband sevice provider sales channel, our
net revenue and gross profit will be negatively imacted.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tiglobroadband service providers worldwide. We faneraber of challenges associated
with penetrating, marketing and selling to the loflzend service provider channel that differ from twlhie have traditionally faced with the
other channels. These challenges include a lorades sycle, more stringent product testing anddaitbn requirements, a higher level of
customization demands, requirements that supghb&eson a larger share of the risk with respecbttractual business terms,
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competition from established suppliers, pricingsgrge resulting in lower gross margins, and oueg@nnexperience in selling to service
providers. Orders from service providers genertalhd to be large but sporadic, which causes owmass from them to fluctuate and
challenges our ability to accurately forecast desnfaom them. In certain cases, we may commit tediprice long term purchase orders, with
such orders priced in foreign currencies which ddose value over time in the event of adverse gbain foreign exchange rates. Even if we
are selected as a supplier, typically a servicgiger will also designate a second source supplibich over time will reduce the aggregate
orders that we receive from that service provitfexe were to lose a service provider customerafoy reason, we may experience a material
and immediate reduction in forecasted revenuerttagt cause us to be below our net revenue and apgratirgin expectations for a particular
period of time and therefore adversely affect dacls price. In addition, service providers may cé®to prioritize the implementation of other
technologies or the roll out of other services thame networking. Weakness in orders from this $tigucould have a material adverse effect
on our business, operating results, and financiatlition. We have seen a slowdown in capital exjiares by certain of our service provider
customers, and believe there may be potential gamdar slowdown in certain other service providastomers in the next few quarters. Any
slowdown in the general economy, over capacitysotidation among service providers, regulatory tigwments and constraint on capital
expenditures could result in reduced demand frawiceeproviders and therefore adversely affectsales to them. If we do not successfully
overcome these challenges, we will not be abledétpbly grow our service provider sales chanmal aur growth will be slowed.

As part of growing our business, we have made andjgect to continue to make acquisitions. If we failo successfully select, execute or
integrate our acquisitions, then our business andperating results could be harmed and our stock prie could decline.

From time to time, we will undertake acquisitionsadd new product lines and technologies, gain sedes channels or enter into new
sales territories. Acquisitions involve numerowsksiand challenges, including but not limited t® fibllowing:

» integrating the companies, assets, systems, pmdales channels and personnel that we act

e growing or maintaining revenues to justify the gwase price and the increased expenses associdtedoguisitions

e entering into territories or markets that we haneteéd or no prior experience wit

» establishing or maintaining business relationshijls customers, vendors and suppliers who may betoais;

» overcoming the employee, customer, vendor and grgprnover that may occur as a result of the aitipn; and

» diverting manageme’s attention from running the day to day operatiofsur business

As part of undertaking an acquisition, we may algmificantly revise our capital structure or ogiemaal budget, such as issuing common

stock that would dilute the ownership percentageufstockholders, assuming liabilities or debitjaimg a substantial portion of our cash
resources to pay for the acquisition or signifibairicreasing operating expenses. Our acquisitiae resulted and may in the future result in

charges being taken in an individual quarter as agefuture periods, which results in variabilitydur quarterly earnings. In addition, our
effective tax rate in any particular quarter magodbe impacted by acquisitions.

We cannot assure you that we will be successfsélecting, executing and integrating acquisitiétalure to manage and successfully
integrate acquisitions could materially harm ousibass and operating results. In addition, if stoeltket analysts or our stockholders do not
support or believe in the value of the acquisititivet we choose to undertake, our stock price neairte.
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If we lose the services of our Chairman and Chief ¥ecutive Officer, Patrick C.S. Lo, or our other keypersonnel, we may not be able to
execute our business strategy effectively.

Our future success depends in large part uponahtncied services of our key technical, sales, etarg and senior management
personnel. In particular, the services of PatricR.C o, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officehosas led our company since its incept
are very important to our business. We do not raairdny key person life insurance policies. The lofsany of our senior management or @
key research, development, sales or marketing peesoparticularly if lost to competitors, couldriraour ability to implement our business
strategy and respond to the rapidly changing neétlee small business and home markets. While we hdopted an emergency succession
plan for the short term, we have not formally agopad long term succession plan. As a result, isuféer the loss of services of any key
executive, our long term business results may baéd. In addition, because we do not have a folomgl term succession plan, we may nc
able to have the proper personnel in place to &ffeg execute our long term business strateg\aifiek Lo or other key personnel retire, res
or are otherwise terminated.

We rely on a limited number of retailers and wholeale distributors for most of our sales, and if theyefuse to pay our requested prices
or reduce their level of purchases, our net revenueould decline.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tiglovetailers, including Best Buy Co., Inc., and Vesale distributors, including Ingram
Micro, Inc. During the year ended December 31, 28@&s to Ingram Micro and its affiliates accodrier 11% of our net revenue and sale
Best Buy accounted for 11% of our net revenue. Yeet that a significant portion of our net revemtik continue to come from sales to a
small number of retailers and wholesale distribaifor the foreseeable future. In addition, becauseaccounts receivable are concentrated
a small group of purchasers, the failure of anthem to pay on a timely basis, or at all, wouldueslour cash flow. We generally have no
minimum purchase commitments or long-term contradtis any of these retailers or distributors. Thpaechasers could decide at any time to
discontinue, decrease or delay their purchaseargbmducts. In addition, the prices that they foayour products are subject to negotiation
could change at any time. If any of our major tetaior wholesale distributors reduce their lefgurchases or refuse to pay the prices tha
set for our products, our net revenue and operagsglts could be harmed. If our retailers or whale distributors increase the size of their
product orders without sufficient lead-time fortagprocess the order, our ability to fulfill produtemands would be compromised.

If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets beome impaired we may be required to record a sigrifant charge to earnings.

Under generally accepted accounting principlesteveew our amortizable intangible assets for impaint when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatdgoverable. Goodwill is required to be testedrfgpairment at least annually. Factors 1
may be considered when determining if the carryialgie of our goodwill or amortizable intangible @issmay not be recoverable include a
significant decline in our expected future cashvBmr a sustained, significant decline in our stpike and market capitalization.

As a result of our acquisitions, we have signiftagoodwill and amortizable intangible assets reedrdn our balance sheet. In addition,
significant negative industry or economic trendsshsas those that have occurred in the last twalweths, including reduced estimates of
future cash flows or disruptions to our businesddindicate that goodwill or amortizable intangitassets might be impaired. If, in any period
our stock price decreases to the point where oukehaapitalization is less than our book valués tho could indicate a potential impairment
and we may be required to record an impairmentgehar that period. Our valuation methodology fasessing impairment requires
management to make judgments and assumptions baggojections of future operating performance. gerate in highly competitive
environments and projections of future operatirgglts and cash flows may vary significantly frontuad results. As a result, we may incur
substantial impairment charges to earnings in imantial statements should an impairment of oudgolb or amortizable intangible assets be
determined resulting in an adverse impact on caulte of operations.
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If we are unable to provide our third party manufacturers a timely and accurate forecast of our compoent and material requirements,
we may experience delays in the manufacturing of eyproducts and the costs of our products may increse.

We provide our third party manufacturers with dingl forecast of demand, which they use to deteenaiar material and component
requirements. Lead times for ordering materials@rponents vary significantly and depend on variaators, such as the specific supplier,
contract terms and demand and supply for a compg@iengiven time. Some of our components have lead times, such as wireless local
area network chipsets, switching fabric chips, jtaldayer transceivers, connector jacks and neetdlplastic enclosures. If our forecasts are
not timely provided or are less than our actualiregnents, our third party manufacturers may beblent manufacture products in a timely
manner. If our forecasts are too high, our thirdypmanufacturers will be unable to use the comptsthey have purchased on our behalf.
cost of the components used in our products temdsap rapidly as volumes increase and the teclgiedanature. Therefore, if our third party
manufacturers are unable to promptly use comporpemthased on our behalf, our cost of producinglpets may be higher than our
competitors due to an oversupply of higher-priceghponents. Moreover, if they are unable to use @omapts ordered at our direction, we will
need to reimburse them for any losses they incur.

We rely upon third parties for technology that is citical to our products, and if we are unable to catinue to use this technology and
future technology, our ability to develop, sell, mantain and support technologically innovative prodicts would be limited.

We rely on third parties to obtain non-exclusivéepéed hardware and software license rights inneldyies that are incorporated into
and necessary for the operation and functionafitpast of our products. In these cases, becausatiitectual property we license is available
from third parties, barriers to entry may be lowean if we owned exclusive rights to the technolagylicense and use. On the other hand, if a
competitor or potential competitor enters into &olesive arrangement with any of our key third paechnology providers, or if any of these
providers unilaterally decide not to do businesthws for any reason, our ability to develop arldmeducts containing that technology would
be severely limited. If we are shipping productsclitcontain third party technology that we subsedjydose the right to license, then we will
not be able to continue to offer or support thaselpcts. Our licenses often require royalty paymentother consideration to third parties. Our
success will depend in part on our continued atiitithave access to these technologies, and wetdamow whether these third party
technologies will continue to be licensed to usommercially acceptable terms or at all. If we @mable to license the necessary technology,
we may be forced to acquire or develop alternatebnology of lower quality or performance standaiithis would limit and delay our ability
to offer new or competitive products and increaseamsts of production. As a result, our marginarkat share, and operating results could be
significantly harmed.

We also utilize third party software developmeninpanies to develop, customize, maintain and sugadtvare that is incorporated into
our products. If these companies fail to timelyivier or continuously maintain and support the safewthat we require of them, we may
experience delays in releasing new products oicdiffes with supporting existing products and oasérs. In addition, if these third parties
licensors fail, then we may be unable to contirusdll products that incorporate the licensed teldgies and we may be unable to continue to
maintain and support these products.

If the redemption rate for our end-user promotional programs is higher than we estima, then our net revenue and gross margin will t
negatively affected.

From time to time we offer promotional incentivag;luding cash rebates, to encourage end-usensrahv@se certain of our products.
Purchasers must follow specific and stringent dirids to redeem these incentives or rebates. @ftelified purchasers choose not to apply
the incentives or fail to follow the required redaion guidelines, resulting in an incentive redeioprate of less than 100%. Based on
historical data, we estimate an incentive redemptide for our promotional programs. If the acheglemption rate is higher than our estimated
rate, then our net revenue and gross margin witidgatively affected.

23



Table of Contents

If we are unable to secure and protect our intellecial property rights, our ability to compete could be harmed.

We rely upon third parties for a substantial portid the intellectual property we use in our praduét the same time, we rely on a
combination of copyright, trademark, patent anddraecret laws, nondisclosure agreements with grae#y consultants and suppliers and
other contractual provisions to establish, maingaid protect our intellectual property rights. Despfforts to protect our intellectual property,
unauthorized third parties may attempt to desiguiaal, copy aspects of our product design or olatathuse technology or other intellectual
property associated with our products. For examgie,of our primary intellectual property assetthesNETGEAR name, trademark and logo.
We may be unable to stop third parties from adgpsimilar names, trademarks and logos, especialligase international markets where our
intellectual property rights may be less protectagdthermore, our competitors may independentlyetigysimilar technology or design around
our intellectual property. Our inability to secuned protect our intellectual property rights cosilghificantly harm our brand and business,
operating results and financial condition.

Our sales and operations in international markets xpose us to operational, financial and regulatory isks.

International sales comprise a significant amodimiuw overall net revenue. International sales viet% of overall net revenue in fiscal
2009. We continue to be committed to growing oterinational sales. We have committed resourcesgargling our international operations
and sales channels and these efforts may not loessfal. International operations are subjectriaraber of other risks, including:

» political and economic instability, internationahtorism and ar-American sentiment, particularly in emerging mask
» preference for locally branded products, and lamgslausiness practices favoring local competit

» exchange rate fluctuatior

» increased difficulty in managing inventol

» delayed revenue recognitic

» less effective protection of intellectual prope!

» stringent consumer protection and product compéaegulations, including but not limited to the Riesion of Hazardous
Substances directive, the Waste Electrical andtileic Equipment directive and the recently ena&eddesign directive (EuP) in
Europe, that may vary from country to country amat fare costly to comply witl

» difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefign operations; an
» changes in local tax law
We are required to comply with local environmemeglislation and our customers rely on this comméim order to sell our products. If

our customers do not agree with our interpretatams requirements of new legislation, such as tivefiean Ecodesign directive (EuP), they
may cease to order our products and our revenuéhbeuharmed.

We intend to expand our operations and infrastructue, which may strain our operations and increase auoperating expenses.

We intend to expand our operations and pursue rmaggortunities domestically and internationallygtow our sales. We expect that
this attempted expansion will require enhancementgir existing management information systems,apetational and financial controls. In
addition, if we continue to grow, our expendituvéh likely be significantly higher than our histioal costs. We may not be able to install
adequate controls in an efficient and timely maraseour business grows, and our current systemsotdye adequate to support our
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future operations. The difficulties associated viitstalling and implementing new systems, proceslarel controls may place a significant
burden on our management, operational and finaresalurces. In addition, if we grow internationalle will have to expand and enhance our
communications infrastructure. If we fail to contnto improve our management information system;quiures and financial controls or
encounter unexpected difficulties during expansaar,business could be harmed.

For example, we have invested, and will continumtest, significant capital and human resourcebéndesign and enhancement of our
financial and enterprise resource planning systerhish may be disruptive to our underlying businé¥e depend on these systems in order to
timely and accurately process and report key corapiznof our results of operations, financial positand cash flows. If the systems fail to
operate appropriately or we experience any dissaptor delays in enhancing their functionality teehcurrent business requirements, our
ability to fulfill customer orders, bill and traadur customers, fulfill contractual obligations, acately report our financials and otherwise run
our business could be adversely affected. Everiflavrnot encounter these adverse effects, the eatmamt of systems may be much more
costly than we anticipated. If we are unable totiomre to enhance our information technology systamplanned, our financial position, res
of operations and cash flows could be negativelyaated.

Governmental regulations of imports or exports affeting internet security could affect our net revene.

Any additional governmental regulation of importseaports or failure to obtain required export ayMai of our encryption technologies
could adversely affect our international and doloesstles. The United States and various foreigregowents have imposed controls, export
license requirements, and restrictions on the itmoexport of some technologies, especially entmypptechnology. In addition, from time to
time, governmental agencies have proposed additiegalation of encryption technology, such as igng the escrow and governmental
recovery of private encryption keys. In responstetoorist activity, governments could enact adai#il regulation or restriction on the use,
import, or export of encryption technology. Thiglamnal regulation of encryption technology codlelay or prevent the acceptance and use of
encryption products and public networks for semmmmunications, resulting in decreased demanduppmducts and services. In addition,
some foreign competitors are subject to less srihgontrols on exporting their encryption techigigs. As a result, they may be able to
compete more effectively than we can in the Unfiéates and the international internet security etark

We moved into a new corporate headquarters in thehird quarter of 2008. If we cannot effectively mange the remaining lease term of
our old facilities, then we will be forced to takeadditional charges related to such facilities.

We moved into our new corporate headquarters ithiing quarter of 2008. The existing lease on aumier Santa Clara corporate
headquarters does not expire until the end of 20d®have subleased a portion of this facility aalceh a restructuring charge for the balance
of the lease costs. In the second quarter of 2008 of our sub-lessees was unable to meet itsl i@nitgation to us, and we were required to
take a restructuring charge to increase our lighfiir remaining lease costs. We have yet to findgacement tenant for the defaulting sub-
lessee and in the current real estate market, wenwtabe able to do so in the near future, if BtAdditionally, in the third quarter of 2009, we
agreed to reduce the monthly facility maintenamesfowed to us by another sub-lessee resulting imcaease of the accrual for restructuring
charges related to the lease. If any additionalles®ee moves out or is unable to meet its obtigatio us, we would have to record an
additional charge associated with such excess space

We depend on large, recurring purchases from certai significant customers, and a loss, cancellatiorr delay in purchases by these
customers could negatively affect our revenue.

The loss of recurring orders from any of our magaigicant customers could cause our revenue aafitability to suffer. Our ability to
attract new customers will depend on a varietyaofdrs, including the cost-
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effectiveness, reliability, scalability, breadthdashepth of our products. In addition, a changéérhix of our customers, or a change in the mix
of direct and indirect sales, could adversely dfées revenue and gross margins.

Although our financial performance may depend ogdarecurring orders from certain customers asdlters, we do not generally have
binding commitments from them. For example:

» our reseller agreements generally do not requibstantial minimum purchase
e our customers can stop purchasing and our reseb@rstop marketing our products at any time;

» our reseller agreements generally are not exclusindeare for or-year terms, with no obligation of the resellersenew the
agreements

Further, our revenue may be impacted by significerg-time purchases which are not contemplatee tejpeatable. While such
purchases are reflected in our financial statemergsdo not rely on and do not forecast for corgthsignificant one-time purchases. As a
result, lack of repeatable one-time purchasesadilersely affect our revenue.

Because our expenses are based on our revenuadtwez substantial reduction or delay in salesipproducts to, or unexpected returns
from, customers and resellers, or the loss of @mnjificant customer or reseller, could harm or otfise disrupt our business. Although our
largest customers may vary from period to periogl anticipate that our operating results for anyegiperiod will continue to depend on large
orders from a small number of customers.

We are exposed to credit risk and fluctuations inlie market values of our investment portfolio.

Although we have not recognized any material lossesur cash equivalents and short-term investmérttge declines in their market
values could have a material adverse effect orfioancial condition and operating results. Givea tfobal nature of our business, we have
investments with both domestic and internationafficial institutions. If these financial institut®default on their obligations or their credit
ratings are negatively impacted by liquidity issugedit deterioration or losses, financial resudtsother factors, the value of our cash
equivalents and short-term investments could deaimd result in a material impairment, which cdudde a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and operating results.

Economic conditions, political events, war, terrorsm, public health issues, natural disasters and ogh circumstances could materially
adversely affect us.

Our corporate headquarters are located in NortBatifornia and one of our warehouses is locate8ldnthern California, regions known
for seismic activity. In addition, substantially af our manufacturing occurs in two geographicaibncentrated areas in mainland China, w
disruptions from natural disasters, health epideraitd political, social and economic instabilityynadfect the region. If our manufacturers or
warehousing facilities are disrupted or destroyeslwould be unable to distribute our products ¢imaly basis, which could harm our
business.

Moreover, if our computer information systems omoounication systems, or those of our vendors olocusrs, are subject to disruptive
hacker attacks or other disruptions, our businestdcsuffer. We have not established a formal desagcovery plan. Our back-up operations
may be inadequate and our business interruptiamanse may not be enough to compensate us foroasgd that may occur. A significant
business interruption could result in losses orages and harm our business. For example, muchrafrdar fulfilment process is automated
and the order information is stored on our seréxsur computer systems and servers go down ewmea $hort period at the end of a fiscal
quarter, our ability to recognize revenue woulddbayed until we were again able to process arglalni orders, which could cause our stock
price to decline significantly.
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We depend significantly on worldwide economic caiedis and their impact on levels of consumer spggdivhich have recently
deteriorated significantly in many countries angioes, including without limitation the United S¢at and may remain depressed for the
foreseeable future. Factors that could influenedékels of consumer spending include increaséselnand other energy costs, conditions in
the residential real estate and mortgage markaisy land healthcare costs, access to credit, carstonfidence and other macroeconomic
factors affecting consumer spending behavior.

In addition, war, terrorism, geopolitical uncertiés, public health issues, and other businessrigBons have caused and could cause
damage or disruption to international commercetaadjlobal economy, and thus could have a stroggtie effect on us, our suppliers,
logistics providers, manufacturing vendors anda@mstrs. Our business operations are subject taupéon by natural disasters, fire, power
shortages, terrorist attacks, and other hostilg, ¢gabor disputes, public health issues, and ahents beyond our control. Such events could
decrease demand for our products, make it difficultnpossible for us to make and deliver prodtetsur customers or to receive components
from our suppliers, and create delays and ineffigies in our supply chain. Should major public tle@sues, including pandemics, arise, we
could be negatively affected by more stringent exygd travel restrictions, additional limitationsfigight services, governmental actions
limiting the movement of products between regiateays in production ramps of new products, andugditons in the operations of our
manufacturing vendors and component suppliers.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen
None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing a@gkarch and development facilities currently ogaproximately 142,700 square feet
in an office complex in San Jose, California, uraésase that expires in March 2018.

Our international headquarters occupy approximélt8lp00 square feet in an office complex in Coré&land, under a lease entered int
February 2006 and expiring in December 2026. Owariirational sales personnel reside in local sdfecee or home offices in Austria,
Australia, Brazil, China, Czech Republic, Denmdiance, Germany, Hong Kong, India, Italy, JapamedpMexico, New Zealand, Poland,
Russia, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland\ étleerlands, the United Arab Emirates, and theddinitingdom. We also have operations
personnel using a leased facility in Hong Kong. &l& maintain research and development faciliti€ddijing, Guangzhou, Nanjing, and
Shanghai, China, and in Taipei, Taiwan. From timdrme we consider various alternatives relateduolong-term facilities needs. While we
believe our existing facilities are adequate to noee immediate needs, it may be necessary to ddigional space to accommodate future
growth.

We use third parties to provide warehousing sesvioaus, consisting of facilities in Southern Gatifia, Hong Kong and the Netherlands.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

The information set forth under Note 9 of the Ndte€onsolidated Financial Statements, includeart 1V, Iltem 15 of this Form 10-K,
is incorporated herein by reference. For an aduifidiscussion of certain risks associated witlll@goceedings, see the section entitled “Risk
Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
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Item 4. Reserve(
Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names, agesparsitions of our executive officers (who are subjecSection 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) as of February 16, 2010.

Name Age  Position

Patrick C.S. Lc 53 Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Mark G. Merrill 55 Chief Technology Office

Michael F. Falcor 53 Senior Vice President of Operatic

Christine M. Gorjant 53 Chief Financial Officel

Andrew W. Kim 39 Vice President, Legal and Corporate Developmentp@ate Secretat
Charles T. Olsol 54 Senior Vice President of Engineeri

David Soare: 43 Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sa

Michael A. Werdant 41 Vice President of Americas Sal

Patrick C.S. Las our co-founder and has served as our ChairmdrChref Executive Officer since March 2002. Patficknded
NETGEAR with Mark G. Merrill with the singular vish of providing the appliances to enable everyornté world to connect to the hi
speed internet for information, communication, hass transactions, education, and entertainmesrn EB83 until 1995, Mr. Lo worked at
HewlettPackard Company, where he served in various maragguositions in sales, technical support, produembagement, and marketing
the U.S. and Asia. Mr. Lo received a B.S. degregléctrical engineering from Brown University.

Mark G. Merrill is our co-founder and has served as our Chief Taobg Officer since January 2003. From Septemb8818 January
2003, he served as Vice President of Engineeridgsarved as Director of Engineering from Septem®85 to September 1999. From 1987 to
1995, Mr. Merrill worked at SynOptics Communicatio@ local area networking company, which latergedmwith Wellfleet to become Bay
Networks, where his responsibilities included systiesign and analog implementations for SynO’ first L0BASE-T products. Mr. Merrill
received both a B.S. degree and an M.S. degrekeatriEal Engineering from Stanford University.

Michael F. Falcorhas served as our Senior Vice President of Opasadimce March 2006 and Vice President of Operatsimce
November 2002. From September 1999 to November,280Falcon worked at Quantum Corporation, a de¢&anology company, where
served as Vice President of Operations and SuppirtCManagement. From April 1999 to September 1889Falcon was at Meridian Data,
a storage company acquired by Quantum Corporatibare he served as Vice President of Operatiomsn FHebruary 1989 to April 1999,
Mr. Falcon was at Silicon Valley Group, a semicoetdu equipment manufacturer, where he served acir of Operations, Strategic
Planning and Supply Chain Management. Prior tg timserved in management positions at SCI Sys@amaslectronics manufacturer, Xerox
Imaging Systems, a provider of scanning and teedgeition solutions, and Plantronics, Inc., a pdeviof lightweight communication heads:
Mr. Falcon received a B.A. degree in Economics ftbmUniversity of California, Santa Cruz and haspleted coursework in the M.B.A.
program at Santa Clara University.

Christine M. Gorjandhas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceidan2008, as our Chief Accounting Officer sincee®mber 2006
and as our Vice President, Finance since Noventi@s.Z-rom September 1996 through November 2005@dganc served as Vice
President, Controller, Treasurer and Assistanteanr for Aspect Communications Corporation, a tevof workforce and customer
management solutions. From October 1988 througke8dyer 1996, she served as the Manager of Taxaioddm Computers, Inc., a provider
of fault-tolerant computer systems. Prior to tishag served in management positions at Xidex Cotiporaa manufacturer of storage devices,
and spent eight years in public accounting witluaber of accounting firms. Ms. Gorjanc holds a BrAAccounting (with honors) from the
University of Texas at El Paso and a M.S. in Taxafrom Golden Gate University.
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Andrew W. Kinhas served as our Vice President, Legal and CagpBrvelopment and Corporate Secretary since Oc088 and as
our Associate General Counsel since March 2008r Ryijoining NETGEAR, Mr. Kim served as Specialu®sel in the Corporate and
Securities Department of Wilson Sonsini GoodricR&sati, where he represented public and privatentdogy companies in a wide range of
matters, including mergers and acquisitions, dabteguity financing arrangements, securities lamltance and corporate governance. In
between two terms at Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rioée served as Partner in the Business and FenBepartment of Schwartz Cooper
Chartered in Chicago, lllinois, and was an Adjupdfessor of Entrepreneurship at the Illinois kugé of Technology. Mr. Kim holds a J.D.
from Cornell Law School, and received a B.A. degrekistory from Yale University.

Charles T. Olsomas served as our Senior Vice President of Engimgsmce March 2006 and our Vice President of Begiing since
January 2003. From July 1978 to January 2003, Ndoi©worked at Hewlett-Packard Company, a compardrtest equipment company,
where he served as Director of Research and Dewelnpfor ProCurve networking from 1998 to 2003Rasearch and Development Manager
for the Enterprise Netserver division from 19971898, and, prior to that, in various other engimgemanagement roles in Hewlett-Packard’s
Unix server and personal computer product divisidfis Olson received a B.S. degree in ElectricagiBaering from the University of
California, Davis and an M.B.A. from Santa Claraiugmsity.

David Soaredas served as our Senior Vice President of World@dles since August 2004. Mr. Soares joined danoary 1998, and
served as Vice President of EMEA sales from Decerd@3 to July 2004, EMEA Managing Director fromrAf2000 to November 2003,
United Kingdom and Nordic Regional Manager from fie@oy 1999 to March 2000 and United Kingdom Coumignager from January 1998
to January 1999. Prior to joining us, Mr. Soares atHayes Microcomputer Products, a manufactdréiab-up modems. Mr. Soares attended
Ridley College, Ontario Canada.

Michael A. Werdanrhas served as our Vice President of Americas Sales December 2003. Since joining us in 1998, Werdann
has served as our United States Director of SEkSommerce and DMR from December 2002 to 2003 aralia Eastern regional sales
director from October 1998 to December 2002. Ragoining us, Mr. Werdann worked for three yeartomega Corporation, a computer
hardware company, as a sales director for the \edded reseller sector. Mr. Werdann holds a B.gr&zin Communications from Seton Hall
University.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securiti¢

Market Information

Our common stock has been quoted under the syMNJIGER” on the Nasdaq National Market from July 3Q202 to July 1, 2006, and on
the Nasdag Global Select Market since then. Poithat time, there was no public market for our own stock. The following table sets forth
for the indicated periods the high and low salésagrfor our common stock on the Nasdaq marketsh 8formation reflects interdealer pric

without retail markup, markdown or commission, amaly not represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2008
First Quartel

Second Quarte

Third Quartel

Fourth Quarte

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 20C
First Quartel

Second Quarte

Third Quartel

Fourth Quarte

Equity Compensation Plan Information

High Low
$34.92 $18.5¢
20.6¢ 13.8(

17.5(C 12.41
15.17% 8.21
High Low
$12.61 $ 8.5
16.4¢ 11.1¢
19.7¢4 13.4¢
22.4: 17.1(C

The following table provides information as of Dedger 31, 2009 about our common stock that mayswedupon the exercise of
options and rights granted to employees or menmtfevar Board of Directors under all existing equitympensation plans, including the 2000
Plan (which was terminated as to new grants in RI233), the 2003 Stock Plan, the 2006 Long Termritice Plan and the 2003 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan.

Number of Securities

to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average
Exercise of Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options,
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights
_ _ @ ®)
Equity compensation plans approved b

security holder: 4,907,05((1) $ 18.7
Equity compensation plans not appro

by security holder — $ —
Total 4,907,05! $ 18.77

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plan:

(Excluding Securities
Reflected in Column (a))

©
1,882,98(2)

1,882,98!

(1) Includes 1,228,546 shares outstanding under th® PG, 3,678,504 shares outstanding under the RR06and no outstanding sha

under the 2003 Employee Stock Purchase |

(2) Includes 249,451 shares available for issuamcer the 2003 Plan, 1,058,274 shares availablisgoance under the 2006 Plan and

575,264 shares available for issuance under th® E@tployee Stock Purchase Pl
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Company Performance

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig ahour previous or future filings with the SE@e following information relating to
the price performance of our common stock shallbeotieemed “filed” with the SEC or “soliciting mai&” under the Exchange Act and st
not be incorporated by reference into any suchdsi

The following graph shows a comparison from Decan®ie 2004 through December 31, 2009 of cumulgtit@ return for our common
stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index and the NasdatpGter Index. Such returns are based on histagsallts and are not intended to suggest
future performance. Data for the Nasdagq Composidex and the Nasdaq Computer Index assume reingesthdividends. We have never
paid dividends on our common stock and have nceptgsans to do so.

250 e
1= METGEEAR, Inc
== MNASDAG Compater Indax
g 200 == MNASDAQD Composite Indax -
> L
| 150 -
J e
o
2l 100
50
31-Dec-04 31-Dec-05 I1-Dec-06 31-Dec-07 31-Dec-08 31-Dec-09
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
NETGEAR, Inc. $ 100.0( $ 106.0( $ 144.5¢ $ 196.4: $ 62.8: $ 119.4¢
NASDAQ Computer Inde: $ 100.0( $ 102.7¢ $ 109.0% $ 132.9( $ 70.8t $ 121.0:
NASDAQ Composite Inde $ 100.0( $ 101.37 $ 111.0: $ 121.9: $ T72.4¢ $ 104.3:

Holders of Common Stock
On February 16, 2010, there were 34 stockholdersauird.
The number of record holders is based upon theabotumber of holders registered on our books &t slate and does not include hold

of shares in “street names” or persons, partnesshgsociations, corporations or other entitiestitied in security position listings maintained
by depository trust companies.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ocapital stock. We currently intend to retain fiegtearnings, if any, to finance the
operation and expansion of our business, and wetlanticipate paying cash dividends in the forabéefuture.

31



Table of Contents

Repurchase of Equity Securities by the Company

Total Number of

Shares
Period Purchased
January 1, 20(-January 31, 200 15,92

February 1, 20C-February 28, 200 —
March 1, 200-March 31, 200¢ —
April 1, 200¢-April 30, 2009 —
May 1, 200-May 31, 200¢ 3,28¢
June 1, 20C-June 30, 200 —
July 1, 200-July 31, 200¢ —
August 1, 200-August 31, 200! —
September 1, 20i-September 3(

2009 —
October 1, 20C-October 31, 200 2,23t
November 1, 20C-November 30

2009 —
December 1, 2009-December 31,

2009 45¢

21,90:

Average Price

Paid per
Share

$  11.7¢

21.62
$  12.8¢

Total Number of Shares
Maximum Number of Shares

Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced that May Yet Be Purchased
Plans or Programs Under the Plans or Program:

— 4,831,22
— 4,831,22
— 4,831,22
— 4,831,22
— 4,831,22
— 4,831,22
— 4,831,22
— 4,831,22

_ 4,831,22
— 4,831,22

— 4,831,22

— 4,831,22

On October 21, 2008, our Board of Directors auttextimanagement to repurchase up to 6,000,000 shfawas outstanding common
stock. Under this authorization, the timing anduathumber of shares subject to repurchase aheatiscretion of management and are
contingent on a number of factors, such as levieteish generation from operations, cash requiresrfentacquisitions and our share price.
During the year ended December 31, 2009, we didemirchase any shares of common stock underehischase authorization. However,
repurchased approximately 22,000 shares or $282060mmon stock related to the lapse of restristedk units during the year ended

December 31, 2009.
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ltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Da

The following selected consolidated financial data qualified in their entirety, and should be readonjunction with, the consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto;Madagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations”
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

We derived the selected consolidated statemerperfations data for the years ended December 38, 2008 and 2007 and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@089,and 2008 from our audited consolidated firerstatements appearing elsewhere in
this Form 10-K. We derived the selected consoldiatatement of operations data for the years ebéegmber 31, 2006 and 2005 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ofribece31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 from our audited datated financial statements, which are
not included in this Form 10-K. Historical resudt® not necessarily indicative of results to beeetgd for future periods.

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Date

Net revenus $686,59! $743,34« $727,78° $573,57(  $449,61(
Cost of revenue(Z 480,19! 502,32( 485,18( 379,91: 297,91:
Gross profil 206,40( 241,02: 242,60° 193,65¢ 151,69¢
Operating expense
Research and development 30,05¢ 33,77: 28,07( 18,44: 12,831
Sales and marketing( 106,16: 121,68 117,93¢ 91,88! 71,34"
General and administrative( 32,72% 31,73 27,22( 20,90¢ 14,55¢
Restructuring 80¢ 1,92¢ — — —
In-process research and developn — 1,80( 4,10( 2,90¢ —
Technology license arrangeme 2,50( — — — —
Litigation reserves, ne 2,08( 711 167 — 802
Total operating expens: 174,33¢ 191,63: 177,49¢ 134,12¢ 99,54
Income from operation 32,06¢ 49,391 65,11: 59,53( 52,15¢
Interest income, ne 62¢ 4,33¢ 8,42¢ 6,97¢ 4,10¢
Other income (expense), r (128) (8,389 3,29¢ 2,49t (1,770
Income before income tax 32,567 45,34: 76,83¢ 68,99¢ 54,49(
Provision for income taxe 23,23¢ 27,29: 30,88 27,861 20,861
Net income $ 9,33t $ 18,05( $ 45,95« $ 41,13. $ 33,62!
Net income per shar
Basic(1) $ 0.27 $ 0.51 $ 132 $ 12 $ 1.0/
Diluted(1) $ 0.27 $ 0.51 $ 128 $ 11¢ $ 0.9¢

(1) Information regarding calculation of per share datdescribed in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidd&timancial Statement
(2) Stock-based compensation expense was allocated as fo

Cost of revenu $ 95¢ $ 864 $ 63< $ 43C $147
Research and developm 1,97: 3,21¢ 2,391 1,11¢ 29¢
Sales and marketir 4,147 3,40¢ 3,01z 1,40¢ 37¢
General and administrati\ 3,94¢ 3,83¢ 2,84: 1,551 24¢
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Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted updated aitdtive guidance for stock compensation which megfius to recognize
compensation expense for share-based payments.

December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Datz¢

Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $247,10C $203,00¢ $205,34: $197,46' $173,65¢
Working capital $339,11¢ $312,84 $311,08. $280,87 $ 230,41t
Total asset $633,12: $586,20¢ $551,10¢ $437,90¢ $ 356,29
Total current liabilities $195,60¢ $176,50! $168,50° $143,48. $120,29:
Total stockholder equity $414,150 $390,95¢ $371,520 $294,42. $ 236,00:
Item 7. Managemen'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

You should read the following discussion of ouafiicial condition and results of operations togettdth the audited consolidated
financial statements and notes to the financialestents included elsewhere in this Forr-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintie® fbinward-looking statements are not historicalt&abut rather are based on current
expectations, estimates, assumptions and projectbout our industry, business and future finanaults. Our actual results could differ
materially from the results contemplated by these/dérd-looking statements due to a number of fagtorcluding those discussed under “Risk
Factor<” in Part I, Item 1A above.

Business Overview

We design, develop and market innovative networkiraglucts that address the specific needs of dmmalhess and home users. We
define small business as a business with fewer2b@remployees. We are focused on satisfying the-e&use, reliability, performance and
affordability requirements of these users. Our pmafferings enable users to share internet acpespherals, files, digital multimedia
content and applications among multiple networkedabs and other internet-enabled devices.

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessidewv that enable small business networking, braadibacess, network connectivity,
network storage and security appliances. Theseuptedre available in multiple configurations tags the needs of our end-users in each
geographic region in which our products are sold.

We sell our networking products through multipléesachannels worldwide, including traditional réges, online retailers, wholesale
distributors, DMRs, VARs, and broadband serviceviglers. Our retail channel includes traditionahietbcations domestically and
internationally, such as Best Buy, Walmart, Frylsd&onics, Radio Shack, Staples, Argos (U.K.),dix (U.K.), PC World (U.K.),
MediaMarkt (Germany, Austria) and Darty (Francejli@e retailers include Amazon.com, Dell, Neweggicand Buy.com. Our DMRs
include CDW Corporation, Insight Corporation and @@hnection in domestic markets and Misco throutjEawope. In addition, we also sell
our products through broadband service providersh s multiple system operators (MSOs), DSL, ahdrdoroadband technology operators
domestically and internationally. Some of thesailets and broadband service providers purchasettlirfrom us while others are fulfilled
through wholesale distributors around the worldsubstantial portion of our net revenue to dateless derived from a limited number of
customers, the largest of which are Best Buy, Imgkéicro Inc. and Tech Data Corporation. We expkat these customers will continue to
contribute a significant percentage of our net nexefor the foreseeable future.

We have well developed channels in the United Statel Europe, Middle-East and Africa, or EMEA, anel building a strong presence
in the Asia Pacific and Latin American regions. @éive the majority of our net revenue from inteimaal sales. International sales as a
percentage of net revenue decreased from 60% & @094% in 2009. International sales decreasead $445.7 million in 2008 to
$372.2 million in 2009,
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representing a decrease of approximately 16.4%guhiat period, primarily due to the relativelyostger U.S. dollar and weakened
international economic conditions. We continue ¢ogtrate new markets such as Brazil, Russia aneéfadsurope, India, and the Middigast.

Our net revenue declined 7.6% during the year eas@mber 31, 2009 primarily attributable to lowkipments of our broadband
gateway products to traditional resellers and exdsservice provider customers. However, we didegignce an increase of 35.6% in net
revenue in the three months ended December 31,2008mpared to the three months ended Decemb203&, Additionally, we experienc
weakening demand for our switch products and wéeld products. Our revenue decline continued toegatively impacted by the economic
downturn and relatively stronger U.S. dollar. Thdsereases were partially mitigated by increastst sd wireless-N products sold to retailers
and existing service provider customers as wetilasncreased focus on reducing sales incentivegsirtipact revenue.

The small business and home networking marketstersely competitive and subject to rapid techgigial change. We expect our
competition to continue to intensify. We believattthe principal competitive factors in the smalsimess and home markets for networking
products include product breadth, size and scopleeo$ales channel, brand name, timeliness of medupt introductions, product
performance, features, functionality and reliapjléase-of-installation, maintenance and use, astbmer service and support. To remain
competitive, we believe we must invest resourcageireloping new products and enhancing our cupetducts while continuing to expand
our channels and maintaining customer satisfastiordwide.

Our gross margin decreased to 30.1% for the yedeeBDecember 31, 2009, from 32.4% for the year@mkrember 31, 2008, primar
attributable to the impact of a relatively stronge$. dollar on our foreign currency denominatecereies. Gross margins were also impacted
by sales declines of our switch products as wedlugply constraints late in the year which resuiltetthe use of higher cost air freight expense
to acquire inventory levels sufficient to suppoitrieased demand. These margin decreases werdlyaiffset by our increased focus on
reducing sales incentives that impact net reve@perating expenses for the year ended Decemb@089, were $174.3 million, or 25.4% of
net revenue, compared to $191.6 million, or 25.8%et revenue, for the year ended December 31,.200i8 decrease was primarily
attributable to a $9.3 million decrease in salarg ather employee related expenses as well aan$iion decrease in marketing expenses
and other outside service costs pertaining to saldsmarketing.

Net income decreased $8.8 million, or 48.3%, t@$8illion for the year ended December 31, 2009nf&i18.1 million for the year end
December 31, 2008. This decrease was primarilijpatable to a decrease in gross profit of $34.6ionil This decrease was offset by a
decrease in operating expenses of $17.3 millionsathelcrease in other expense, net of $8.3 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have begmapee in accordance with accounting principles galyeaccepted in the United States
of America and pursuant to the rules and regulatifithe SEC. The preparation of these financ@kstents requires management to make
assumptions, judgments and estimates that canahsigmificant impact on the reported amounts oé@sdiabilities, revenues and expenses.
We base our estimates on historical experienceoandrious other assumptions believed to be agpécand reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ sigrifily from these estimates. These estimates maygehas new events occur, as additional
information is obtained and as our operating emvitent changes. On a regular basis we evaluatessungtions, judgments and estimates
make changes accordingly. We also discuss oucalriiccounting estimates with the Audit Committééhe Board of Directors. Note 1 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements desctiEesignificant accounting policies used in theppration of the consolidated financ
statements. We have listed below our critical antiag policies which we believe to have the gregpesential impact on our consolidated
financial statements. Historically, our assumptigndgments and estimates relative to our critiaounting policies have not differed
materially from actual results.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is generally recogrétéle time the product is shipped provided thasymesive evidence of an arrangement
exists, title and risk of loss has transferrechid¢ustomer, the selling price is fixed or deteable and collection of the related receivable is
reasonably assured. Currently, for some of ouroensts, title passes to the customer upon delivetlyd port or country of destination, upon
their receipt of the product, or upon the customezsale of the product. At the end of each figoalrter, we estimate and defer revenue related
to product where title has not transferred. Thenexe continues to be deferred until such timetttiatpasses to the customer. We assess
collectability based on a number of factors, inaghgdgeneral economic and market conditions, pasistiction history with the customer, and
the creditworthiness of the customer. If we detesrthat collection of the corresponding receivableot reasonably assured, then we defer the
revenue until receipt of payment.

Allowances for Product Warranties, Returns due ttio8k Rotation, Sales Incentives and Doubtful Accdan

Our standard warranty obligation to our direct oustrs generally provides for a right of return 0§ product for a full refund in the
event that such product is not merchantable ariad to be damaged or defective. At the time regéauecognized, an estimate of future
warranty returns is recorded to reduce revenubdratmount of the expected credit or refund to logiged to our direct customers. At the time
we record the reduction to revenue related to wagyreeturns, we include within cost of revenue &avdown to reduce the carrying value of
such products to net realizable value. Our standardanty obligation to end-users provides for aepment of a defective product for one or
more years. Factors that affect the warranty obtiganclude product failure rates, material usaged service delivery costs incurred in
correcting product failures. The estimated cospeiased with fulfilling the warranty obligation #nd-users is recorded in cost of revenue.
Because our products are manufactured by thirg paanufacturers, in certain cases we have recaarte third party manufacturer for
replacement or credit for the defective producte. §We consideration to amounts recoverable fromtlurd party manufacturers in
determining our warranty liability. Our estimatdtbevances for product warranties can vary from akttaesults and we may have to record
additional revenue reductions or charges to costwdnue which could materially impact our finahpiasition and results of operations.

In addition to warranty-related returns, certaistidbutors and retailers generally have the righteturn product for stock rotation
purposes. Every quarter, stock rotation rightsgareerally limited to 10% of invoiced sales to th&tributor or retailer in the prior quarter.
Upon shipment of the product, we reduce revenuaricstimate of potential future stock rotatiomines related to the current period product
revenue. We analyze historical returns, channdritary levels, current economic trends and chairgegstomer demand for our products
when evaluating the adequacy of the allowancedt@ssreturns, namely stock rotation returns. Otimesed allowances for returns due to st
rotation can vary from actual results and we masetta record additional revenue reductions whiahldonaterially impact our financial
position and results of operations.

We accrue for sales incentives as a marketing esepigénve receive an identifiable benefit in exchaagd can reasonably estimate the
value of the identifiable benefit received; othesyiit is recorded as a reduction of revenues.edtimated provisions for sales incentives can
vary from actual results and we may have to reedditional expenses or additional revenue redustitapendent on the classification of the
sales incentive.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstimated losses resulting from the inability of oustomers to make required
payments. We regularly perform credit evaluatiohew customers’ financial condition and considsetbrs such as historical experience,
credit quality, age of the accounts receivablerxda, and geographic or country-specific risksegahomic conditions that may affect a
customer’s ability to pay. The allowance for doubtccounts is reviewed monthly and adjusted ifessary based on our assessments of our
customers’ ability to pay. If the financial conditi of our customers should deteriorate or if actiedihults are higher than our historical
experience, additional allowances may be requisich could have an adverse impact on operatingresgs.

36



Table of Contents

Valuation of Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or nedrkcost being determined using the first-in, fvat method. We continually assess the
value of our inventory and will periodically writkown its value for estimated excess and obsoletntory based upon assumptions about
future demand and market conditions. On a quarte$js, we review inventory quantities on hand amaérder under non-cancelable purchase
commitments, including consignment inventory, imgarison to our estimated forecast of product dehfanthe next nine months to
determine what inventory, if any, are not saleaBler analysis is based on the demand forecastkestinto account market conditions,
product development plans, product life expectaaray other factors. Based on this analysis, we wioten the affected inventory value for
estimated excess and obsolescence charges. Abititeoploss recognition, a new, lower cost basisthat inventory is established, and
subsequent changes in facts and circumstancestdesuit in the restoration or increase in that Iyexgtablished cost basis. As demonstrated
during prior years, demand for our products caatfiate significantly. If actual demand is lowerntaur forecasted demand and we fail to
reduce our manufacturing accordingly, we coulddzpiired to write down additional inventory, whiclowmid have a negative effect on our
gross profit.

Goodwill and intangibles

We apply the authoritative guidance for intangildes perform an annual goodwill impairment tesb8t certain events or indicators of
impairment occur between annual impairment testsywill perform the impairment test as those eventsdicators occur. For purposes of
impairment testing, we have determined that we ey one reporting unit.

The goodwill impairment test involves a two-stepgass. In the first step, we estimate our fair@and compare the fair value with the
carrying value of our net assets. If the fair vakigreater than the carrying value of our nettassleen no impairment results. If the fair vals
less than our carrying value, then we would perftrensecond step and determine the fair valueso§tiodwill. In this second step, the amc
of impairment is determined by comparing the ingbliair value to the carrying value of the goodwilthe same manner as if we were being
acquired in a business combination. Specifically,would allocate the fair value to all of our assatd liabilities, including any unrecognized
intangible assets, in a hypothetical analysiswwatld calculate the implied fair value of goodwifithe implied fair value of goodwill is less
than the recorded goodwill, an impairment chargald/de recorded to earnings in the ConsolidateteBtants of Operations.

In addition, we would evaluate goodwill for impaint if events or circumstances change between atesia indicating a possible
impairment. Examples of such events or circumstaimeude the following: a significant decline inrexpected future cash flows; a sustai
significant decline in our stock price and markapitalization; a significant adverse change inkibisiness climate; the testing for recoverab
of a significant asset group; and slower growtbsat

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, we completieel annual impairment test of goodwill. In condngtbur impairment test, we
determined that our fair value exceeded the cagryalue of our net assets by approximately 62%gdladwill impairment loss was recogniz
in the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008, or.2009

Given the current economic environment and the tiaicgies regarding the impact on our businessetban be no assurance that our
estimates and assumptions regarding the duratitinreasngoing economic downturn, or the period margjth of recovery, made for purpose:
our goodwill impairment testing during the year eddecember 31, 2009 will prove to be accurateigtieds of the future. If our assumptions
regarding forecasted revenue or earnings are mdd\ad, we may be required to record goodwill immaint charges in future periods, whether
in connection with our next annual impairment t&giin the fourth quarter of 2010 or prior to thhny such change constitutes a triggering
event outside of the quarter from when the annaatwill impairment test is performed. It is not pilde at this time to determine if any such
future impairment charge would result or, if it dp@/hether such charge would be material.
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Purchased intangible assets with finite lives amerdized using the straight-line method over thévested economic lives of the assets,
which range from two to five years. Purchased igiiale assets determined to have indefinite usefatlare not amortized. Long-lived assets,
including property and equipment and intangibleetsssare reviewed for impairment whenever eventhanges in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of such assets may not be ezable. Such conditions may include an economicdiorm or a change in the assessme
future operations. Determination of recoverabilitypased on an estimate of undiscounted future fb@asbk resulting from the use of the asset
and its eventual disposition. Measurement of araimpent loss for long-lived assets that managermepécts to hold and use is based on the
fair value of the asset. Long-lived assets to Bpaled of are reported at the lower of carryinguwaror fair value less costs to sell. The
carrying value of the asset is reviewed on a redudais for the existence of facts, both intermal external, that may suggest impairment.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, a key employee resfie for managing the asset group acquired imection with our 2006 acquisition
Skipjam Corp. departed the Company. The departutlioemployee, along with the recent economidremment, resulted in our decision to
reduce efforts geared at marketing the relatedymtsd As a result, we performed an impairment aisiyf these long-lived assets during the
fourth quarter of 2008. Based on the results ofthaysis, we recorded an impairment charge withst of revenue in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations of $458,000 in the yede@mecember 31, 2008 for the net carrying valuatahgibles acquired in connection with
our 2006 acquisition of Skipjam Corp.

During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 206i& were no events or changes in circumstanag¢#ntiicated the carrying amount
of our long-lived assets may not be recoverablmftioeir undiscounted cash flows. Consequently, idendt perform an impairment test or
record an impairment of our long-lived assets dythose periods.

We will continue to evaluate the carrying valueoaf long-lived assets and if we determine in tharithat there is a potential further
impairment, we may be required to record additiaharges to earnings which could affect our finaha@sults.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under an asset anititiiadpproach. Under this method, income tax exgaeis recognized for the amount
taxes payable or refundable for the current yeaaddition, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesrao®gnized for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences resulting fildferent treatments for tax versus accountingesfain items, such as accruals and
allowances not currently deductible for tax purpogehese differences result in deferred tax assetdiabilities, which are included within the
consolidated balance sheet. We must then asselisetiteood that our deferred tax assets will beoreered from future taxable income and to
the extent we believe that recovery is not moreljikhan not, we must establish a valuation alloseas of December 31, 2009, we believe
that all of our deferred tax assets are recoveralolever, if there were a change in our abilitydoover our deferred tax assets, we would be
required to take a charge in the period in whichdetrmined that recovery was not more likely thah

We adopted updated authoritative guidance for atog for uncertain income tax positions on Janugr2007 that clarified the
accounting for uncertain income tax positions redzgd in an enterprise’s financial statementsrdvjues that a company should use a more-
likely-than-not recognition threshold based ontdehnical merits of the income tax position takecome tax positions that meet the more-
likely-than-not recognition threshold should be swad in order to determine the tax benefit todm®gnized in the financial statements. We
include interest expense and penalties relateddertain tax positions as additional tax expense.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the Consolidatedt&teents of Operations and the percentage changetfr® preceding year for the

periods indicated:

Net revenu

Cost of revenu

Gross profi

Operating expense
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati
Restructuring
In-process research and developn
Technology license arrangeme
Litigation reserves, ne

Total operating expens:

Income from operation

Interest income, ne

Other income (expense), r

Income before income tax

Provision for income taxe

Net income

**  Percentage change not meaningful as prior yeas sero or a negative amou

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2009 Change 2008 Change
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
$686,59! (7.6%)  $743,34 2.1%
480,19 (4.4%) 502,32( 3.5%
206,40( (14.4%) 241,02 (0.7%)
30,05¢ (11.C%) 33,77: 20.2%
106,16: (12.€%) 121,68 3.2%
32,72 3.1% 31,73 16.6%
80¢ (58.1%) 1,92¢ *x
— (100.(%) 1,80( (56.1%)
2,50( * % _ * %
2,08( 192.5% 711 325. 1%
174,33« (9.C%) 191,63! 8.C%
32,06¢ (35.1%) 49,39! (24.1%)
62¢ (85.5%) 4,33¢ (48.5%)
(12¢€) (98.5%) (8,389 i
32,56 (28.2%) 45,34: (41.(%)
23,23¢ (14.5%) 27,29: (11.€%)
$ 9,33¢ (48.9%)  $ 18,05( (60.7%)

39

2007

$727,78
485,18(
242,60°

28,07(
117,93t
27,22(

4,10(

167
177,49t
65,11:
8,42¢
3,29¢
76,83¢
30,88:

$ 45,95¢
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The following table sets forth the Consolidatedt@teents of Operations, expressed as a percentage @venue, for the periods
presented:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Net revenus 100% 10(% 10C%
Cost of revenu 69.€ 67.€ 66.7
Gross margit 30.1 32.4 33.2

Operating expense

Research and developm 4.4 4.t 3.9
Sales and marketir 15.4 16.£ 16.2
General and administrati\ 4.8 4.3 3.7
Restructuring 0.1 0.2 0.C
In-process research and developn 0.C 0.2 0.6
Technology license arrangeme 0.4 0.C 0.C
Litigation reserves, ne 0.3 0.1 0.C
Total operating expens 25.4 25.¢ 24.4
Income from operatior 4.7 6.€ 8.9
Interest income, ne 0.1 0.€ 1.2
Other income (expense), r 0.7 (1 0.5
Income before income tax 4.7 6.1 10.€
Provision for income taxe 3.3 3.7 4.3

Net income 1.4% 2.4% 6.2%

Net Revenue
Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentage
2009 Change 2008 Change 2007
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Net revenus $686,59" (7.€%) $743,34¢ 2.1% $727,78

Our net revenue consists of gross product shipmkesis allowances for estimated returns for stot&tion and warranty, price protecti
end-user customer rebates and other sales incemntdgmed to be a reduction of net revenue anchaeges in deferred revenue.

2009 Net Revenue Compared to 2008 Net Revenue

Net revenue decreased $56.7 million, or 7.6%, 8636 million for the year ended December 31, 2®@8n $743.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in net reweasi principally attributable to lower shipment®or broadband gateway products to
traditional resellers and existing service providestomers. Additionally, we experienced weakemiegnand for our switch products and
wireless-G products. Our revenue decline contirtodze negatively impacted by the economic downtumd relatively stronger U.S. dollar.
These decreases were partially mitigated by inexktaales of wireless-N products sold to retailedsexisting service provider customers as
well as our increased focus on reducing sales thanthat impact net revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, revenueaeddn the United States, EMEA and Asia Pacifid eest of world was 45.8%,
42.6% and 11.6%, respectively. The comparableewsnue for the year ended December 31, 2008 wB%64@.7.6% and 12.4%, respectively.
The change in net revenue over the prior yeardoheegion amounted to a 5.6% increase, a 17.5%akes, and a 12.7% decrease,
respectively.
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2008 Net Revenue Compared to 2007 Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $15.5 million, or 2.1%, 4363 million for the year ended December 31, 20@Bn $727.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. We experienced loweerehue in the second half of the year due to tbaa@uic downturn and the rapid
strengthening of the U.S. dollar. The increas®ialtyear revenue was attributable to higher salegsveral of our product categories. These
include wireless-G products sold to existing ser\peoovider customers and the full year sales oReadyNAS products, which were acquired
in connection with our acquisition of Infrant in M@007, as well as growth in wireless-N router saléhe growth was partially offset by a
decrease in DSL gateway products sold.

Sales incentives that are classified as contrangvgrew at a slower rate than overall gross saleich further contributed to the
increased net revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2008 revenue dedenathe United States, EMEA and Asia Pacific east of world was 40.1%,
47.6% and 12.3%, respectively. The comparableaewsnue for the year ended December 31, 2007 wé86352.3% and 10.1%, respectively.
The change in net revenue over the prior yeardoheegion amounted to an 8.7% increase, a 6.9%ates, and a 24.3% increase,
respectively.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin
Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentagt
2009 Change 2008 Change 2007
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Cost of revenu $480,19! (4.4%) $502,32( 3.5% $485,18(
Gross margin percenta 30.1% 32./% 33.2%

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the followitige cost of finished products from our third gartanufacturers; overhead costs
including purchasing, product planning, inventoopntol, warehousing and distribution logistics;anind freight; warranty costs associated
with returned goods; write-downs for excess analats inventory; and amortization expense of cerdaiquired intangibles. We outsource our
manufacturing, warehousing and distribution logstWe believe this outsourcing strategy allowsousetter manage our product costs and
gross margin. Our gross margin can be affectedoynaber of factors, including fluctuation in foraigxchange rates, sales returns, changes ir
net revenues due to changes in average sellinggprénddser customer rebates and other sales incentimés;tenges in our cost of goods ¢
due to fluctuations in prices paid for component,of vendor rebates, warranty and overhead dostsund freight, conversion costs, and
charges for excess or obsolete inventory.

2009 Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin Compared@0&Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue decreased $22.1 million, or 4.498480.2 million for the year ended December 3D26rom $502.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2008. Our gross margirased to 30.1% for the year ended December 31, @09 32.4% for the year end
December 31, 2008.

The decrease in gross margin was primarily attaibletto the impact of a relatively stronger U.Slatan our foreign currency
denominated revenues. Gross margins were also tagbag sales declines of our switch products as agetupply constraints late in the year
which resulted in the use of higher cost air freigkpense to acquire inventory levels sufficienswpport increased demand. These margin
decreases were partially offset by our increasedd@n reducing sales incentives that impact rvetmee.

2008 Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin Compared@072Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased $17.1 million, or 3.584502.3 million for the year ended December 3082&om $485.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007. Our gross margirased to 32.4% for the year ended December 31, #@08 33.3% for the year end
December 31, 2007.
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The decrease in gross margin was primarily attabletto sales of products carrying lower gross imargp service providers and the
impact on our foreign currency denominated revemiuesto the strengthening of the U.S. dollar, alé agehigher warranty costs associated
with end-user warranty returns. Additionally, intery reserves increased primarily due to sellingegpdeclines of certain products. These
declines were primarily attributable to the strémegiting of the U.S. dollar in locations where we inillocal currencies. These negative margin
impacts were partially mitigated by reduced aiigit expenses as a result of increased on-handtomelevels which allowed us to minimize
the amount of higher cost air freight expense, elé a8 reduced marketing expenses.

Additionally, stock-based compensation expensesamed $231,000 to $864,000 for the year ended Omredi, 2008, from $633,000
for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentag¢
2009 Change 2008 Change 2007
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Research and development expe $30,05¢ (11.(%) $33,77: 20.2% $28,07(
Percentage of net reven 4.4% 4.5% 3.%

Research and development expenses consist prino&plgrsonnel expenses, payments to suppliersefsigd services, safety and
regulatory testing, product certification expenditito qualify our products for sale into speaifiarkets, prototypes and other consulting fees.
Research and development expenses are recognitieelyeare incurred. We have invested in buildingresearch and development
organization to enhance our ability to introducedvative and easy to use products. In the futueebelieve that research and development
expenses will increase in absolute dollars as war into new networking product technologies ammtien our core competencies.

2009 Research and Development Expense Compare®®8 Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses decreased #iid,rar 11.0%, to $30.1 million for the year endeecember 31, 2009, from $33.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Téerebse was primarily attributable to decreasets afs$3.1 million related to a reduction
in payroll and other employee expenses, includiegehsed variable compensation and a reductioaveltexpenses which was partly in
response to our cost cutting initiatives. Includethe $3.1 million was a decrease of approximab&ly0,000 due to acquisition-related
contingent compensation. Additionally, stock-basethpensation expense decreased $1.2 million toriRlion for the year ended
December 31, 2009, from $3.2 million for the yeaded December 31, 2008. Partially offsetting trdeereases was an increase in costs
allocated to research and development from othestional expense categories of $536,000, primagdylting from increased facilities costs
and higher information technology costs relatedupnew enterprise resource planning software.fA3escember 31, 2009, we had 149
employees engaged in research and development, flomrl58 employees as of December 31, 2008.

2008 Research and Development Expense Compare®® Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses increased 3$bon hoir 20.3%, to $33.8 million for the year edd@ecember 31, 2008, from $28.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Tioedase was primarily due to increased salaryte@lpayroll and other employee expenses
of $3.6 million primarily due to incremental headod expenses related to the acquisition of Inframflay 2007, which was partially offset b
decrease in employee performance compensation. df$illion. Employee headcount increased by 37%58 employees
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as of December 31, 2008 as compared to 115 empl@geef December 31, 2007, primarily due to newleyaes obtained from the
acquisition of certain assets of CP Secure Inteynak Holding Limited (“CP Secure”) in December 30T he increase in research and
development expense was also due to an increasmirecurring engineering of $1.3 million primarily dteeincremental product developm
projects, as well as an increase in costs allodategsearch and development from other functierpense categories of $1.4 million primarily
resulting from increased facilities costs primar#yated to our new corporate headquarters in 8s@, Lalifornia. Additionally, stock-based
compensation expense increased $827,000 to $3iamfibr the year ended December 31, 2008, frord $2llion for the year ended
December 31, 2007.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2009 Change 2008 Change 2007
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Sales and marketing exper $106,16: (12.£%) $121,68' 3.2% $117,93¢
Percentage of net reven 15.4&% 16.4% 16.2%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilyle¢rising, trade shows, corporate communicatiorsather marketing expenses,
product marketing expenses, outbound freight cpstsonnel expenses for sales and marketing stdffexhnical support expenses.

2009 Sales and Marketing Expense Compared to 208@&$Sand Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $15.5mdlid 2.8%, to $106.2 million for the year endeztBmber 31, 2009, from $121.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. @ tlecrease, $6.7 million was related to a redandtigpayroll and other employee expenses
primarily attributable to decreased overall saled marketing headcount and a reduction in travpéasges, which was partly in response to our
cost cutting initiatives. Additionally, marketinggenses and other outside service costs decre@sedndlion attributable to reduced market
campaigns and cost savings efforts. Furthermonbooud freight decreased $1.6 million attributatoleur reduction in sales. Partially
offsetting these decreases was an increase ina@tstated to sales and marketing from other fumeti expense categories of $1.7 million,
primarily resulting from increased facilities casts

2008 Sales and Marketing Expense Compared to 208é$and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses increased $3.8 mitiic?12%, to $121.7 million for the year ended &maber 31, 2008, from $117.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2007. @ ithcrease, $2.8 million was attributable to irsred salary, related payroll and other
employee expenses as a result of sales and mayketated headcount growth, which was partiallgeffy a decrease in employee
performance compensation of $1.7 million. Emploeadcount increased from 260 employees as of DexreBih 2007 to 266 employees as
of December 31, 2008. Most of our increase in headcoccurred in connection with our expansion MiEA and Asia Pacific. Furthermore,
outbound freight increased $1.0 million, reflectmgr higher unit volume sales, and costs alloctdeshles and marketing from other functional
expense categories increased $1.8 million dued®&sed facilities costs primarily related to oewrcorporate headquarters in San Jose,
California. These increases were partially offsetdwer advertising and promotion expenses.
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General and Administrative Expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentagt
2009 Change 2008 Change 2007
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
General and administrative expel $32,721 3.1% $31,73:¢ 16.6% $27,22(
Percentage of net reven 4.8% 4.2% 3.7%

General and administrative expenses consist ofisaland related expenses for executive, finandeaanounting, human resources,
professional fees, allowance for doubtful accoamts other corporate expenses.

2009 General and Administrative Expense Compare@®®8 General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses increasedndillion, or 3.1%, to $32.7 million for the year esdiDecember 31, 2009, from $31.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Tioedase was primarily attributable to increased t#e51.5 million for outside legal and
other professional services, particularly incregsatent litigation defense costs. Furthermore, yygeeenced increased salary, related payroll,
and other employee costs of $511,000. This incrisgsemarily due to capitalizing certain employa®sts in 2008 in connection with their
involvement in the implementation of new enterprissource planning software, which lowered totapkayee costs included in general and
administrative expenses in that year. We did npitalize any such costs in 2009. Partially offsgftthese increases was a decrease of $1.2
million for outside professional services primaiilye to decreased information technology consulugh consulting expenses were relati
higher in the year ago period due to our implenteraof new enterprise resource planning softwar2d08.

2008 General and Administrative Expense Compare@@®7 General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses increasedn$ién, or 16.6%, to $31.7 million for the yeardad December 31, 2008, from $27.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Tlvedase was primarily due to higher outside pradess services, due to higher legal
consulting expenses of $3.5 million. Furthermotegls-based compensation expense increased apptekn$d.0 million to $3.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2008, from $2.8 miftiorthe year ended December 31, 2007. Overallgé¢aad administrative compensation
costs were flat, as the increases in salary, etlgdgroll and other employee expenses were offsatdecrease in employee performance
compensation.

Restructuring

In July 2008, we ceased using buildings leasedim&Clara and Fremont, California, and consol@iatepersonnel and operations from
those locations to our new corporate headquame®an Jose, California. During the year ended Dbeerdl, 2009, we expensed $809,000
related to these facilities in Santa Clara and erggrprimarily due to a sub-lessee ceasing to npalgenents. During the year ended
December 31, 2008, we expensed $964,000 relatibe:$e excess facilities. Additionally, we expen$@65,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2008 related to the termination ofleympent of approximately 35 individuals on Novemi&r 2008. For a detailed discussion
of our restructuring expenses, please see Notdhedflotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

We did not incur any restructuring expense durirgytear ended December 31, 2007.

In-process Research and Development

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we expeBt8 million for in-process research and develepielated to intangible assets
purchased in our acquisition of certain assetsPBEcure. See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidatexh€ial Statements for additional
information regarding this acquisition. The
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in-process research and development was expensedagpuisition because technological feasibilitg hat been established and no future
alternative uses exist. We acquired two in-processarch and development projects, both of whicblied improvements to threat
management characteristics of future products. Werred costs of approximately $1.2 million to cdete the projects, of which
approximately $120,000 was incurred during the yweated December 31, 2008 and an additional $1llbmivas incurred during the year
ended December 31, 2009. We completed one prajebeibeginning of the year ended December 31, 28@%he final project at the end of
the year ended December 31, 2009.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we expe®sd million for in-process research and develepimelated to intangible assets
purchased in our acquisition of Infrant. The ing@ss research and development was expensed upgsitog because technological
feasibility had not been established and no fualternative uses exist. We acquired three in-pmoesearch and development projects. Two
projects involve development of new products inReadyNAS desktop product category, and one prajeotves development of a higher «
version of a product currently selling in the Redéy rack mount product category. We incurred cosepproximately $1.6 million to
complete the projects, of which approximately $hillion was incurred during the year ended Decen®igr2008 and an additional $200,000
was incurred during the year ended December 319.20@ completed two projects in the middle of tearyended December 31, 2008 and the
final project in the middle of the year ended Deben1, 2009.

Technology License Arrangements

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we enteted $2.5 million arrangement to license certaiftware technologies that we
may integrate into certain future products. We hasteyet established the technological feasibidityhese products, and we do not believe the
software has an alternative future use. In thisasibn, the authoritative guidance for softwareéestahat the cost of software purchased to be
integrated with products that have not yet reacbelinological feasibility and do not have an aliitre use should be expensed. As such, we
expensed the entire technology license arrangeamatint of $2.5 million in the year ended DecemtierZ®09.

Litigation Reserves and Payments

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we redardelitigation reserves expense of $2.1 millibhis expense was primarily
comprised of $2.6 million in estimated costs relatethe settlement of various lawsuits againstuisch includes $2.1 million related to a one-
time settlement payment made to the Commonwealtmgfic and Industrial Research Organization (“R6I") and $350,000 related to a one-
time settlement payment made to Network-1 Sec@itjtions, Inc. (“Network-1"). These expenses waffset by a reduction in previously
accrued legal settlement costs of $500,000 duestoranary judgment ruling in our favor on a paricuwase.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we redardelitigation reserves expense of $711,000. &kjgense was primarily compris
of $575,000 in estimated costs related to theese#tht of various lawsuits filed against us. Addititly, we incurred an expense of $109,00(
costs related to the settlement of the patentrigéiment lawsuit filed by Hybrid Patents, Inc. (“Hig3) against Charter Communications, Inc.
(“Charter”) where we assumed the defense of thgatibn after receiving a request for indemnifioatfrom Charter and an expense of $85,000
for costs related to the settlement of the patefninigement lawsuit filed by Linex Technologiesclmgainst us. These expenses were offset by
a reduction in previously accrued legal settlenoeists of $58,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we redadesxpense of $167,000 for costs related todtilement of th&ercoNet v.
NETGEAFRlawsuit.

For a detailed discussion of our litigation matt@tease see Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidategn€ial Statements.
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Interest Income and Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Interest income and other income (expens

Interest income, ne $ 62¢ $ 4,33¢ $ 8,42¢
Other income (expense), r (12¢) (8,389 3,29¢
Total interest income and other income (expe $ 501 $(4,0485  $11,72¢

Interest income represents amounts earned on shr cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Other income (expense), net, primarily represeaitssgand losses on transactions denominated ifgfoceirrencies and other
miscellaneous expenses.

2009 Interest Income and Other Income (Expense) Guared to 2008 Interest Income and Other Income (EExyze)

The aggregate of interest income, interest expertker income, and other expense amounted to het otcome of $501,000 for the ye
ended December 31, 2009, compared to net othensapd $4.0 million for the year ended December2BD8. We recorded a net foreign
exchange loss of $8.4 million during the year endedember 31, 2008 due to the continued strengibesfithe U.S. dollar against the euro,
the British pound, the Australian dollar and thpalsese yen during 2008. We implemented a hedgomygm in November 2008, and there
the impact of fluctuations in currency decreasegdificantly during the year ended December 31, 2088ulting in a decrease in net foreign
exchange losses of $8.3 million. This decreasetrother expense is partially offset by decreasstarest income of $3.7 million, which is a
result of a decrease in interest rates on our casih, equivalents, and short-term investments befaduring the year.

2008 Interest Income and Other Income (Expense) Guared to 2007 Interest Income and Other Income (EExze)

The aggregate of interest income, interest expartser income, and other expense amounted to het ekpense of $4.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2008, compared to netioit@me of $11.7 million for the year ended DecenBie 2007. The decrease is partii
due to a $4.1 million decrease in interest incontdch is a result of a decrease in interest ratesu cash, cash equivalents, and short-term
investments balances during the year. We also dedoa net foreign exchange loss of $8.4 million uthe continued strengthening of the
U.S. dollar against the euro, the British pound, Alustralian dollar and the Japanese yen durin@ 208ich was a reversal of the weakening
U.S. dollar trend experienced in 2007.

Provision for Income Taxes
2009 Provision for Income Taxes Compared to 200®Wsion for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes decreased $4.1 milliesulting in a provision of $23.2 million for thegr ended December 31, 2009,
compared to a provision of $27.3 million for theayended December 31, 2008. The effective taximateased from 60.2% for the year ended
December 31, 2008 to 71.3% for the year ended DieeeB1, 2009. The effective tax rate for both pasidiffered from the statutory rate of
35% due to non-deductible stock-based compensaiate taxes, other non-deductible expenses, aratddits. Additionally, in 2009 tax
attributable to foreign operations increased tliectif’e tax rate by 28.4 percentage points comptreah increase of 19.4 percentage points for
2008. This was primarily caused by the tax efféetan-deductible losses in foreign jurisdictionses no benefit can be claimed as well as
increases in earnings in countries with rates higen 35%.
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2008 Provision for Income Taxes Compared to 200b6Wsion for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes decreased $3.6 milliesulting in a provision of $27.3 million for thegr ended December 31, 2008,
compared to a provision of $30.9 million for theayended December 31, 2007. The effective taximateased from 40.2% for the year ended
December 31, 2007 to 60.2% for the year ended DeeeB1, 2008. The effective tax rate for both pesidiffered from the statutory rate of
approximately 35% due to non-deductible stock-basedpensation, state taxes, other non-deductitdereses, and tax credits. In 2008, there
was no rate effect from in-process research andldpment expensed in connection with the acquisidioCP Secure since such in-process
research and development was deductible for taggs@s. In 2007, the acquisition of Infrant resultedon-deductible in-process research and
development expense which resulted in an increateieffective tax rate. Additionally, in 2008 cpaned to 2007, tax attributable to foreign
operations increased the effective tax rate by p8rdentage points. This was primarily caused bytdh effect of non-deductible losses in
foreign jurisdictions where no benefit can be cladhas well as increases in earnings in countrids nates higher than 35%.

Net Income

Net income decreased $8.8 million, or 48.3%, t@$8illion for the year ended December 31, 2009nf&i8.1 million for the year end
December 31, 2008. This decrease was primarilippatable to a decrease in gross profit of $34.6ionil This decrease was offset by a
decrease in operating expenses of $17.3 millionsathelcrease in other expense, net of $8.3 million.

Net income decreased $27.9 million, or 60.7%, %®.$Million for the year ended December 31, 2088nf$46.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. This decrease was piynadtriibutable to an increase in operating expené&44.1 million, a decrease in other
income (expense), net, of $11.7 million, and a el@se in interest income, net, of $4.1 million. Ehdscreases in ptax income were offset k
a decrease in provision for income taxes of $316ani

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2009, we had cash, cash equigadend short-term investments totaling $247. liomill

Our cash and cash equivalents balance decreased®2.8 million as of December 31, 2008 to $17Rillon as of December 31,
2009. Our short-term investments, which repredemirivestment of funds available for current operst, increased from $10.2 million as of
December 31, 2008 to $74.9 million as of Decemlg2809, as we shifted assets from low risk monayket funds to Treasuries with higher
returns. Operating activities during the year enbedember 31, 2009 generated cash of $48.1 milllresting activities during the year ent
December 31, 2009 used $72.3 million, which inctuthe net purchases of short-term investments @83&illion, payments made in
connection with our acquisition of CP Secure ob%8illion, and purchases of property and equipnaembunting to $3.9 million, offset
primarily by net proceeds from the sale of shontaténvestments of $25.0 million. During the yeaded December 31, 2009, financing
activities provided $3.6 million, primarily due tioe issuance of our common stock upon exercistook ®ptions and our employee stock
purchase program, as well as the excess tax bémefitexercise of stock options.

Our days sales outstanding decreased from 81 days@ecember 31, 2008 to 71 days as of Decemhe2(8D due to our increased
focus on collections.

Our accounts payable increased from $60.1 milltoRecember 31, 2008 to $69.1 million at December2BD9 primarily as a result of
timing of payments.

Inventory decreased by $21.6 million from $112.%iori at December 31, 2008 to $90.6 million at Daber 31, 2009 in part due to
greater sales in the three months ended Decemb@082. Ending inventory
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turns increased from 4.0 turns in the three moattteed December 31, 2008, to 6.7 turns in the tim@eths ended December 31, 2009.

We enter into foreign currency forward-exchangeti@mts, which typically mature in three to six mutto hedge a portion of our
exposure to foreign currency fluctuations of fore@irrency-denominated revenue, costs of reverartgin operating expenses, receivables,
payables, and cash balances. We record on theltated balance sheet at each reporting periofbih@alue of our forward-exchange
contracts and record any fair value adjustmentaimConsolidated Statements of Operations andrifConsolidated Balance Sheets. Gains
losses associated with currency rate changes ayelmhtracts that are non-designated under the@tatiive guidance for derivatives and
hedging are recorded within other income (expensat),offsetting foreign exchange gains and lossesur monetary assets and liabilities.
Gains and losses associated with currency rategelsaon hedge contracts that are designated casth@ddges under the authoritative guidance
for derivatives and hedging are recorded within glative other comprehensive income until the relatvenue, costs of revenue, or expenses
are recognized.

On October 21, 2008, the Board of Directors appiigians to purchase shares of our common stodieiopen market. During the year
ended December 31, 2009, we did not repurchasstarmgs of common stock under this repurchase adion. During the year ended
December 31, 2008 we purchased approximately Jlidmshares of our common stock in the open mdidetash of $12.2 million. As of
December 31, 2009, we were authorized to purchade an additional 4.8 million shares under theshapurchase plan. See Note 10 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements foseaudision of the accounting for our common stockimepases. The stock repurch:
authorization does not have an expiration datetl@gace of repurchase activity will depend onawsifactors including, but not limited to,
such factors as levels of cash generation fromatipers, cash requirements for acquisitions, anteatistock price. Although we did not
repurchase any shares of common stock under {isalease authorization, we repurchased approxignag&000 shares, or $282,000 of
common stock, related to the lapse of restrictedkstinits during the year ended December 31, 2009.

Based on our current plans and market conditioesh@lieve that our existing cash, cash equivakemisshort-term investments will be
sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requieats for the foreseeable future. However, we cabhaatertain that our planned levels of
revenue, costs and expenses will be achievedrlbperating results fail to meet our expectations we fail to manage our inventory,
accounts receivable or other assets, we couldderes to seek additional funding through publigdwate financings or other arrangements.
In addition, as we continue to expand our prodfferimgs, channels and geographic presence, weretpyre additional working capital. In
such event, adequate funds may not be available wlieded or may not be available on favorable mmgercially acceptable terms, which
could have a negative effect on our business asdtseof operations.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2009, we had a backlog of apprately $65.6 million, as compared to approximak3y.7 million as of
December 31, 2008, primarily due to supply constsaand greater product demand in the three mamtied December 31, 2009. Our backlog
consists of products for which customer purchadersrhave been received and which are scheduledioe process of being scheduled for
shipment. While we expect to fulfill the order blokwithin the current year, most orders are suthif@cescheduling or cancellation with little
or no penalties. Because of the possibility of comtr changes in product scheduling or order caatgatl, our backlog as of any particular date
may not be an indicator of net sales for any sutiogeperiod.
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Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arragements
Contractual Obligations

The following table describes our commitments titless@on-cancelable lease and purchase commitnasra$ December 31, 2009.

Less Thar More Than
1-3 35
1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total
(In thousands)
Operating leases, net of sublease paym $ 5,62¢ $7,582 $6,71f $ 15,78 $ 35,70¢
Purchase obligatior $81,31: $ — $ — $ — $ 81,31

$86,93¢ $7,58¢ $6,71f $ 15,78 $117,02:

In January 2010, we completed the acquisition dbaeintellectual property and other assets off INetworks, LLC (“Leaf”). The
acquisition qualified as a business acquisitionitidbe accounted for using the purchase methoacobunting. The aggregate purchase price
was $2.1 million, paid in cash. Additionally, theqaisition agreement specified that Leaf sharehsldey receive a total additional payout of
up to $900,000 in cash over the three years foligwelosure of the acquisition if developed prodyzss certain acceptance criteria. We
determined that the present value of the $900,@@@npial additional payout is approximately $80@,0@r which we will record a liability in
the three months ending March 28, 2010.

In accordance with the purchase method of accogiatind as updated with the FASB’s April 2009 addailauthoritative guidance for
business combinations, we will allocate the totathase price to identifiable intangible asseth@éthree months ending March 28, 2010 b
on each element’s estimated fair value. Acquisitiosts are expensed as incurred. Purchased intasgiill be amortized on a straight-line
basis over their respective estimated useful liGeodwill will be recorded based on the residuathase price after allocating the purchase
price to the fair market value of intangible assa&tguired certain expensed acquisition costs. Galoahises as a result of the $800,000 present
valuation of the $900,000 potential additional paty@lus $100,000 in additional payment consideratThe preliminary allocation of the
purchase price is as follows (in thousands):

Intangibles, ne 2,00(
Goodwill 90C
Total purchase price allocati $2,90(

The $2.0 million in acquired intangible assets wasignated as existing technology. The value wiasileded based on the present value
of the future estimated cash flows derived fromjgmtions of future revenue attributable to existiaghnology. This $2.0 million will be
amortized over its estimated useful life of sevearg.

We lease office space, cars and equipment undecaiocelable operating leases with various expmadimtes through December 2026.
Rent expense was $6.2 million for the year endeckBer 31, 2009, $6.3 million for the year endedddeber 31, 2008, and $3.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2007. The terms of sbthe office leases provide for rental paymemsagraduated scale. We recognize rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the leasedyemd have accrued for rent expense incurrecidsupaid. We have also accrued for the
expected loss on certain facilities we do not idtemsublease. The amounts presented are consigthrdontractual terms and are not expe
to differ significantly, unless a substantial chariig our headcount needs requires us to exit aced®cility early or expand our occupied sp.

We enter into various inventory-related purchaseeaments with suppliers. Generally, under theseeagents, 50% of the orders are
cancelable by giving notice 46 to 60 days priothi® expected shipment date
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and 25% of orders are cancelable by giving noticéo345 days prior to the expected shipment datéde® are not cancelable within 30 days
prior to the expected shipment date. At Decembe8Q9, we had $81.3 million in non-cancelable pase commitments with suppliers. We
expect to sell all products for which we have cottedi purchases from suppliers.

We adopted the guidance related to the recogrdimhmeasurement of uncertain tax positions on dgriy&007. As of December 31,
2009 and December 31, 2008, we had $18.0 millieh%drt.5 million, respectively, of total gross urognized tax benefits and related interest.
The timing of any payments which could result fritase unrecognized tax benefits will depend upoamaber of factors. Accordingly, the
timing of payment cannot be estimated. We do npeeka significant tax payment related to thes@abibns to occur within the next 12
months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2009, we did not have any offstiee sheet arrangements as defined in Item 3@3(&)of SEC Regulation S-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Finand&ksents for recent accounting pronouncements;hwdrie hereby incorporated by
reference into this Part I, Item 7.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MaakRisk
Interest Rate Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun iovestment portfolio. We have an investmentfotict of fixed income securities that
are classified as “available-for-sale securitidhese securities, like all fixed income instrumeatg subject to interest rate risk and will fall i
value if market interest rates increase. We attempinit this exposure by investing primarily inghly rated short-term securities. Our
investment policy requires investments to be radpte-A with the objective of minimizing the poteal risk of principal loss. Due to the short
duration and conservative nature of our investrpenifolio, a movement of 10% by market intereseésatvould not have a material impact on
our operating results and the total value of thefplio over the next fiscal year. We monitor ontdrest rate and credit risks, including our
credit exposure to specific rating categories anddividual issuers. There were no impairment gharon our investments during fiscal 2009.

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

We invoice some of our international customersireign currencies including, but not limited toe thustralian dollar, British pound,
euro, and Japanese yen. As the customers thatirmemtly invoiced in local currency become a largercentage of our business, or to the
extent we begin to bill additional customers irefgn currencies, the impact of fluctuations in fgneexchange rates could have a more
significant impact on our results of operationst thmse customers in our international marketswheatontinue to sell to in U.S. dollars, an
increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relativéareign currencies could make our products mapeesive and therefore reduce the demand
for our products. Such a decline in the demandfomproducts could reduce sales and negatively ¢gtnpar operating results. Certain operal
expenses of our foreign operations require payiinethie local currencies.

We are exposed to risks associated with foreighaxge rate fluctuations due to our internationkdssand operating activities. These
exposures may change over time as business pmetiodve and could negatively impact our operategylts and financial condition. We
began using foreign currency forward contract daies in the fourth quarter of 2008 to partialffset our business exposure to foreign
exchange risk on our foreign currency denominagsets and liabilities. Additionally, in the secangarter of 2009 we began
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entering into certain foreign currency forward gants that have been designated as cash flow hedges the authoritative guidance for
derivatives and hedging to partially offset ouribhess exposure to foreign exchange risk on portidrmar anticipated foreign currency
revenue, costs of revenue, and certain operatipgreses. The objective of these foreign currenaydod contracts is to reduce the impact of
currency exchange rate movements on our operasugts by offsetting gains and losses on the fatwantracts with increases or decreast
foreign currency transactions. The contracts ankethto-market on a monthly basis with gains ars$és included in other income (expense),
net in the Consolidated Statements of Operatiamsjrmcumulative other comprehensive income onbesolidated Balance Sheets. We do
not use foreign currency contracts for speculativeading purposes. Hedging of our balance shedtaticipated cash flow exposures may
always be effective to protect us against curren@hange rate fluctuations. In addition, we dofally hedge our balance sheet and anticip
cash flow exposures, leaving us at risk to for@gohange gains and losses on the un-hedged expoHutere were an adverse movement in
exchange rates, we might suffer significant losSeg Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Finar8ttements for additional disclosure on our
foreign currency contracts, which are hereby inooafed by reference into this Part II, ltem 7A.

As of December 31, 2009, we had net assets inustaxal currencies. A hypothetical 10% movemeribirign exchange rates would
result in an after-tax positive or negative impaic$440,000 to net income, net of our hedged pmsitat December 31, 2009. Actual future
gains and losses associated with our foreign cayrerposures and positions may differ materialbnfrthe sensitivity analyses performed a
December 31, 2009 due to the inherent limitatissoeaiated with predicting the foreign currency exaje rates, and our actual exposures and
positions. For the year ended December 31, 2008%, &3otal net revenue was denominated in a cuyretteer than the U.S. dollar.
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ltem 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and SupplementBgta
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of NETGEAR, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15(g)(&sent fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of NETGEAR, Inedats subsidiaries at December 31, 2009 and Deeeth 2008, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of thedhyrears in the period ended December 31, 2008nfoanity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ametitaddition, in our opinion, the financial statemschedule listed in the index appearing
under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all matleréspects, the information set forth therein whead in conjunction with the related
consolidated financial statements. Also in our @pinthe Company maintained, in all material respeeffective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on @iesfablished in Internal Control—Integrated Fraorvissued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommisgDSO). The Company’s management is responsibliése financial statements and
financial statement schedule, for maintaining dffecinternal control over financial reporting aftd its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, includedManagement’s Report on Internal Control overdficial Reporting appearing under
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opiniamsthese financial statements, on the financiaéstant schedule, and on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting basedoam integrated audits. We conducted our auditcaoadance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Stat€hpse standards require that we plan and perfoenatidits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statemeatisex of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our augfithe financial statements included examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemeastessing the accounting principles used andfisemt estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement@méation. Our audit of internal control over fin&@iceporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financigloging, assessing the risk that a material weakegists, and testing and evaluating the de
and operating effectiveness of internal controkblasn the assessed risk. Our audits also includgdrming such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdlat our audits provide a reasonable basistfoppinions.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrstegements, the Company changed the manner ichvithccounts for fair value
measurement of financial assets and liabilitiedd@8 and the manner in which it accounts for ugetbx positions in 2007.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablezassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclsddose policies and procedures that (i) pertathéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@éawith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readdleassurance regarding prevention or timely detecf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢t@isstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 1, 2010
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current assett

Cash and cash equivalel

Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, n

Inventories

Deferred income taxe

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r
Intangibles, ne
Goodwill
Other nor-current asseti

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Income taxes payab
Total current liabilities
Non-current income taxes payal
Other nor-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shartsrized in 2009 and 2008; none outstandin@i®2r
2008
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 stertt®rized in 2009 and 2008; shares issuec
outstanding: 34,732,579 in 2009 and 34,280,53D08:
Additional paic-in capital
Cumulative other comprehensive inco
Retained earning
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2009 2008

$172,20. $192,83!
74,89¢ 10,17(
162,85: 138,27
90,59( 112,24(
13,347 13,12¢
20,83¢ 22,69¢
534,72! 489,34¢
16,89 20,29:
8,29¢ 13,31
64,90¢ 61,40(
8,29¢ 1,85¢
$633,12. $586,20¢

$ 69,080 $ 60,07:
11,04( 7,17
87,89¢ 87,74
22,10¢ 21,50¢

5,48¢ —
195,60 176,50t
17,47¢ 12,35}
5,88( 6,38¢
218,96¢ 195,25!

35 34
280,25t 266,07(
24 67

133,83t 124,78
414,15] 390,95¢
$633,12: $586,20!
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net revenue

Cost of revenu

Gross profi

Operating expense
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\
Restructuring
In-process research and developn
Technology license arrangeme
Litigation reserves, ne

Total operating expens

Income from operation

Interest income, ne

Other income (expense), r

Income before income tax

Provision for income taxe

Net income

Net income per shar
Basic

Diluted

NETGEAR, INC.

(In thousands, except per share data)

Weighted average shares outstanding used to comptitecome per shar

Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

54

Year Ended December 31,

2009

2008

2007

$686,59!  $74334  $727,78
480,19 502,32( 485,18(
206,40 241,02 242,60
30,05¢ 33,77 28,07(
106,16: 121,68 117,93¢
32,72 31,73 27,22(

80¢ 1,92¢ —

— 1,80( 4,10
2,50( — —
2,08( 711 167
174,33 191,63 177 49!
32,06¢ 49,39 65,11

62¢ 4,33¢ 8,42¢

(128) (8,38/) 3,29¢
32,567 45,34 76,83¢
23,23 27,29 30,88:
$ 933  $1805( $ 45,95
$ 027 $ 051 $ 1.3:
$ 027 $ 051 $ 1.2¢
34,48t 35,21 34,80¢
34,84 35,61 35,83¢
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009
(In thousands)

Cumulative
Common Stock Other
Additional Comprehensive
Paid-In Retained
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Total
Balance at December 31, 20C 33,96 $ 3 $221,48t $ 5 $ 72,90 $294,42:
Cumulative adjustment resulting from adoption ofGAB40 — — — — 25¢E 25t
Comprehensive incom:
Change in unrealized gains and losses on available-
for-sale securities, net of t — — — 10€ — 10¢€
Net income — — — — 45,95« 45,95¢
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — 46,06(
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — 8,87¢ — — 8,87¢
Purchase and retirement of common st (5) — — — (250 (250
Issuance of common stock under s-based compensati
plans 1,28¢ 1 13,69: — — 13,69:
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 8,364 — — 8,364
Balance at December 31, 20C 35,24 35 252,42: 101 118,96¢ 371,52
Comprehensive incom
Change in unrealized gains and losses on availakt
for-sale securities, net of t: — — — (34) — (34
Net income — — — — 18,05( 18,05(
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — 18,01¢
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — 11,20¢ — — 11,20¢
Purchase and retirement of common si (2,17¢) Q) — — (12,229 (12,230
Issuance of common stock under s-based compensatic
plans 214 — 2,36: — — 2,36:
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 81 — — 81
Balance at December 31, 20C 34,28( 34 266,07( 67 124,78 390,95¢
Comprehensive incom:
Change in unrealized gains and losses on available-
for-sale securities, net of t — — — (63 — (63
Change in unrealized gains and losses on deriat
net of tax — — — 20 — 20
Net income — — — — 9,33: 9,33:
Total comprehensive incon — — — — — 9,29(
Stock-based compensation expel — — 11,05¢ — — 11,05¢
Purchase and retirement of common si (22) — — — (282) (282)
Issuance of common stock under s-based compensatic
plans 474 1 2,991 — — 2,99
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 13€ — — 13€
Balance at December 31, 20C 34,73: $ 35 $280,25¢ $ 24 $133,83¢ $414,15:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie!
Depreciation and amortizatic
Purchase premium amortization (discount accretionvestment
Non-cash stoc-based compensati
Income tax benefit associated with stock optiorr@ses
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic
Deferred income taxe
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effectanfuisitions
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Income taxes payab
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of shi-term investment
Proceeds from sale of sh-term investment
Purchase of property and equipm
Payments made in connection with business acaprisitinet of cash acquir
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
Cash flows from financing activitie
Purchase and retirement of common si
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraglstock purchase pli
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of p¢
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of pe

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for income tax

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
$ 9,33t  $18,05( $ 45,95
12,36( 13,26: 12,68t
) 56 (1,042
11,02 11,32: 8,87¢
13€ 81 8,36¢
(869) (149) (7,059
(4,865) (2,029) (1,042)
(24,57%) 19,49( (36,96%)
21,65( (29,13%) (1,58%)
102 (2,179 (6,346)
9,00¢ 4,74 14,81¢
3,86¢ (8,909) 3,88¢
(272) 4,94% 12,65¢
59¢ 13,88¢ (61€)
10,61( 4,08¢ 781
48,09; 47,52 53,37¢
(89,827 (10,139 (75,670)
25,00( 37,70( 148,76!
(3,945) (15,390 (9,839
(3,539 (24,63%) (57,466
(72,31 (12,45%) 5,79(
(282) (12,229 (150)
1,861 1,00€ 12,48"
1,12¢ 1,35¢ 1,20¢
86¢ 142 7,05:
3,571 (9,725 20,59¢
(20,63) 25,34¢ 79,75¢
192,83¢ 167,49 87,73¢
$172,20.  $192,83¢  $167,49!
$ 14,40  $25177  $ 25,34

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—The Company and Summary of Significant Accauting Policies:
The Company

NETGEAR, Inc. (“NETGEAR” or the “Company”) was ingmrated in Delaware in January 1996. The Compasjgds, develops and
markets networking products for small businessésgivthe Company defines as a business with feliger 250 employees, and home users.
The Company focuses on satisfying the ease-ofeussity, reliability, performance and affordabilitgquirements of these users. The
Companys product offerings enable users to share intexoetss, peripherals, files, digital multimedia eottand applications among multi|
networked devices and other internet-enabled dsviiee Company sells products primarily througliobal sales channel network, which
includes traditional retailers, online retailerdiolesale distributors, direct market resellerd)bIRs, value added resellers, or VARs, and
broadband service providers.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiawstade the accounts of the Company and its whmiiyed subsidiaries. All inter-
company accounts and transactions have been etediiathe consolidation of these subsidiaries.

Fiscal periods

The Company'’s fiscal year begins on January 1®f/ar stated and ends on December 31 of the saaneTthe Company reports its
results on a fiscal quarter basis rather than calendar quarter basis. Under the fiscal quartsishaach of the first three fiscal quarters ends
on the Sunday closest to the calendar quartenettdthe fourth quarter ending on December 31.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally accepteth@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assasihiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finanstialements and the reported amounts of revenukesxgenses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith a maturity at the time of purchase of threenths or less to be cash equivale
The Company deposits cash and cash equivalentsigithcredit quality financial institutions.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments are comprised of marketsdterities that consist of government securitigh an original maturity or a
remaining maturity at the time of purchase, of tgethan three months and no more than 12 monthmakketable securities are held in the
Company’s name with one high quality financial ingion, which acts as the Company’s custodianiamdstment manager. All of the
Company’s marketable securities are classified/agable-forsale securities in accordance with the provisidrth® authoritative guidance f
investments and are carried at fair value with alized gains and losses reported as a separateooemipof stockholders’ equity.
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Certain risks and uncertainties

The Company’s products are concentrated in thear&tng industry, which is characterized by rapidhieological advances, changes in
customer requirements and evolving regulatory mequénts and industry standards. The success @dhgany depends on management’s
ability to anticipate and/or to respond quickly amtkquately to technological developments in idaigtry, changes in customer requirement
changes in regulatory requirements or industrydsteds. Any significant delays in the developmenintnoduction of products could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s businedgaerating results.

The Company relies on a limited number of thirdtiearto manufacture all of its products. If anytted Company’s third party
manufacturers cannot or will not manufacture idoicts in required volumes, on a cost-effectivasyas a timely manner, or at all, the
Company will have to secure additional manufacdapacity. Any interruption or delay in manufaatgrcould have a material adverse ef
on the Company’s business and operating results.

Derivative financial instruments

As discussed in Note 5, the Company uses foreigeieay forward contracts to manage the exposuréséign exchange risk related to
expected future cash flows on certain forecastedmee, costs of revenue, operating expenses, andrtain existing assets and liabilities.
Foreign currency forward contracts generally matitgin five months of inception. Under its foreigarrency risk management strategy, the
Company utilizes derivative instruments to reddreeiimpact of currency exchange rate movementse@tmpany’s operating results by
offsetting gains and losses on the forward cordradth increases or decreases in foreign currerarysactions. The company does not use
derivative financial instruments for speculativegmses.

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumasteither assets or liabilities and records thefaiavalue. Derivatives that are not
defined as hedges in the authoritative guidancedoivatives and hedging must be adjusted to finesthrough earnings. For derivative
instruments that hedge the exposure to variabiligxpected future cash flows that are designasezhah flow hedges, the effective portion of
the gain or loss on the derivative instrument goreed as a component of cumulative other compgherncome in stockholders’ equity and
reclassified into earnings in the same period oiopgs during which the hedged transaction affeatsiags. The ineffective portion of the gain
or loss on the derivative instrument is recognizecurrent earnings. To receive hedge accountegfnent, cash flow hedges must be highly
effective in offsetting changes to expected futtash flows on hedged transactions. For derivatiessgnated as cash flow hedges, changes in
the time value are excluded from the assessmeredife effectiveness and are recognized in earnings.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and cash equivalents, shertn
investments and accounts receivable. The Compdievbe that there is minimal credit risk associatétth the investment of its cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments, due teodbiictions placed on the type of investment tzet be entered into under the Company’s
investment policy. The Company'’s short-term investis consist of investment-grade securities, aacCttmpany’s cash and investments are
held and managed by recognized financial institigio

The Companys customers are primarily distributors as welletaiters and broadband service providers who selistribute the produc
to a large group of end-users. The Company mammtainallowance for doubtful accounts for estimdosdes resulting from the inability of the
Company’s customers to make required paymentsChmepany regularly performs credit evaluations ef @ompany’s customers’ financial
condition and considers factors such as histoggpérience, credit quality, age of the accountsivable balances, geographic or country-
specific risks and current economic conditions thay affect customersibility to pay, and, generally, requires no collatérom its customer:
The Company secures credit insurance for certatoouers in international markets.
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The Company is exposed to credit loss in the eskEnbnperformance by counterparties to the foreigmency forward contracts used to
mitigate the effect of foreign currency exchange hanges. The Company believes the counterpéotiés outstanding contracts are large,
financially sound institutions and thus, the Compdoes not anticipate nonperformance by these eopatties. However, given the recent,
unprecedented turbulence in the financial markbésfailure of additional counterparties is possibl

The following table summarizes the percentage ®Cbmpany’s total accounts receivable representediftomers with balances in
excess of 10% of its total accounts receivablef &ecember 31, 2009 and 2008.

December 31

2009 2008
Best Buy Co., Inc 26% 18%
Ingram Micro, Inc. 9% 12%

Fair value measurements

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiatrimeents, including cash equivalents, accountsivabée, and accounts payable
approximate their fair values due to their shorturities. Foreign currency forward contracts amorded at fair value based on observable
market data. See Note 13 of the Notes to Conselileinancial Statements for disclosures regardiirgzblue measurements in accordance
with the authoritative guidance for fair value ma&@snents and disclosures.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfubaots for estimated losses resulting from the iitglwf its customers to make
required payments. The Company regularly performaditevaluations of its customers’ financial cdiwhi and considers factors such as
historical experience, credit quality, age of theaunts receivable balances, and geographic ottigespecific risks and economic conditions
that may affect a customer’s ability to pay. ThHewance for doubtful accounts is reviewed monthiy adjusted if necessary based on the
Company’s assessments of its customers’ abilipatn If the financial condition of the Company’sstamers should deteriorate or if actual
defaults are higher than the Company’s historigpkeence, additional allowances may be requirdd¢civcould have an adverse impact on
operating expenses.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods elhiare valued at the lower of cost or market, wikt being determined using the first-
in, first-out method. The Company writes down itggntories based on estimated excess and obsoletetories determined primarily by
future demand forecasts. At the point of loss redam, a new, lower cost basis for that inventsrgstablished, and subsequent changes in
facts and circumstances do not result in the rastor or increase in that newly established cosisba

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicd| tess accumulated depreciation. Depreciatiomimsputed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assefollows:

Computer equipmet 2 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years

Software 2-5 years

Machinery and equipmel 2-3 years

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or 5 ye
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Recoverability of assets to be held and used isuored by comparing the carrying amount of an aestte estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to be generated bysbetalf the carrying amount of the asset excdsdsstimated undiscounted future net cash
flows, an impairment charge is recognized by thewm by which the carrying amount of the asset edsehe fair value of the asset. The
carrying value of the asset is reviewed on a redudais for the existence of facts, both intermal external, that may suggest impairment.
Charges related to the impairment of property andpgnent were not material in the years ended Deeerdl, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Goodwill

The Company performs an annual goodwill impairntest in the fourth quarter of each year. Shoulta@eevents or indicators of
impairment occur between annual impairment tesessCompany will perform the impairment test as ¢hegents or indicators occur. Examg
of such events or circumstances include the folgwa significant decline in the Compagsgxpected future cash flows; a sustained, sigamit
decline in the Company’s stock price and markettalipation; a significant adverse change in thsibess climate; the testing for
recoverability of a significant asset group; arahar growth rates. For purposes of impairmentrigsthe Company has determined that it has
only one reporting unit.

The goodwill impairment test involves a two-stepgess. In the first step, the Company estimate€dmpanys fair value and compar
the fair value with the carrying value of the Compa net assets. If the fair value is greater ttiencarrying value of the Compasyiet asset
then no impairment results. If the fair value issi¢han its carrying value, then the Company weeldorm the second step and determine the
fair value of the goodwill. In this second stepe timount of impairment is determined by compariregitplied fair value to the carrying value
of the goodwill in the same manner as if the Congpaas being acquired in a business combinationcipaly, the Company would allocate
the fair value to all of the Company’s assets datuillties, including any unrecognized intangibksats, in a hypothetical analysis that would
calculate the implied fair value of goodwill. Ifahimplied fair value of goodwill is less than tleeorded goodwill, an impairment charge would
be recorded to earnings in the Consolidated Statesnoé Operations.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compaaynpleted the annual impairment test of goodwillcémducting its impairment test, the
Company determined its fair value exceeded theyicayvalue of its net assets by approximately 6Ribgoodwill impairment loss was
recognized in the years ended December 31, 20@B, 20 2009.

Given the current economic environment and the tiaicdies regarding the impact on the Company’srimass, there can be no assurance
that the Company’s estimates and assumptions riegattte duration of the ongoing economic downtamthe period or strength of recovery,
made for purposes of the Company’s goodwill impainirtesting during the year ended December 31, 20l08rove to be accurate
predictions of the future. If the Company’s assuons regarding forecasted revenue or earningsaraahieved, the Company may be
required to record goodwill impairment chargesutufe periods, whether in connection with the Conyfmnext annual impairment testing in
the fourth quarter of 2010 or prior to that, if aych change constitutes a triggering event outsidee quarter from when the annual goodwill
impairment test is performed. It is not possibl¢éhéd time to determine if any such future impaintheharge would result or, if it does, whether
such charge would be material.

Long-lived assets

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives amerdized using the straight-line method over thévested economic lives of the assets,
which range from two to five years. Purchased igilale assets determined to have indefinite usefaslare not amortized. Long-lived assets,
including property and equipment and intangibleetsssare reviewed for impairment whenever eventhanges in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of such assets may not be ezable. Such conditions may include an economicndiorm or a change

60



Table of Contents

in the assessment of future operations. Deternainatf recoverability is based on an estimate ofiscwlinted future cash flows resulting from
the use of the asset and its eventual disposititine aggregate undiscounted cash flows are kess the carrying value of the assets, the
resulting impairment charge to be recorded is d¢ated based on the excess of the carrying valtleeofssets over the fair value of such assets
with the fair value determined based on an estimatiscounted future cash flows. Lofiged assets to be disposed of are reported dotier

of carrying amount or fair value less costs to.Sélle carrying value of the asset is reviewed oegalar basis for the existence of facts, both
internal and external, that may suggest impairment.

During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 208/& were no events or changes in circumstanegntiicated the carrying amount
of the Company'’s long-lived assets may not be ree from their undiscounted cash flows. Consetiyyehe Company did not perform an
impairment test or record an impairment of its ldngd assets during those periods.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, a key employee resjie for managing the asset group acquired imection with the Company’s 2006
acquisition of Skipjam Corp. departed the Compditne departure of this employee, along with the meeeonomic environment, resulted in
the Company’s decision to reduce efforts gearedaaketing the related products. As a result, them@any performed an impairment analysis
of these long-lived assets during the fourth quast®008. Based on the results of the analyses@bmpany recorded an impairment charge,
which was classified in cost of revenue in the @tidated Statements of Operations, of $458,008ényear ended December 31, 2008 for the
net carrying value of intangibles acquired in catima with the Company’s 2006 acquisition of Skipj&orp.

The Company will continue to evaluate the carryinfpe of its long-lived assets and if it determiirethe future that there is a potential
further impairment, the Company may be requiredttmrd additional charges to earnings which cofflecathe Company’s financial results.

Product warranties

The Company provides for estimated future warratygations at the time revenue is recognized. Company’s standard warranty
obligation to its direct customers generally pregdor a right of return of any product for a fidfund in the event that such product is not
merchantable or is found to be damaged or defechi/the time revenue is recognized, an estimafetofe warranty returns is recorded to
reduce revenue in the amount of the expected avedéfund to be provided to its direct customéitsthe time the Company records the
reduction to revenue related to warranty retutms Gompany includes within cost of revenue a wdit@ to reduce the carrying value of such
products to net realizable value. The Company'sdsted warranty obligation to its engsers provides for replacement of a defective profiu
one or more years. Factors that affect the warrabligation include product failure rates, matetishge, and service delivery costs incurred in
correcting product failures. The estimated cospeissed with fulfilling the Company’s warranty ofpition to end-users is recorded in cost of
revenue. Because the Companproducts are manufactured by third party manufacs, in certain cases the Company has recoutse tbird
party manufacturer for replacement or credit f& defective products. The Company gives considerati amounts recoverable from its third
party manufacturers in determining its warrantbility. Changes in the Company’s warranty liabilityhich is included as a component of
“Other accrued liabilities” in the consolidated &rate sheets, are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008

Balance as of beginning of the per $ 28,60 $ 27,55
Provision for warranty liability made during therjoal 43,08: 46,44¢
Warranty obligation assumed in acquisit — 82
Settlements made during the per (41,080 (45,48
Balance at end of peric $ 30,61( $ 28,60
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Revenue recognition

Revenue from product sales is generally recogrétéle time the product is shipped provided thasymesive evidence of an arrangement
exists, title and risk of loss has transferrechid¢ustomer, the selling price is fixed or deteable and collection of the related receivable is
reasonably assured. Currently, for some of the Gmy's customers, title passes to the customer dptivery to the port or country of
destination, upon their receipt of the productupon the customer’s resale of the product. At tiie@&f each fiscal quarter, the Company
estimates and defers revenue related to produateviitie has not transferred. The revenue continoid® deferred until such time that title
passes to the customer. The Company assessegatuligcbased on a number of factors, includingg@l economic and market conditions,
past transaction history with the customer, andcteditworthiness of the customer. If the Compaetedmines that collection of the fee is not
reasonably assured, then the Company defers trenteeecognizes revenue upon receipt of payment.

In addition to warranty-related returns, certaistiiibutors and retailers generally have the righteturn product for stock rotation
purposes. Every quarter, stock rotation rightsgareerally limited to 10% of invoiced sales to th&tributor or retailer in the prior quarter.
Upon shipment of the product, the Company redueesnue for an estimate of potential future produentranty and stock rotation returns
related to the current period product revenue. Mangent analyzes historical returns, channel invgr&vels, current economic trends and
changes in customer demand for the Company’s pteduen evaluating the adequacy of the allowancsdtes returns, namely warranty and
stock rotation returns. Revenue on shipments sralduced for estimated price protection and satentives deemed to be contra-revenue
under the authoritative guidance for revenue reitiogn

Sales incentives

The Company accrues for sales incentives as a tiregkexpense if it receives an identifiable benifiexchange and can reasonably
estimate the fair value of the identifiable benediteived; otherwise, it is recorded as a redudbarevenues. As a consequence, the Company
records a substantial portion of its channel mamgetosts as a reduction of revenue.

The Company records estimated reductions to rewefuesales incentives at the later of when thateel revenue is recognized or when
the program is offered to the customer or end coesu

Shipping and handling fees and costs

The Company includes shipping and handling fededib customers in net revenue. Shipping and lagdbsts associated with inbot
freight are included in cost of revenue. In cashen the Company gives a freight allowance to ttstaener for their own inbound freight
costs, such costs are appropriately recorded eduection in net revenue. Shipping and handlingscassociated with outbound freight are
included in sales and marketing expenses and to$dl&.0 million, $12.5 million and $11.6 million the years ended December 31, 2009,
and 2007 respectively.

Research and development
Costs incurred in the research and developmentwfproducts are charged to expense as incurred.

Technology license arrangements

The Company expenses the licensing of softwarentdobies intended to be integrated into certaioriproducts if those products have
not yet reached technological feasibility and iherised software does not have alternative futsee u
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During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyngiatered into a $2.5 million arrangement to lieeasrtain software technologies
that the Company may integrate into certain fupraducts. The Company has not yet establishecettieblogical feasibility of these produc
and does not believe the software has an altemftiure use. In this situation, the authoritatiugdance for software states that the cost of
software purchased to be integrated with prodinashave not yet reached technological feasikdlitg do not have an alternative use should
not be expensed. As such, the Company has expémsedtire technology license arrangement amoui2 & million in the year ended
December 31, 2009.

Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Tdiadrising and promotional expenses were $14.4anil$17.0 million and $17.4
million in the years ended December 31, 2009, 20682007, respectively.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under an asddiability approach. Under this method, incaiae expense is recognized for
the amount of taxes payable or refundable for threeat year. In addition, deferred tax assets &iudlities are recognized for the expected
future tax consequences of temporary differencaglting from different treatment for tax versus @aating for certain items, such as accruals
and allowances not currently deductible for taxposes. These differences result in deferred teet@issd liabilities, which are included within
the consolidated balance sheet. The Company mastassess the likelihood that the Company’s defdeve assets will be recovered from
future taxable income and to the extent the Competigves that recovery is not more likely than, tio¢ Company must establish a valuation
allowance.

As discussed in Note 8, effective January 1, 268¥ Company adopted authoritative guidance for aatiog for uncertain income tax
positions. In the ordinary course of business tleneherent uncertainty in assessing the Compangtame tax positions. The Company
assesses its tax positions and records benefitdlfpears subject to examination based on managgsrevaluation of the facts, circumstances
and information available at the reporting date. those tax positions where it is more likely theot that a tax benefit will be sustained, the
Company records the largest amount of tax bendtfit avgreater than 50 percent likelihood of beiaglized upon ultimate settlement with a
taxing authority that has full knowledge of alleehnt information. For those income tax positiomee it is not more likely than not that a tax
benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit has beeorded in the financial statements. Where applicassociated interest and penalties have
also been recognized as a component of incomexfzense.

Computation of net income per share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividietgincome by the weighted average number of conshares outstanding for the
period. Diluted net income per share reflects ttditeonal dilution from potential issuances of coomrstock, such as stock issuable pursua
the exercise of stock options and awards. Potgntdutive shares are excluded from the computatibdiluted net income per share when
their effect is anti-dilutive.

Stock-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopteddinealue recognition provisions of the updatethattative guidance for stock
compensation, using the modified prospective ttemmsimethod. Under this transition method, stockdshcompensation expense for the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 includepamsation expense for all stock-based compensatiands granted prior to, but not yet
vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the granfailavalue estimated in accordance with theipaigprovisions of the authoritative guidar
for stock compensation. Stock-based compensatiparese for all stock-based compensation awardsegtamt or after January 1, 2006 is
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
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accordance with the provisions of the updated aiitftiive guidance for stock compensation. The Vadmaprovisions also apply to grants that
are modified after January 1, 2006. The Companggeizes these compensation costs on a straighbdiais over the requisite service period
of the award, which is generally the option vestieign of four years. The Company will recognizeeaness benefit from stock-based
compensation in equity based on the difference éetviax expense computed with consideration ofvihdfall deduction and without
consideration of the windfall deduction. In additighe Company accounts for the indirect effectsto€k-based compensation on the research
tax credit and the foreign tax credit in the incostegement. See Note 10 of the Notes to Consotidéiteancial Statements for a further
discussion on stock-based compensation.

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income consists of net income aner gins and losses affecting stockholder’s eghiy the Company excluded from
net income, including gains and losses relateditovhlue of short-term investments and the eféectiortion of cash flow hedges that were
outstanding as of the end of the year.

Foreign currency translation

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. ddita all of its international subsidiaries. Fonmeigurrency transactions of international
subsidiaries are re-measured into U.S. dollarseathd-of-period exchange rates for monetary aaset$iabilities, and historical exchange
rates for non-monetary assets. Expenses are redmeéaat average exchange rates in effect durinlg paicod, except for expenses related to
non-monetary assets, which are re-measured atibatexchange rates. Revenue isweasured at average exchange rates in effect desich
period. Gains and losses arising from foreign awydaransactions are included in total comprehengizome and were a net gain of $954,000
for the year ended December 31, 2009, a net [0$3.@fmillion for the year ended December 31, 2@08| a net gain of $3.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 20

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2007, the FASB issued an update tautieoritative guidance for business combinatiortsanamendment to the
authoritative guidance for consolidation. The updatthe authoritative guidance for business coatlwns will have a material impact on
future business combinations by the Company astafdishes principles and requirements for howGbmpany: (1) recognizes and measures
in its financial statements the identifiable assetguired, the liabilities assumed, and any nomodlimg interest in the acquiree; (2) recognizes
and measures the goodwill acquired in the busicesbination or a gain from a bargain purchase;(@8hdetermines what information to
disclose to enable users of the financial statesenevaluate the nature and financial effectheftusiness combination. The update to the
authoritative guidance for business combinatioqsiires contingent consideration to be recognizets éir value on the acquisition date and
the recognition of in-process research and devedopms an indefinitéved intangible asset until the development is ptate, after which tim
the related capitalized costs would be amortizest tive expected useful life. If the in-process aesle and development is subsequently
abandoned prior to completion, the associated al&g®t costs would be expensed in such period.upldate to the authoritative guidance for
business combinations also requires acquisitigated transaction and restructuring costs toxperesed rather than treated as part of the ci
the acquisition. The amendment to the authoritajivilance for consolidation will change the accoghaind reporting for minority interests,
which will be re-characterized as non-controllingerests and classified as a component of equdth Bpdates are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008. The Companytaddpoth updates on January 1, 2009. The Compdhgssess the impact of the update
to the authoritative guidance for business comimnatif and when future acquisitions occur. Themam of the amendment to the
authoritative guidance for consolidation did notdna material impact on the Compasigonsolidated financial position, results of ogierss o
cash flows.

In March 2008, the FASB issued additional authtivitkaguidance for derivatives and hedging. The t@daquires companies with
derivative instruments to disclose information thiaduld enable financial-statement
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users to understand how and why a company usestiee instruments, how derivative instruments egldted hedged items are accounted for
under the authoritative guidance for derivatived Badging and how derivative instruments and rdlasxiged items affect a company’s
financial position, financial performance and céletvs. The Company adopted this update in the §jestrter of fiscal 2009. Since this update
only required additional disclosure, the adopti@hrtbt impact the Company’s consolidated finanpidition, results of operations or cash
flows.

In April 2008, the FASB issued additional authdrita guidance for intangibles, which amends thédiacan entity should consider in
developing renewal or extension assumptions usddtermining the useful life of recognized intarigiassets under the authoritative guida
This new guidance applies prospectively to intalegitssets that are acquired individually or witiraup of other assets in business
combinations and asset acquisitions. The Compaagtad this update in the first quarter of fiscad20The adoption did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial {imsj results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2008, the FASB issued additional authivi#aguidance for earnings per share, which addsesbether unvested instruments
granted in share-based payment transactions théinanon-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividkeequivalents are participating securities
subject to the two-class method of computing eaier share under the authoritative guidancedoriegs per share. The Company adopted
this update in the first quarter of fiscal 2009isTadoption did not result in a change in the Comypmearnings per share or diluted earnings
share.

In September 2008, the FASB issued additional ait#tive guidance for derivatives and hedging additgonal authoritative guidance
for guarantees. These updates amend the authegitatidance for derivatives and hedging to reqdiselosures by sellers of credit derivativ
including credit derivatives embedded in hybridinments. The additional authoritative guidancedioarantees requires additional disclosure
about the current status of the payment/performaskef a guarantee. The provisions of the add#l@uthoritative guidance for derivatives
and hedging and the authoritative guidance forantaes were effective in the first quarter of fi209. These updates also clarify the
effective date for the additional authoritativedpnce for derivatives and hedging issued in Maf}82The Company adopted the disclosures
required by the additional authoritative guidanmederivatives and hedging issued in March 200@éfirst quarter of fiscal 2009. Since these
updates only required additional disclosures, tapton did not impact the Company’s consolidaiedricial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In April 2009, the FASB issued additional authdiita guidance for fair value measurements and alisecks, which requires disclosures
about fair value of financial instruments for intereporting periods as well as in annual finanstatements. This update also requires those
disclosures in summarized financial informationérim reporting periods. This update requires #maentity disclose in the body or in the
accompanying notes of its financial information faie value of all financial instruments for whidhis practicable to estimate that value,
whether recognized or not recognized in the stat¢migfinancial position, as required by the auitadive guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures. In addition, aryesitéll also disclose the method(s) and signifieessumptions used to estimate the fair value
of financial instruments. The Company adopted ttowigions of this update in the second quarteisafaf 2009. This update does not require
disclosures for earlier periods presented for coatpae purposes at initial adoption. In periodeafhitial adoption, comparative disclosures
are required but only for periods ending afteri@iadoption. Since this update only required addél disclosures, the adoption did not impact
the Company’s consolidated financial position, hesof operations or cash flows.

The FASBS additional authoritative guidance for fair valneasurements and disclosures in April 2009 alswiged additional guidanc
for estimating fair value in accordance with thédgmce for fair value measurements and disclosuhes the volume and level of activity for
the asset or liability have significantly decreasBuke additional guidance also includes guidancilentifying circumstances that indicate a
transaction is not orderly. This update does ngtire disclosures for earlier periods presenteatéonparative
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purposes at initial adoption. In periods afteriaiadoption, comparative disclosures are requingtconly for periods ending after initial
adoption. The Company adopted the provisions o&tdtional guidance in the second quarter of fi2689. The adoption did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated fam@rposition, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2009, the FASB issued additional authdrita guidance for investments in debt and equitusées. This update establishes a
new method of recognizing and reporting other-ttemporary impairments of debt securities, as weli@ntains additional disclosure
requirements related to debt and equity securifiee.additional guidance is effective in the secfischl quarter of 2009. The Company
adopted the provisions of the additional guidamctné second quarter of fiscal 2009. The adoptidmdt have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial position, resafteperations or cash flows.

In April 2009, the FASB issued additional authdrita guidance for business combinations. The aaltfii guidance addresses applica
issues on initial recognition and measurement, esgbsnt measurement and accounting, and disclo$assets and liabilities arising from
contingencies in a business combination. The Compdopted this additional guidance in the firstrtgreof fiscal 2009. The Company will
assess the impact of the additional guidance ifvaimeh future acquisitions occur.

In May 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidaficesubsequent events, which establishes genaradards of accounting for and
disclosure of events that occur after the balaheetsdate but before financial statements are dssuare available to be issued. This guidance
sets forth the circumstances under which an eslibuld recognize events or transactions occurffteg the balance sheet date in its financial
statements. The Company adopted the provisions®ftidance, which became effective for interind annual reporting periods ending after
June 15, 2009. Other than our acquisition of Leatfiidrks, LLC (see Note 15 of the Notes to Consediddinancial Statements), no material
subsequent events have occurred since Decemb2039 that required recognition or additional discle in the Company’s current period
financial statements.

In August 2009, the FASB issued additional guiddiocdair value measurements and disclosures teigeoguidance on the fair value
measurement of liabilities. The Company adoptesl @kiditional guidance in the fourth fiscal quade2009. The adoption did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated famarposition, results of operations, or cash flows

In October 2009, the FASB issued additional guigsfioc revenue recognition on arrangements with iplalelements. The guidance
eliminates the residual method of revenue recagmigind allows the use of management’s best estiofiatelling price for individual elements
of an arrangement when vendor specific objectivdence (“VSOE”), vendor objective evidence (“VOE) third-party evidence (“TPE”") is
unavailable. Under the guidance, reoftware components of tangible products and cesaitware components of tangible products have
removed from the scope of existing software revargegnition guidance and will be recognized inamner similar for other tangible
products. This guidance should be applied on apeis/e basis for revenue arrangements enteredimtuaterially modified in fiscal years
beginning on or after June 15, 2010, with earlypido permitted. Full retrospective applicationtloé guidance is optional. The Company
plans to early adopt in the first quarter of 2048d does not anticipate that the adoption will haweaterial impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of openasi, or cash flows based on current business pescti

Note 2—Business Acquisitions:
CP Secure International Holding Limited

On December 18, 2008, the Company completed tha@sitign of certain intellectual property and otlesets of CP Secure International
Holding Limited (“CP Secure”), a privately-held pider of integrated network security solutions. Hoguisition qualified as a business
acquisition and has been accounted for using thehpge method of accounting. The Company incorpdr@P Secure’s integrated platform
into the Company’s
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products to provide organizations with enhancedeaatin for their network, web access and emadidfitralhe aggregate purchase price was
$14 million, paid in cash. Additionally, the acqtitn agreement specified that CP Secure sharet®iday receive a total additional payout of
up to $3.5 million in cash over the five yearsdaling closure of the acquisition if developed prodipass certain acceptance criteria. This
additional payout was earned and paid in the yede@ December 31, 2009, and was accounted forditsomeal purchase price and recordec

a $3.5 million increase to goodwill.

The results of CP Secure’s operations have bedudied in the consolidated financial statementsesthe date of acquisition. The
historical results of operations of CP Secure piaahe acquisition were not material to the Conyfmresults of operations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemmilsct a purchase price of approximately $14.8iom) consisting of cash, and other
costs directly related to the acquisition as folaiim thousands):

Purchase pric $14,00(
Direct acquisition cost 63t
Total consideratiol $14,63:

In accordance with the purchase method of accogyntive Company allocated the total purchase poicartgible assets, liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets based on their estioh fair values. Purchased intangibles are aneartin a straight-line basis over their
respective estimated useful lives. Goodwill wasrded based on the residual purchase price afterating the purchase price to the fair
market value of tangible and intangible assets isedUess liabilities assumed. Goodwill arises assallt of, among other factors, future
unidentified new products and new technologies @t as the implicit value of future cost savingsaagsult of the combining of entities. The
allocation of the purchase price in December 2088 as follows (in thousands):

Inventories 82
Property and equipment, r 49
Intangibles, ne 3,90(
Goodwill 10,68¢
Other accrued liabilitie (82

Total purchase price allocati $14,63¢

Of the $10.7 million of goodwill recorded on thegagsition of CP Secure, $4.5 million and $10.7 ioillis deductible for federal and
state income tax purposes, respectively. Of thg 88llion additional payout recorded as goodwiltire year ended December 31, 2009, $1.7
million and $3.5 million is deductible for fedelahd state income tax purposes, respectively.

A total of $1.8 million of the $3.9 million in acged intangible assets was designated as in-praesssrch and development. In-process
research and development was expensed upon amqulsitcause technological feasibility had not bestablished and no future alternative
uses existed. The Company acquired two in-proeasesarch and development projects, which involvedwgments to threat management
characteristics of future products. These two mtsjeequired further research and developmenttiriaéne technical feasibility and
commercial viability. The fair value assigned tepirocess research and development was determingglthe income approach, under which
the Company considered the importance of produtdemdevelopment to the Company’s overall develagmkans, estimated the costs to
develop the purchased in-process research andogenent into commercially viable products, estimdteriresulting net cash flows from the
products when completed and discounted the netftash to their present values. The Company usga% discount rate in the present value
calculations, which was derived from a weightedrage cost of capital analysis, adjusted to refigictitional risks related to the products’
development and success as well as the
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products’ stage of completion. The estimates usegluing in-process research and development based upon assumptions believed to be
reasonable but which are inherently uncertain argtedictable. These assumptions may be incomptéteocurate, and unanticipated events
and circumstances may occur. Accordingly, actusllte may vary from the projected results. The Camypincurred costs of approximately
$1.2 million to complete the projects, of which eppmately $120,000 was incurred during the yeateehDecember 31, 2008 and an
additional $1.1 million was incurred during the yeaded December 31, 2009. The Company completegaject in the beginning of the y
ended December 31, 2009 and the final projecteaétid of the year ended December 31, 2009.

A total of $1.2 million of the $3.9 million in acged intangible assets was designated as exigtttgiblogy. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estinwgsk flows derived from projections of future rewerattributable to existing technology. This
$1.2 million is being amortized over its estimatseful life of three years.

A total of $900,000 of the $3.9 million in acquiredangible assets was designated as core techndlbg value was calculated based on
the present value of the future estimated cashsflderived from estimated royalty savings attriblgab the core technology. This $900,000 is
being amortized over its estimated useful lifeieé fyears.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynpaatle an additional $3.5 million payment in cortimerwith the Company 200¢
acquisition of CP Secure in connection with thei@adment of certain product acceptance criterids Tésulted in an increase in goodwill of
$3.5 million.

Infrant Technologies, Inc.

On May 16, 2007, the Company completed the acipnsiif 100% of the outstanding shares of Infranthrelogies, Inc. (“Infrant”), a
developer of network attached storage products.Gdrapany believes the acquisition will accelerage@ompany’s participation in the
expanding market for network attached storage.aggegate purchase price was $60 million, paigshcUnder the terms of the acquisition
agreement, Infrant shareholders may receive aadtitional payout of up to $20 million in cash otkee three years following closure of the
acquisition if specific revenue targets are reachb&d/hich $10 million was paid in November 2008Idkionally, the Company has accrued
$113,000 for compensation expense related to ttenslepotential payout in the three months endecebber 31, 2009. Any additional payout
will primarily be accounted for as additional puask price and will be recorded as an increaseddwitl.

The results of Infrant’s operations have been ietlin the consolidated financial statements sihealate of acquisition. The historical
results of Infrant prior to the acquisition werd nmaterial to the Company’s results of operations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemilsct an initial purchase price of approximat®§0.3 million, consisting of cash,
and other costs directly related to the acquisiéistiollows (in thousands):

Purchase pric $60,00(
Direct acquisition cost 254
Total consideratiol $60,25¢

In accordance with the purchase method of accogntive Company allocated the total purchase poicartgible assets, liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets based on their estioh fair values. Goodwill was recorded based erréBidual purchase price after allocating
purchase price to the fair market value of tang#sid intangible assets acquired less liabilitissiamed. Purchased intangibles are amortized on
a straight-line basis over their respective estaiseful lives. Goodwill arises as a result ofpagiother factors, future
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unidentified new products and new technologies @t as the implicit value of future cost savingsaagsult of the combining of entities. The
total allocation of the purchase price in 2007 as$ollows (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalel $ 2,78
Accounts receivabl 1,202
Inventories 3,50¢
Deferred income taxe 667
Prepaid expenses and other current a 36
Property and equipme 12¢
Intangibles 22,70(
Goodwill 38,18¢
Accounts payabl (697)
Accrued employee compensati (39¢6)
Other accrued liabilitie (2,04¢)
Deferred income tax liabilit (6,819

Total purchase price allocati $60,25¢

None of the goodwill recognized related to Infrandleductible for income tax purposes.

A total of $4.1 million of the $22.7 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as in-pagesgarch and developmentpioces
research and development was expensed upon amulsitcause technological feasibility has not bestablished and no future alternative
uses exist. The Company acquired threprivcess research and development projects. Twegisojnvolve development of new products in
ReadyNAS desktop product category, and one prajeotves development of a higher end version ofadpct currently selling in the
ReadyNAS rack mount product category. These threiegts required further research and developntedéetermine technical feasibility and
commercial viability. The fair value assigned tepirocess research and development was determiiegithe income approach, under which
the Company considered the importance of produtdendevelopment to the Company’s overall develagmpkans, estimated the costs to
develop the purchased in-process research andogeneht into commercially viable products, estimatetiresulting net cash flows from the
products when completed and discounted the netftash to their present values. The Company usedadint rates ranging from 36% to 38%
in the present value calculations, which was derivem a weighted-average cost of capital analysigjsted to reflect additional risks related
to the products’ development and success as wélleagroducts’ stage of completion. The estimagesiun valuing in-process research and
development were based upon assumptions believael teasonable but which are inherently uncertathumpredictable. These assumptions
may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipatests and circumstances may occur. Accordinglyshcesults may vary from the
projected results. The Company incurred costs pfagmately $1.6 million to complete the projea$which approximately $1.4 million was
incurred during the year ended December 31, 208&aradditional $200,000 was incurred during ther ysmded December 31, 2009. The
Company completed two projects in the middle ofytbar ended December 31, 2008 and the final projette middle of the year ended
December 31, 2009.

A total of $10.8 million of the $22.7 million in gaired intangible assets was designated as exigaimology. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estintsl flows derived from projections of future rewvemttributable to existing technology. This
$10.8 million is being amortized over its estimateséful life of four years.

A total of $5.2 million of the $22.7 million in aoged intangible assets was designated as coradtagy. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estinwgek flows derived from estimated royalty savingysbaitable to the core technology. This
$5.2 million is being amortized over its estimatseful life of four years.
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A total of $2.6 million of the $22.7 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as trademniHhk value was calculated based on
the present value of the future estimated cashsflderived from estimated royalty savings attriblgab use of the trademarks. This $2.6
million is being amortized over its estimated u$éfa of six years.

In November 2008, the Company made an addition@lriillion payment in connection with the Compan007 acquisition of Infrant
connection with the achievement of certain revamangets. This resulted in an increase in goodwi$&7 million, the recognition of
compensation expense of $650,000, and a reductitaxes payable of $620,000. Additionally, in Debem2009 the Company has accrued
$113,000 for compensation expense related to ttensepotential payout.

Note 3—Balance Sheet Components (in thousands):
Available-for-sale short-term investments consisttioe following:

December 31,
2009 2008
Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gain Fair Value Cost Gain Fair Value
U.S. Treasury bills and not: $74,89: $ 6 $74,89¢ $10,06: $ 10¢ $10,17(
Accounts receivable and related allowances conefghe following:
December 31,
2009 2008
(In thousands)
Gross accounts receivat $178,43( $153,33:
Less: Allowance for doubtful accoun (2,039 (1,919
Allowance for sales returr (11,999 (9,710
Allowance for price protectio (1,545 (3,430
Total allowance: (15,577) (15,059
Accounts receivable, n $162,85: $138,27!
Inventories consist of the following:
December 31
2009 2008
(In thousands)
Raw material $ 1,15( $ 63¢
Finished good 89,44( 111,60:
Total $90,59( $112,24(
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Property and equipment, net, consists of the follog:

December 31

2009 2008
Computer equipmet $ 5,08¢ $ 6,101
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improveme 8,43¢ 8,73¢
Software 17,954 18,08:
Machinery 11,54¢ 8,92:
Construction in progres 41F 15¢
43,43; 41,99¢

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (26,546 (21,707
$ 16,89: $ 20,29:

Depreciation and amortization expense pertainingdperty and equipment in 2009, 2008 and 2007%8¥a3 million, $6.3 million and
$5.3 million, respectively.

Goodwill
Activity related to goodwill consisted of the foklking:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008
Balance as of beginning of the per $ 61,40( $ 41,98t
Additions related to ea-out payment: 3,50( 8,72¢
Net additions related to acquisitio 8 10,68¢
Balance at end of peric $ 64,90¢ $ 61,40(

During 2009, the Company recorded $3.5 million obgdwill associated with a $3.5 million eapmt payment made in connection with
Company’s 2008 acquisition of CP Secure (see Natkete Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemefitsy Company also recorded an
additional $39,000 of goodwill associated with aideial acquisition costs related to the Compan@8&acquisition of CP Secure, and
recorded a $31,000 reduction in goodwill associatithd the Company’s 2007 acquisition of Infrant.
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Intangibles, net, consist of the following:

Weighted
Average
December 31 December 31 December 31 Amortization
Amortization
2008 2008 2009 Period
Cost Net Additions Expense Net (Years)
Core technolog $ 710 $ 393 $ — $ 148 $ 245: 1.0¢€
Existing technolog! 12,00( 7,50( — 3,10(¢ 4,40( 0.7:
Trademarks 2,60( 1,87¢ — 433 1,44t 1.67
Non-compete agreemer 10C — — — — —
Total intangible asse $ 2180 $ 13311 $ — $ 501 $ 8,29¢ 0.9¢
Weighted
Average
December 31 December 31 December 31 Amortization
Amortization Impairment
2007 2007 2008 Period
Cost Net Additions Expense Charge Net (Years)
Core technolog' $ 620 $ 497¢ $ 90C $ 148 $ 456 $ 3,93t 1.47
Existing technolog 10,80( 9,00( 1,20¢ 2,70C — 7,50( 1.2z
Trademarks 2,60( 2,311 — 432 — 1,87¢ 2.17
Non-compete agreemer 10C 29 — 29 — — —
Total intangible asse $ 19,70 $ 16,31¢ $210C $ 465 $ 456 $ 13,31 1.4¢

Amortization expense related to intangibles in 28 and 2007 was $5.0 million, $4.7 million, &&13 million, respectively.

In 2008 the Company recorded an impairment chaitfénicost of revenue in the Consolidated StatesmehOperations of $458,000 for
the net carrying value of intangibles acquired githe Company’s 2006 acquisition of Skipjam Cétpcoverability was assessed based on
undiscounted estimated future net cash flows, hadnmpairment charge was based on fair value wisgpunted cash flows. No such
impairment charges were recorded in 2009 or ing/peor to 2007.

Estimated amortization expense related to intaagifdr each of the next five years and thereadtasifollows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31

2010 $5,01:
2011 2,34]
2012 612
2013 32t
Total expected amortization exper $8,29¢

Other non-current assets consist of the following:

December 31,

2009 2008
(In thousands)
Non-current deferred income tax 4,667 —
Other 3,63¢ 1,85¢
Other nol-current assel $8,29¢ $1,85¢
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Other accrued liabilities consist of the following:

December 31

2009 2008
(In thousands)
Sales and marketing progral $30,76" $33,58¢
Warranty obligatior 30,61( 28,60
Freight 6,95¢ 3,54¢
Other 19,55¢ 22,01(
Other accrued liabilitie $87,89: $87,74

Note 4—Restructuring:

The Company accounts for its restructuring plardeuhe authoritative guidance for exit or disp@salvities. The Company presents
expenses related to restructuring as a separatédim in its Consolidated Statements of Operations

In July 2008, the Company ceased using buildingsdd in Santa Clara and Fremont, California, andalaated all personnel and
operations from those locations to its new corgohetadquarters in San Jose, California. The Comipétiglly expected to sublease the
majority of this space through the end of the ofiegdeases, the longest of which extends to Deezr@b10. However, in the three months
ended June 28, 2009, a sub-lessee ceased makimgpisy and the Company does not expect to finplagement sultessee for the defaultir
sub-lessee during the remaining term of the le&dditionally, in the three months ended SeptemiFe2B09, the Company agreed to reduce
the monthly facility maintenance fees owed to tlwenPany by the sub-lessee. As a result of thesagvitie Company increased its accrual for
restructuring charges by $702,000 in the year efismember 31, 2009 to reflect the decrease in aablsncome through the remaining terr
the lease. In total, the Company recognized $8@9i0@xpenses related to future lease paymentseondcated facilities in the year ended
December 31, 2009.

The following is a summary of the accrued restringicharges related to ceasing use of certairlimgs:

Accrued
Restructuring

Accrued
Restructuring

Charges at Adjustment Ongoing Charges at
December 31 Present December 31
to Accrual Exit Value Cash
2008 Recognitior Expense Accretion Payments 2009
(In thousands)
Abandonment of excess leased facili $ 354 $ 70z $ 50 $ 57 $ (647) $ 51€
Current portior $ 264 $ 51¢€
Long-term portion $ 90 $ —
Accrued Accrued
Restructuring Restructuring
Adjustment
Charges at Ongoing Charges at
December 31 Initial to Initial Present December 31
Accrual Accrual Exit Value Cash
2007 Recognitior Recoghnition Expense Accretion Payment: 2008
(In thousands)
Abandonment of excess leased

facilities $ — $  95¢ $ (2 $ 12 $ 18 $ (610 $ 354
Current portior $ — $ 264
Long-term portion $ — $ 9C

Additionally, on November 12, 2008, the Companyri@ated the employment of approximately 35 indialdu The Company recogniz
$965,000 in expenses related to this restructunirige year ended
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December 31, 2008, of which $94,000 was accru¢ieryear ended December 31, 2008 and paid in thweeyeled December 31, 2009.

Note 5—Derivative Financial Instruments:

The Company’s subsidiaries have had and will catito have material future cash flows, includingeraue and expenses, that are
denominated in currencies other than the Compduopational currency. The Company and all its suiasids designate the U.S. dollar as the
functional currency. Changes in exchange ratesdmtwhe Company'’s functional currency and otherecwies in which the Company
transacts will cause fluctuations in cash flow etpgons and cash flow realized or settled. Acamglyi, the Company uses derivatives to
mitigate its business exposure to foreign exchaislfe The Company enters into foreign currency famdvcontracts in Australian dollars,
British pounds, euros, and Japanese yen to mahagexposures to foreign exchange risk related peeed future cash flows on certain
forecasted revenue, costs of revenue, operatingnsgs, and on certain existing assets and liglsiliiihe Company does not enter into
derivatives transactions for trading or speculagiueposes.

Cash flow hedges

To help manage the exposure of gross and opernaiamgins to fluctuations in foreign currency exchangtes, the Company hedges a
portion of its anticipated foreign currency revenc@sts of revenue, and certain operating expefi$ese hedges are designated at the
inception of the hedge relationship as cash flodgles under the authoritative guidance for deriestiand hedging. Effectiveness is tested at
least quarterly both prospectively and retrospetfiusing regression analysis to ensure that tlgéneelationship has been effective and is
likely to remain effective in the future. The Compaypically hedges portions of its anticipatedeign currency exposure for three to six
months. The Company enters into about six forwardracts per quarter with an average size of abéunillion USD equivalent related to its
cash flow hedge program.

The Company expects to reclass to earnings afle&mounts recorded in other comprehensive incasecated with its cash flow
hedges over the next 12 months. Other compreheimsivene associated with cash flow hedges of foreigmency revenue is recognized as a
component of net revenue in the same period aethged revenue is recognized. Other compreheimsizene associated with cash flow
hedges of foreign currency costs of revenue andatipg expenses are recognized as a componensbétmevenue and operating expense in
the same period as the costs of revenue and apgeatpenses are recognized, respectively.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow éedgust be de-designated as hedges when it istpeothe forecasted hedged
transaction will not occur within the designatedidgpe period or if not recognized within 60 daysdualing the end of the hedge period. Defel
gains and losses in other comprehensive incomeiassd with such derivative instruments are redigssimmediately into earnings through
other income and expense. Any subsequent chandais iralue of such derivative instruments alsorafected in current earnings unless they
are re-designated as hedges of other transaclibesCompany did not enter into any cash flow hedgéise year ended December 31, 2008.
The Company did not recognize any material netgyaifosses related to the loss of hedge designatiaiscontinued cash flow hedges du
the year ended December 31, 2009 and DecembefB8, &spectively.

Non-designated hedges

The Company enters into non-designated hedges timel@uthoritative guidance for derivatives andgiegl to manage the exposure of
non-functional currency monetary assets and ligslineld on its financial statements to fluctuagian foreign currency exchange rates, as well
as to reduce volatility in other income and expefi$® non-designated hedges are generally expertetset the changes in value of its net
non-functional currency asset and liability positi@sulting from foreign exchange rate fluctuatidasreign currency denominated accounts
receivable and payable are hedged with non-desidriedges when the related
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anticipated foreign revenue and expenses are remagim the Company’s financial statements. The @amy also hedges certain non-
functional currency monetary assets and liabilitigssch may not be incorporated into the cash fl@ade program. The Company adjusts its
non-designated hedges monthly and enters into almouton-designated derivatives per month. Theagesize of its non-designated hedges
is about $3 million USD equivalent and these hedgrge from one to five months in duration.

The Company may choose not to hedge certain fomighange exposures for a variety of reasons,dirg) but not limited to,
immateriality, accounting considerations, and tt@hjbitive economic cost of hedging particular espees. There can be no assurance the
hedges will offset more than a portion of the ficahimpact resulting from movements in foreign leaaege rates. The Company’s accounting
policies for these instruments are based on whdéfleeinstruments are designated as hedge or nagehestruments in accordance with the
authoritative guidance for derivatives and hedgirfge Company records all derivatives on the balaheet at fair value. The effective porti
of cash flow hedges are recorded in other compsaheincome until the hedged item is recognizedamings. Derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments and the inefeeptirtions of its designated hedges are adjustéartvalue through earnings in “Other

income (expense), net.”

The Company'’s foreign currency forward contractsidbcontain any credit-risk-related contingentdieas. The Company is exposed to
credit losses in the event of nonperformance byctunter-parties of its forward contracts. The Campenters into derivative contracts with
high-quality financial institutions. In additiorhe derivative contracts are limited to a time p&b less than six months and the Company
continuously evaluates the credit standing ofdisnter-party financial institutions. The countertjis to these arrangements are large highly
rated financial institutions and the Company dostsconsider non-performance a material risk.

The fair values of the Company’s derivative insteums and the line items on the Consolidated Bal&teets to which they were
recorded as of December 31, 2009 and Decembel0B8B, &e summarized as follows:

Derivative Assets

Derivative assets not designatec
hedging instrument

Derivative assets designated as hed
instruments

Total

Derivative Liabilities

Derivative liabilities not designated
hedging instrument
Derivative liabilities designated as
hedging instrument
Total

Balance
Sheet
Location

Prepaid expenses and of
current assel
Prepaid expenses and of
current assel

Balance
Sheet
Location

Other accrued liabilitie

Other accrued liabilitie
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Fair Value at Fair Value at
December 31 Balance December 31
Sheet
2009 Location 2008
(In thousands)
Prepaid expenses and ot
$ 1,32¢ current assel $ 1,49¢
Prepaid expenses and otl
— current assel —
$ 1,32¢ $ 1,49
Fair Value at Fair Value at
December 31 Balance December 31
Sheet
2009 Location 2008
(In thousands)
$ (347) Other accrued liabilitie $ (3,279
(€] Other accrued liabilitie —
$ 34¢€ $ (3,279
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For details of the Company’s fair value measuresigriease see Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidétethcial Statements.

Amount of Gains or Amount of Gains or
(Losses) Recognized (Losses) Recognized
Location of Gains or (Losses) Income on Derivative Income on Derivative
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Recognized in Income on Year ended Year ended
Instruments Derivative December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
(In thousands)
Foreign currency forward contrac Other income (expense), $ (997) $ 1,16¢

The effects of the Compars/terivative instruments on other comprehensiveriteand the Consolidated Statement of Operatiarthé
year ended December 31, 2009 are summarized as/f

Derivatives Designated as

Hedging Instruments Year ended December 31, 2009
Gain or
(Loss)
Gain or (Loss, Reclassifiec
Location of Gain Location of Gain or (Loss, Amount of Gain or
Recognized ir or (Loss) from OCI (Loss) Recognized i
Reclassified from into Recognized in Income an
OCI-Effective OCl into Income- Income and
Income-Effective Effective Excluded from Excluded from
Portion (a) Portion Portion (a) Effectiveness Testing Effectiveness Testin

(In thousands)
Cash flow hedges

Foreign currency forward contrac $ (49¢9) Net revenug $ (707) Other income (expense), $ (85)

Foreign currency forward contrac — Cost of revenu 15 Other income (expense), —

Foreign currency forward contrac — Operating expens 173 Other income (expense), —
Total $ (499) $ (519 $ 85)

(@) Refer to Note 14, which summarizes the activitptimer comprehensive income related to derivati
The Company did not have any derivatives designasdubdging instruments in the year ended DeceBihe2008.

The Company did not recognize any net gain orflelsged to the ineffective portion of cash flow ged during the year ended
December 31, 2009 or 2008.

Note 6—Net Income Per Share:

Basic net income per share is computed by divittiegnet income for the period by the weighted ayersumber of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net incoree ghare is computed by dividing the net incometerperiod by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock and potentialiytide common stock outstanding during the period.

Potentially dilutive common shares include outstagdtock options and unvested restricted stock@syavhich are reflected in diluted
net income per share by application of the treastogk method. Under the treasury stock methodatheunt that the employee must pay for
exercising stock options, the amount of stock-basedpensation cost for future services that the @om has not yet recognized, and the
amount of tax benefit that would be recorded initamithl paid-in capital upon exercise are assuroduaktused to repurchase shares.
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Net income per share for the years ended Decembhe@089, 2008, and 2007 are as follows (in thousaexicept per share data):

Net income

Weighted average shares outstand
Basic
Options and awarc
Total diluted share

Basic net income per she

Diluted net income per sha

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

$ 9,33¢ $18,05( $45,95¢

34,48t 35,21: 34,80¢
368 407 1,03(
34,84¢ 35,61¢ 35,83¢
$ 0.27 $ 051 $ 1.3
$ 0.27 $ 051 $ 1.2¢

Anti-dilutive common stock options totaling 3,619% 3,231,105, and 1,162,953 were excluded fromvisighted average shares

outstanding for the diluted per share calculatimm2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Note 7—Other Income (Expense), Net:
Other income (expense), net consisted of the fatigwin thousands):

Foreign currency transaction gains (losses)
Foreign currency contract gains (losses),

Total

Note 8—Income Taxes:
Income before income taxes consists of the follgwin thousands):

United State:
International
Total

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg (in thousands):

Current:
U.S. Federa
State
Foreign

Deferred:
U.S. Federa
State
Foreign

Total
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Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
$ 954 $ 7,219 $3,29¢
(1,082 (1,165) —
(¢ 129 ($ 8,389 $3,20¢

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
$38,94: $54,22: $48,71F

(6,376) (8,879 28,12:
$32,567 $45,34: $76,83¢

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
$23,71¢ $21,45: $25,72.
2,27( 2,95¢ 4,13¢
2,74¢ 5,541 2,50¢
28,73’ 29,95 32,36¢
(4,951 (1,750 (2,709
(469) (909) (92¢)
(83) — 2,15(
(5,502) (2,65¢) (1,487)

$23,23¢ $27,29: $30,88:
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Net deferred tax assets consist of the followimgliousands):

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008
Deferred Tax Assets:
Accruals and allowance $ 12,218 $ 12,21¢
Net operating loss carryforwar 36¢€ 342
Stoclk-based compensatic 5,41¢ 4,10z
Deferred ren 2,62¢ 2,87¢
Deferred revenu 191 69t
Tax credit carryforward 2,112 68€
Other 974 25C
23,90( 21,17:
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Acquired intangible asse (2,399 (4,246
Depreciation and amortizatic (3,49)) (3,81))
(5,890 (8,057
Net deferred tax asse $ 18,01( $ 13,11
Current portior $ 13,347 $ 13,12¢
Non-current portior 4,66% (15
Net deferred tax asse $ 18,01( $ 13,11

Management’s judgment is required in determinirgg@mmpany’s provision for income taxes, its deféteex assets and any valuation
allowance recorded against its deferred tax assetsanagement’s judgment it is more likely than that such assets will be realized in the
future as of December 31, 2009, and as such natirtuallowance has been recorded against the Quytgpdeferred tax assets.

The effective tax rate differs from the applicabl&. statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Tax at federal statutory ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State, net of federal bene 3.1 3.7 3.7
Impact of international operatiol 28.4 19.4 (0.6)
Non-deductible stoc-based compensatic 4.C 2.8 14
In-process research and developn — — 1.9
Tax credits .7 (1.9 (0.9
Others 2.5 1.2 (0.9
Provision for income taxe 71.2% 60.2% 40.2%

Income tax benefits in the amount of $136,000, 330 and $8.4 million related to the exercise otktoptions were credited to
additional paid-in capital during the years endet&nber 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. st of changes in fair value of
available for sale securities, income tax experigel0,000 and $11,000 was recorded in compreheisdzane related to the year ended
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, resplctive

As of December 31, 2009, the Company has $669,00@4.5 million of acquired federal and state rgErating losses as well as
$128,000 of California tax credits carryforwardsririts acquisition of Infrant. Use of these losard credits are subject to annual limitation
under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. Additlgnakcluding deferred tax benefits arising frontearain tax positions, the Company has
California tax credit
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carryforwards of $564,000 as of December 31, 26@9resulted from limitations on use imposed byStete of California. The federal losses
expire in different years beginning in fiscal 20Zhe state loss begins to expire in fiscal 2014 State tax credit carry-forward has no
expiration.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, various state and local, anekign jurisdictions. With few
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to féderal, state and local, or foreign income teaneinations for years before 2005. The
Company has limited audit activity in various staémd foreign jurisdictions. Currently the Compaags not expect a material change in
unrecognized tax benefits to occur during the A@nonths.

The Company adopted the provisions of updated goiléor income taxes on January 1, 2007. A reciatioh of the beginning and
ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefiddB”) is as follows (in millions):

Federal,

State, and

Foreign Tax
Gross UTB Balance at January 1, 200 $ 3,42¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 6,147
Additions for tax positions of prior yea —
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: —
Settlement: (6)
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (239
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20( 9,33¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 3,94(
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 65€
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: (240
Settlement: —
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (509)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20( 13,29:
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 3,60¢
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 184
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: D
Settlement: —
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (581)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20( $ 16,50:

The total amount of net unrecognized tax benefis, tif recognized would affect the effective takeras of December 31, 2009 is $14.2
million. The ending net UTB results from adjustithg gross balance at December 31, 2009 for itects &1 U.S. federal and state deferred
foreign tax credits, interest, and deductible ta¥é® net UTB is included as a component of nomerurincome taxes payable within the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties ederlated to unrecognized tax benefits in incoemeskpense. During the period
ended December 31, 2007, December 31, 2008 andibece31, 2009, total interest and penalties expgensge $643,000, $515,000 and
$354,000, respectively. As of December 31, 20082@ckmber 31, 2009, accrued interest on a gross was $1.2 million and $1.5 million,
respectively. No penalties have been accrued. diedun accrued interest are amounts related tpdaitions for which the ultimate
deductibility is highly certain but for which thei®uncertainty about the timing of such dedudtiil
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Because of the impact of deferred tax accountitiggerahan interest, the impact of any uncertainoimefits related to temporary differences
would not affect the annual effective tax rate wauld accelerate the payment of cash to the taxinyority to an earlier period.

With the exception of those foreign sales subsiekafior which deferred tax has been provided, thmgany intends to indefinitely
reinvest foreign earnings. These earnings wereoxppately $13.2 million and $22.8 million as of @esber 31, 2009 and December 31, 2(
respectively. Because of the availability of U.&eign tax credits, it is not practicable to detiexerthe income tax liability that would be
payable if such earnings were not indefinitely vested.

Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies:
Litigation and Other Legal Matters
NETGEAR v. CSIR!

In May 2005, the Company filed a complaint for deatory relief against the Commonwealth Scientfid Industrial Research
Organization (“CSIRO"), in the San Jose divisiortlod United States District Court, Northern Didto€ California. The complaint alleged that
the claims of CSIRO’s U.S. Patent No. 5,487,069 mvralid and not infringed by any of Company’s puots. CSIRO had asserted that the
Companys wireless networking products implementing theEED2.11a, 802.11g, and 802.11n wireless LAN stalsdiafringe this patent. |
July 2006, the United States Court of Appeals lierEederal Circuit affirmed the District Court’scéigon to deny CSIRO’s motion to dismiss
the action under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities l September 2006, the Federal Circuit deni8tRD’s request for a rehearing en banc.
CSIRO filed a response to the complaint in SeptergbB86. In December 2006, the District Court grdr@SIRO’s motion to transfer the case
to the Eastern District of Texas, where CSIRO hadigpht and won a similar lawsuit against Buffalafieology (USA), Inc., which Buffalo
appealed and which was partially remanded to tis¢ribi Court. The District Court consolidated thigion with three related actions involving
other companies (such as Buffalo) accused of igiingg CSIRO’s patent. The Company attended a Coartdated mediation in November
2007 but failed to resolve the litigation. The Dt Court held a June 26, 2008 claim constructiearing. On August 14, 2008, the District
Court issued a claim construction order and deaigtbtion for summary judgment of invalidity. In Eeober 2008, the parties filed numerous
motions for summary judgment concerning, amongrdthiags, infringement, validity, and other affirtive defenses. The District Court
commenced a jury trial on April 13, 2009 regardatidiability issues for the four consolidated cas®n April 20, 2009, the Company and
CSIRO executed a Memorandum of Understanding (“MyXdgtting forth the terms of a settlement and beeagreement between the
Company and CSIRO. Without admitting any wrongdaingiolation of law and to avoid the distractiomdaexpense of continued litigation
and the uncertainty of a jury verdict on the metite Company agreed to make a one-time lump symgat in consideration for a fully paid
perpetual license and a covenant not to sue wieie to the069 patent and all foreign counterparts and relptgdnts. Based on the histor
and estimated projected future unit sales of they@my’s products that were alleged to infringedbserted patent, the Company allocated a
portion of the settlement cost towards product rsieipts prior to the settlement, which the Compaggnded as a litigation settlement expense
of $2.4 million, which was primarily recognizedtime three months ended March 29, 2009. Addition#tlg Company allocated $2.6 million
the settlement cost to prepaid royalties which ballrecognized as a component of cost of reventleeaglated products are sold. Of this $2.6
million, $413,000 was amortized and expensed iryd@ ended December 31, 2009.

Wi-Lan Inc. v. NETGEAR

In October 2007, a lawsuit was filed against thenBany by Wi-Lan Inc. (“Wi-Lan”), a patent-holdingmpany existing under the laws
of Canada, in the U.S. District Court, Eastern iisbf Texas. Wi-Lan alleges that the Companyinges U.S. Patent Nos. 5,282,222,
RE37,802 and 5,956,323. Wi-Lan has accused the
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Company of infringement with respect to its wirslegtworking products compliant with the IEEE 802standards and ADSL products
compliant with the ITUG.992 standards. Wi-Lan hB® @&ued 21 other technology companies allegingairtlaims of patent infringement.
The Company filed its answer to the lawsuit infing quarter of 2008. This action is now in theativery phase. The District Court has
scheduled a September 1, 2010 claim constructiarifggand a January 4, 2011 jury trial.

Fujitsu et. al v. NETGEA

In December 2007, a lawsuit was filed against tbenany by Fujitsu Limited, LG Electronics, Inc. ddds. Philips Corporation in the
U.S. District Court, Western District of Wisconsithe plaintiffs allege that the Company infringesSUPatent Nos. 6,018,642, 6,469,993 and
4,975,952. The plaintiffs accuse the Company’s ke networking products compliant with the IEER2 80 standards of infringement. The
Company filed its answer to the lawsuit in thetfgearter of 2008. The District Court held a claionstruction hearing on August 15, 2008. On
September 10, 2008, the District Court issued ianctanstruction order. In February 2009, the partied numerous motions for summary
judgment concerning, among other things,-infringement, invalidity, and other affirmativefdases. In September 2009, the District Court
granted the Company’s motion for summary judgmémiom-infringement of the three patents-in-suiteTistrict Court determined that the
Company’s compliance with the 802.11 standard dichecessarily infringe the patents-in-suit and tha plaintiffs did not provide adequate
evidence regarding the function of the Company&lpcts to put the issue of infringement beforerg. jn light of the District Court’s
determination that the patents-in-suit were nainigied, the District Court declined to address@menpany’s summary judgment claims of the
invalidity of the patents in question. On Octob8r 2009, the Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Appéadicating that they will appeal the District
Court’s summary judgment rulings to the United &atourt of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On &aber 23, 2009, the Plaintiffs filed two
briefs with the Federal Circuit appealing the D&tCourt's summary judgment rulings. On Decemb@&r2009, the District Court ordered
litigation costs in the amount of $175,930.03 tad@enbursed to the Company. The Company filed pigasition brief on February 18, 2010.

OptimumPath, L.L.C. v. NETGEAR

In January 2008, a lawsuit was filed against then@any by OptimumPath, L.L.C (“OptimumPath”), a pateolding company existing
under the laws of the State of South Carolinah@W.S. District Court for the District of SouthiGlna. OptimumPath claims that the
Company’s wireless networking products infringe@ptimumPath’s U.S. Patent No. 7,035,281. OptimuimRigo sued six other technology
companies alleging similar claims of patent infengent. The Company filed its answer to the lawisuibe second quarter of 2008. Several
defendants, including the Company, jointly fileceguest for inter partes reexamination of the OptiRath patent with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office (the “USPTO”) on Octdls 2008. On January 12, 2009, a reexaminatiagosdered with respect to claims31-
and 8-10 of the patent, but denied with respectdims 4-7 and 11-32 of the patent. On FebruaB089, the defendants jointly filed a petition
to challenge the denial of reexamination of cla#visand 11-32. In March 2009, the District Coudrged defendants’ motion to transfer the
case to the Northern District of California. Iny@009, the petition to challenge the denial okesmination of claims 4-7 and 11-32 was
denied. The Company and OptimumPath attended a-Goilgred mediation on September 22, 2009 but weable to make progress towards
settlement. This action is now in the discoverygehd he District Court has set a February 17, 20diin construction hearing date, and a 10-
day jury trial is scheduled to begin on May 23, 201

Networl-1 Security Solutions, Inc. v. NETGEAR

In February 2008, a lawsuit was filed against thenfany by Network-1 Security Solutions, Inc. (“Netk-1"), a patent-holding
company existing under the laws of the State of@ate, in the U.S. District Court for the Easteistiict of Texas. Network- alleged that th
Company’s power over Ethernet (“PoE") productsiimged its U.S. Patent No. 6,218,930. Network-1 alsad six other companies alleging
similar
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claims of patent infringement. The Company filedahswer in the second quarter of 2008. In May 26@®out admitting any patent
infringement, wrongdoing or violation of law andawgoid the distraction and expense of continudgkliton, the Company agreed to make a
onetime lump sum payment of $350,000, recorded atigation settlement expense in the three monthseéhrch 29, 2009, in considerat
for a license to the patent in suit as well assaniisal with prejudice of the lawsuit. Under tleetise, the Company will pay future running
royalties on certain of its POE products which Wil recognized as a component of cost of reventleea®lated products are sold.

Ruckus Wireless v. NETGE/

In May 2008, a lawsuit was filed against the Conyplayn Ruckus Wireless (“Ruckus”), a developer of M/technology, in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Califoia. Ruckus alleges that the Company infringes B&aent Nos. 7,358,912 and 7,193,562 il
course of deploying Wi-Fi antenna array technologys WPN824 RangeMax wireless router. Ruckus alged Rayspan Corporation alleging
similar claims of patent infringement. The Compéited its answer to the lawsuit in the third quamé2008. The Company and Rayspan
Corporation jointly filed a request for inter parteexamination of the Ruckus patents with the U3Bi September 4, 2008. The Court issued
a stay of the litigation while the reexaminatiomegqeeded in the USPTO. On November 28, 2008, araigation was ordered with respect to
claims 11-17 of U.S. Patent No. 7,193,562, but eldmiith respect to claims 1-10 and 38-On December 17, 2008, the defendants joirltyg
a petition to challenge the denial of reexaminatibolaims 1-10 and 18-36 of U.S. Patent No. 7,362, In July 2009, the petition was denied,
and the remaining claims 11-17 were confirmed. Coenpany is appealing the confirmation of claimsl¥1-On December 2, 2008,
reexamination was granted to U.S. Patent No. 79328,In early October 2009, the Company receiveAaion Closing Prosecution in the
reexamination of the 7,358,912 patent. All therokbf the 7,358,912 patent, with the exceptiorhefunchallenged claims 7 and 8, were
finally rejected. On October 30, 2009, Ruckus sutadian “after-final” amendment in the 7,358,91fpareexamination proceeding. The
Company’s comments to Ruckus’ “after-final” amendin&ere submitted on November 30, 2009. The reexatioins and related appeals are
proceeding in the USPTO. On December 1, 2009, thetGound that bifurcating the 7,193,562 pateatrfrthe 7,358,912 patent and
commencing litigation on the 7,193,562 patent whike USPTO reexamination process and appealsibugesiding would be an inefficient u:
of the Court’s resources. Accordingly, the Coutéd.that the litigation stay remains in effect. Tiaeties next status report is due by May 25,
2010.

On November 4, 2009, Ruckus filed a new complainthe Northern District of California alleging t®mpany and Rayspan
Corporation infringe a patent that is related ® platents previously asserted against the CompahRayspan Corporation by Ruckus, as
discussed above. This newly asserted patent isR&tent No. 7,525,486 and entitled “Increased e&®overage patterns.” As with the
previous Ruckus action, the WPN824 RangeMax wiselester is the alleged infringing device. The Campchallenged the sufficiency of
Ruckus’s complaint in this new action and movedismiss the complaint. Ruckus opposed this mofitve. Court partially agreed with the
Company’s motion and ordered Ruckus to submit a caawplaint. The initial case management conferg¢f€k®IC”) occurred on February 11,
2010. At the CMC, the District Court indicated titanay stay the newly-filed action until completiof the pending re-examination in the
related action and asked the parties to briefd¢bed. In addition, the District Court set a Claion&truction hearing of November 17, 2010 for
the newly-filed action. If the District Court statfe newly filed action, the claim construction hieg would occur at a later date.

Northpeak Wireless, LLC v. NETGE,

In October 2008, a lawsuit was filed against thenpany and thirty other companies by Northpeak Wgg| LLC (“Northpeak”) in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of &bama. Northpeak alleges that the Company’s 80Z.adipatible products infringe U.S.
Patent Nos. 4,977,577 and 5,987,058. The Compbetyifs answer to the lawsuit in the fourth quade2008. On January 21, 2009, the
District Court granted a motion to transfer theecttsthe U.S. District Court for the Northern Distiof California. In August 2009, the parties
stipulated to a litigation stay pending a reexartidmerequest to the USPTO on the asserted
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patents. The USPTO recently decided to grant re@aion on both of the patents asserted by NortkpElae case is still stayed by stipulati
and no trial date has been set.

Finoc, LLC v. NETGEAI

In February 2009, a lawsuit was filed against thenfany and fourteen other companies by Finoc DeS@rsulting OY (“Finoc”) in the
U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Tesx Finoc alleged that the Company’s wireless D&keway products infringe U.S. Patent
No. 6,850,560. In June 2009, without admitting patent infringement, wrongdoing or violation of land to avoid the distraction and expe
of continued litigation, the Company agreed to makeetime lump sum payment of $82,500 in consideratmreffully paid perpetual licen:
to the patent in suit as well as a dismissal witfjuglice by Finoc. Based on the historical andestied projected future unit sales of the
Company’s products that were alleged to infringedhkserted patents, the Company allocated a patithe settlement cost towards product
shipments prior to the settlement, which the Comgpacorded as a litigation settlement expenseeérttihee months ended June 28, 2009.
Additionally, the Company allocated the balancéhef settlement cost to prepaid royalties which béllrecognized as a component of cost of
revenue as the related products are sold.

Data Network Storage, LLC v. NETGE.

In April 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Canp and fourteen other companies by Data Netwarkage, LLC (“DNS”) in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of Califaa. DNS alleges that the Company and the othet farties infringe U.S. Patent
No. 6,098,128. In particular, DNS is alleging teaveral of the Compa’s ReadyNAS products infringe upon DNS’s patentse Company
filed its answer to the lawsuit in July 2009 andeated that DNS’s patents were both invalid andriwdeen infringed upon by the Company.
In September 2009, at a Court-sanctioned earlyraleenaluation, the parties were unable to reachgaeement on a settlement, and discovery
is in process. On January 27, 2010 the Court derdedkfendant Fujitsu America, Inc.’s motion toystiae litigation, and the Company
submitted its invalidity contentions on Februar2@10. The claim construction hearing is schedtdeduly 20, 2010, and a trial date has not
yet been schedule

WIAV Networks, LLC v. NETGEAR

In July 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Conypand over fifty other companies by WIAV Networks,C (“WIAV”) in the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of TexaslAV alleges that the Company and the other defetsdiafringe U.S. Patent Nos. 6,480,497
and 5,400,338. WIAV alleges that the Company’s l&gge networking devices, including various routerd gateways, infringe upon WIAV’s
patents. The Company filed its answer to the latnieuDctober 2009 and asserted that WIAV'’s paterdse both invalid and not infringed by
the Company. The status conference has not yetdmemuled, and discovery has not yet commenced.

PACIid Group, LLC v. NETGEA

In July 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Conypand thirty other companies by The PACid GroupCL(“PACid") in the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of Texa®\®id alleges that the Company and the other defesdafringe U.S. Patent Nos. 5,963,646
and 6,049,612. PACid alleges that certain unnamefd®EAR products that use encryption methods infringon PACid’s patents. The
Company filed its answer to the lawsuit in Septen#t®9 and asserted that PACid’s patents wereibattid and not infringed by the
Company. The status conference has not yet beenlsieud, and discovery has not yet commenced.

MPH Technologies Oy v. NETGE!

On February 4, 2010, the Company was sued by MRiiA@ogies Oy (“MPH”) for infringement of U.S. pater,346,926 entitled
“Method for Sending Messages Over Secure Mobile @amication Links.” MPH
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alleges that The Company’s VPN Client Software, IIMAN gigabit SSL VPN Firewall, ProSafe Dual WAN YH-irewall with 8port 10/10C
Switch, ProSafe VPN Firewall with 8-port 10/100 8hi ProSafe VPN Firewall 8 with 8-Port 10/100 SWwjtProSafe VPN Firewall 8 with 4-
Port 10/100 Mbps Switch, ProSafe 802 11 g Wirekd3SL Modem VPN Firewall Router, ProSafe Wireles3/RN Firewall, and ProSafe 802
11 wireless VPN Firewall 8 with 8-port 10/100 Mbpwitch infringe upon U.S. patent 7,346,926. The @any has not yet answered the
complaint.

IP Indemnification Claim:

In addition, in its sales agreements, the Compgpigally agrees to indemnify its direct customelistributors and resellers (the
“Indemnified Parties”) for any expenses or lialiliesulting from claimed infringements of patemtademarks or copyrights of third parties
that are asserted against the Indemnified Paffilesterms of these indemnification agreements aneglly perpetual after execution of the
agreement. The maximum amount of potential futndemnification is generally unlimited. From timettme, the Company receives requests
for indemnity and may choose to assume the defeinsech litigation asserted against the IndemniRadties.

In June 2006, the Company received a request d@nimification from Charter and Charter Communica&i®perating, LLC, related to a
lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court, EasterisBict of Texas, by Rembrandt Technologies, L‘Refnbrandt”), a patent-holding company.
Rembrandt also filed a similar lawsuit in the sgoresdiction against Comcast Corporation, Comcastl€ Communications, LLC and
Comcast of Plano, LP. Rembrandt alleged that prisdogplementing the DOCSIS standard, which are keghpo Charter, Comcast
Corporation, Comcast Cable Communications, LLC @nthcast of Plano, LP by, among others, the Comgafrynge various patents held by
Rembrandt. In June 2007, the Judicial Panel onitfisitict Litigation ordered these and other simjpatent cases brought by Rembrandt
consolidated and transferred to the U.S. Distrimti€for the District of Delaware. In November 20@Ye Company along with Motorola, Inc.,
Cisco Systems, Inc., Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., ARBREroup, Inc., Thomson, Inc. and Ambit Microsystemes. filed a complaint for declaratory
judgment in the U.S. District Court for the Distraf Delaware against Rembrandt, seeking a de@ar#tat eight asserted Rembrandt pat
asserted in the transferred cases are either ¢hoahot infringed. The District Court held a clagmnstruction hearing on August 5, 2008. On
November 29, 2008, the District Court issued igralconstruction order. After the District Cc's order, Rembrandt agreed to drop three
patents from the case, leaving five patents atisEhbe District Court held a mediation on Marc#,2009 but the parties were unable to re¢
resolution. On July 21, 2009, Rembrandt delivecethe Company and other parties an executed covepato sue on any of the eight patents
originally in the suit, contending that the exeontdf the covenant divests the District Court efgdiction or renders moot the remaining cle
and counterclaims in the action. On July 31, 2B0&mbrandt filed a motion to dismiss the litigatigvihile Rembrandt’'s motion was pending,
the defendants filed motions for summary judgmeamctions, and responses to Rembrandt’s motiorstoiss. In early October 2009, the
District Court suspended all further dates forchse while it reviewed the pending motions and sgateis. On October 23, 2009, the Court
ordered Rembrandt to supplement the covenant raatedo include any products or services that cpmjth DOCSIS 1.0, 1.1, 2.0 or 3 and
dismissed Rembrandt'’s various infringement claimshe eight patents with prejudice. The Court gaeenbrandt five days to withdraw its
motion to dismiss the litigation if it found the @w's conditions on dismissal to be unacceptabanBrandt did not withdraw its motion to
dismiss the litigation, and on October 30, 2009nB&ndt executed a covenant not to sue on anyedditiht patents in the case and any
products or services that comply with DOCSIS 1.Q, 2.0 or 3. The Company and its co-defendantsethdor attorneys’ fees to be paid by
Rembrandt. Rembrandt has opposed the motion.

All of the above described claims against the Camgpar filed by the Company, whether meritoriousiot, could be time-consuming,
result in costly litigation, require significant aomts of management time, and result in the digarsf significant operational resources. Were
an unfavorable outcome to occur, there exists ¢tssipility it would have a material adverse imparctthe Company’s financial position and
results of
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operations for the period in which the unfavoratiiécome occurs or becomes probable. In additienChmpany is subject to legal
proceedings, claims and litigation arising in thdiwary course of business, including litigatiokated to intellectual property and employment
matters.

Based on currently available information, the Compdoes not believe that the ultimate outcomesgfumresolved matters, individua
and in the aggregate, are likely to have a matadaérse effect on the Compasyinancial position, liquidity or results of op&oas within the
next 12 months. However, litigation is subjectrtbérent uncertainties, and the Company'’s view es¢hmatters may change in the future.
Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, there ettistpossibility of a material adverse impact on@wenpany’s financial position and results
of operations or liquidity for the period in whitie unfavorable outcome occurs or becomes probabtepotentially in future periods.

Environmental Regulation

The European Union (“EU”) has enacted legislatielating to disposal of certain products. The W&déetrical and Electronic
Equipment Directive, makes producers of electraids, including home and small business networgieducts, which are placed on the
market after August 1, 2005 financially responsiblespecified collection, recycling, treatment atisposal of past and future covered
products. Similar WEEE Legislation has been or tm@nacted in other jurisdictions, including in theited States, Canada, Mexico, China
and Japan. The Company adopted the authoritatideugee for asset retirement and environmental abitigs in the third quarter of fiscal 2C
and has determined that its effect did not haveaterial impact on its consolidated results of oflens and financial position for fiscal 2007,
2008, or 2009. The Company believes it is meetiegréquirements of the WEEE Directive. The Compargpntinuing to evaluate the impact
of the WEEE Legislation and similar legislationdther jurisdictions as individual countries issheit implementation guidance. In 2006 the
EU also enacted the Battery Directive. Some merstades have enacted legislation which require prexuof equipment containing certain
types of batteries to be financially responsiblerézovery and disposal. The Company believes étsthe requirements of Battery Directive
legislation.

Additionally, the EU has enacted the Restrictiotdakzardous Substances Directive (“RoHS Legislajioihe RoHS Legislation, along
with similar legislation in China, prohibits theeusf certain substances, including mercury and, leacertain products put on the market after
July 1, 2006. The EU also enacted the Registrakoajuation, Authorisation and restriction of CHerls (REACH) Legislation, which came
into force on December 1, 2008 and also addrehsesroduction and use of chemical substances. Dhep@ny believes it has met the
requirements of the ROHS Legislation and the REAEKislation.

The EU also implemented its Standby Regulationsclwis one of a number of measures and initiatdeseloped to implement the 2005
EU Ecodesign Directive. The Standby Regulation rexténto force on January 7, 2009. Generally, ttad@y Regulation requires products to
have operating modes with certain limited energysconption requirements. The Company adopted theetadtive guidance for the Standby
Regulation and has determined that its effect didhave a material impact on its consolidated tesafloperations and financial position for
fiscal 2009. The Company is continuing to evaluhteimpact of the Standby Regulation and similgiskation in other jurisdictions as
individual countries issue their implementationdganice. The Company believes it meets the requirenoénthe Standby Regulation.

Employment Agreements

The Company has signed various employment agresmsétiit key executives pursuant to which if theimdoyment is terminated
without cause, the employees are entitled to rectsigir base salary (and commission or bonus, glicaple) for 52 weeks (for the Chief
Executive Officer) and up to 26 weeks (for othey keecutives). Such employees will continue to heteek options vest for up to a one year
period following the termination. If the terminatiowithout cause, occurs within one year of a cleangontrol, such employees are entitled to
up to two years acceleration of any unvested poxichis or her stock options.
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Leases

The Company leases office space, cars and equipmelet non-cancelable operating leases with vagapgation dates through
December 2026. Rent expense in the years endednibec 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $6.2 millior3 $llion, and $3.4 million,
respectively. The terms of some of the Companyfis@leases provide for rental payments on a gradiuscale. The Company recognizes rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the leasedyemnd has accrued for rent expense incurreddtpaid.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating leases, net of sublease payments, #oli@ss (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31

2010 $ 5,62¢
2011 4,23¢
2012 3,34¢
2013 3,33(
2014 3,38t
Thereaftel 15,78¢
Total minimum lease paymer $35,70¢

Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company has entered into various inventoryteédlpurchase agreements with suppliers. Genetailyer these agreements, 50% of
orders are cancelable by giving notice 46 to 6Ggaior to the expected shipment date and 25%dw#rerare cancelable by giving notice 31 to
45 days prior to the expected shipment date. Om@ersion-cancelable within 30 days prior to theeexgd shipment date. At December 31,
2009, the Company had $81.3 million in non-candelglirchase commitments with suppliers. The Compstigblishes a loss liability for all
products it does not expect to sell for which i lkammitted purchases from suppliers. Such losses hot been material to date.

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law arddéordance with its Bylaws, indemnifies its offe@and directors for certain eve
or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while dfficer or director is or was serving at the Camys request in such capacity. The term of
indemnification period is for the officer’s or dater’s lifetime. The maximum amount of potential futimdemnification is unlimited; howeve
the Company has a Director and Officer Insurandeythat limits its exposure and enables it toonar a portion of any future amounts paid.
As a result of its insurance policy coverage, thhen@any believes the fair value of these indemrificeagreements is minimal. Accordingly,
the Company has no liabilities recorded for thegeaments as of December 31, 2009.

In its sales agreements, the Company typicallyesgte indemnify its direct customers, distributansl resellers for any expenses or
liability resulting from claimed infringements o&fents, trademarks or copyrights of third parfidge terms of these indemnification
agreements are generally perpetual any time afemution of the agreement. The maximum amount témg@l future indemnification is
unlimited. The Company believes the estimatedvaline of these agreements is minimal. Accordintiig, Company has no liabilities recorded
for these agreements as of December 31, 2009.

Note 10—Stockholder’s Equity:

At December 31, 2009, the Company had four stodeth@mployee compensation plans as described bElmotal compensation
expense related to these plans was approximatély $iillion for the year ended December 31, 2009.
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The following table sets forth the total stock-lthsempensation expense resulting from stock optisiricted stock awards, and the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan included in the Cogip&@onsolidated Statements of Operations (in thods):

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Cost of revenu $ 95¢ $ 864 $ 63¢
Research and developmt 1,97: 3,21¢ 2,391
Sales and marketir 4,147 3,40¢ 3,01z
General and administrati\ 3,94F 3,83t 2,84

$11,02¢ $11,32¢ $8,87¢

The Company recognizes these compensation costs thet estimated forfeitures on a straight-linsib@ver the requisite service period
of the award, which is generally the option vestieign of four years.

Total stock-based compensation cost capitalizéavientory was less than $250,000 in each of thesyeaded December 31, 2009, 2008,
and 2007.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company has the fallgwhare-based compensation plans:

2000 Stock Option Plan

In April 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stopkidd Plan (the “2000 Plan”). The 2000 Plan prosifter the granting of stock
options to employees and consultants of the Comp@ptions granted under the 2000 Plan may be diticentive stock options (“ISOs”) or
nonqualified stock options (“NSOs”). ISOs may barged only to Company employees (including officard directors who are also
employees). NSOs may be granted to Company emgpgéectors and consultants. A total of 7,350,88@res of Common Stock have been
reserved for issuance under the 2000 Plan.

Options under the 2000 Plan may be granted fopdsmf up to ten years, provided, however, thah@)exercise price of an ISO and
NSO shall not be less than the estimated fair vafuike underlying stock on the date of grant afdhe exercise price of an ISO and N:
granted to a 10% shareholder shall not be lessth&® of the estimated fair value of the underhydtack on the date of grant. To date, opt
granted generally vest over four years.

2003 Stock Plan

In April 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stdelk Rthe “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan provides far granting of stock options to
employees and consultants of the Company. Opticarged under the 2003 Plan may be either ISOs @INEOs may be granted only to
Company employees (including officers and directain® are also employees). NSOs may be granted tgp@oy employees, directors and
consultants. The Company has reserved 750,000ssbb@ommon Stock plus any shares which were reddout not issued under the 2000
Plan as of the date of the approval of the 2008.Flae number of shares which were reserved bussoed under the 2000 Plan that were
transferred to the Company’s 2003 Plan were 615 28@&h when combined with the shares reserveth®Company’s 2003 Plan total
1,365,290 shares reserved under the Company’s Rl@gd3as of the date of transfer. Any options cdedalnder either the 2000 Plan or the
2003 Plan are returned to the pool available fangrAs of December 31, 2009, 249,451 shares vesezved for future grants under the
Company’s 2003 Plan.

Options under the 2003 Plan may be granted fopdsmf up to ten years, provided, however, thah@)exercise price of an ISO and
NSO shall not be less than the estimated fair vafuke underlying stock on tt
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date of grant and (ii) the exercise price of an E81d NSO granted to a 10% shareholder shall ntidsethan 110% of the estimated fair value
of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Ttedaptions granted generally vest over four yeaith the first tranche vesting at the end o
months and the remaining shares underlying th@optésting monthly over the remaining three yelaréiscal 2005, certain options granted
under the 2003 Plan immediately vested and wereisadle on the date of grant, and the shares yinlgisuch options were subject to a
resale restriction which expires at a rate of 2¥¥\year.

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan

In April 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 LongnTincentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), which was apd by the Company’s
stockholders at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stocterd on May 23, 2006. The 2006 Plan provides fegifanting of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performaameards and other stock awards, to eligible dirsctemployees and consultants of the
Company. Upon the adoption of the 2006 Plan, the@my reserved 2,500,000 shares of common stodkdoance under the 2006 Plan. In
June 2008, the Company adopted amendments to @&FR1an which increased the number of shares oa€tmepanys common stock that mi
be issued under the 2006 plan by an additionalZ0®@ shares. As of December 31, 2009, 1,058,2areshvere reserved for future grants
under the 2006 Plan.

Options granted under the 2006 Plan may be ei@slor NSOs. ISOs may be granted only to Compamjoy@es (including officers
and directors who are also employees). NSOs maydseed to Company employees, directors and camaltOptions may be granted for
periods of up to ten years, provided, however, fhadhe exercise price of an ISO and NSO shallbetess than the estimated fair value of the
underlying stock on the date of grant and (ii) éixercise price of an ISO and NSO granted to a Itgesiolder shall not be less than 110% of
the estimated fair value of the underlying stocklmndate of grant. Options granted under the Z@6 generally vest over four years, with
first tranche vesting at the end of 12 months &edémaining shares underlying the option vestingtimy over the remaining three years.

Stock appreciation rights may be granted undeR@®$6 Plan subject to the terms specified by tha ptiministrator, provided that the
term of any such right may not exceed ten (10)s/&am the date of grant. The exercise price gdiyezannot be less than the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the datetiiek appreciation right is granted.

Restricted stock awards may be granted under t6& Plan subject to the terms specified by the pdministrator. The period over
which any restricted award may fully vest is gefignao less than three (3) years. Restricted sawfirds are non-vested stock awards that may
include grants of restricted stock or grants ofrieted stock units. Restricted stock awards adependent of option grants and are generally
subject to forfeiture if employment terminates ptiw the release of the restrictions. During theriqud, ownership of the shares cannot be
transferred. Restricted stock has the same voitigsras other common stock and is considered tulrently issued and outstanding.
Restricted stock units do not have the voting sgiftcommon stock, and the shares underlying tteicted stock units are not considered
issued and outstanding. The Company expenses shefcine restricted stock awards, which is deteedito be the fair market value of the
shares at the date of grant, ratably over the gethiming which the restrictions lapse.

Performance awards may be in the form of perforraaiares or performance units. A performance shaens an award denominate:
shares of Company common stock and a performariteneans an award denominated in units having kaidedlue or other currency, as
determined by the plan administrator. The plan adstrator will determine the number of performaageards that will be granted and will
establish the performance goals and other condifionpayment of such performance awards. The gerianeasuring the achievement of
performance goals will be a minimum of twelve (f®)nths.

Other stock-based awards may be granted undelOB RRlan subject to the terms specified by the ptiministrator. Other stock-based
awards may include dividend equivalents, restristedk awards, or amounts
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which are equivalent to all or a portion of anydeal, state, local, domestic or foreign taxes mdgto an award, and may be payable in shares,
cash, other securities or any other form of prgpastthe plan administrator may determine.

In the event of a change in control of the Compaitiyawards under the 2006 Plan vest in full ahdaistanding performance shares and
performance units will be paid out upon transfer.

Any shares of common stock subject to an awardishfatfeited, settled in cash, expires or is otvise settled without the issuance of
shares shall again be available for awards un@de2®6 Plan. Additionally, any shares that aredegdl by a participant of the 2006 Plan or
retained by the Company as full or partial paymerthe Company for the purchase of an award oatisfg tax withholding obligations in
connection with an award shall no longer again beemavailable for issuance under the 2006 Plan.

The number of “full value equity awards” (as defifeelow) that may be granted will be limited tomore than ten percent (10%) of the
shares issuable under the 2006 Plan. For thesesrspa “full value equity award” is any award piarg to the 2006 Plan, other than options,
stock appreciation rights or other awards whichb@®ed solely on an increase in value of the Cogipaommon stock following the date of
grant.

2006 Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement

In August 2006, the Company reserved for and gceat800,000 share NSO in connection with the hidhg key executive. As of
December 31, 2009, no options remain outstandinigiuthe 2006 Stand-Alone Stock Option Agreement.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock PurchasdtR&“ESPP”), pursuant to which eligible employesay contribute up to 10%
of compensation, subject to certain income limidgpurchase shares of the Companydmmon stock. Prior to January 1, 2006, employese
able to purchase stock semi-annually at a pricalequB5% of the fair market value at certain pthafined dates. As of January 1, 2006, the
Company changed the ESPP such that employeesusilhase stock semi-annually at a price equal to 86&te fair market value on the
purchase date. Since the price of the shares isdetevmined at the purchase date and there isngeta look-back period, the Company
recognizes the expense based on the 15% discopuatdctase. For the years ended December 31, 2008, and 2007, ESPP compensation
expense was $184,000, $250,000 and $232,000, tasgpc
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Valuation and Expense Information

The fair value of each option award granted unkderGompany’s ESPP equals the 15% discount at pgechie fair value of each
restricted stock unit under all shasased compensation plans equals the fair valueEGT®EAR stock on the date of the grant. The faiugad
each option award granted under all other shareebesmpensation plans is estimated on the dateaaf gsing the Black-Scholes-Merton
option valuation model and the weighted averageraptions in the following table. The expected tehoptions granted is derived from
historical data on employee exercise and postivgstnployment termination behavior. The risk freteriest rate is based on the implied yield
currently available on U.S. Treasury securitiedwait equivalent remaining term. Expected volatibtypased on a combination of the historical
volatility of the Company’s stock as well as thetbrical volatility of certain of the Company’s instry peers’ stock. The Company estimated
the forfeiture rate for the years ended Decembe3Q9, 2008, and 2007 based on its historical riaipee.

Stock Options Granted Under
non-ESPP Plans
Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Expected life (in years 4.4 4.3 45
Risk-free interest rat 1.7% 3.02% 4.48%
Expected volatility 50% 49% 53%

Dividend yield — — —

The weighted average estimated fair value of optignanted during the years ended December 31, 2008, and 2007, including
options granted under the ESPP and not includistgiceed stock units, was $6.10, $9.57, and $15&hectively.

Stock options activity under the stock option pldosing the years ended December 31, 2007, 20082009 were as follows (share data
in thousands):

Outstanding Options

Number of Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price

December 31, 200 3,93¢ $ 14.7¢
Granted 951 32.4(
Exercisec (1,237%) 11.07
Cancellec (229 23.2%
December 31, 200 3,42¢ $ 20.47
Granted 1,01¢ 23.0z
Exercisec (157 15.01
Cancellec (369 24.2:
December 31, 200 3,91¢ $ 21.0(
Granted 1,52¢ 14.7:
Exercisec (370 8.07
Cancellec (452 21.1¢
December 31, 200 4,62( $ 19.9¢
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Information regarding the stock options outstandih®ecember 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 is summabizkxalv.

Weighted Aggregate
Number of Weighted Average Average Intrinsic Value
Shares Remaining

(thousands Exercise Price Contractual Life (thousands)
As of December 31, 200
Shares outstandir 4,62( $ 19.9¢ 7.21 $ 20,93
Shares vested and expected to 4,29¢ $ 20.0( 7.0¢ $ 19,37¢
Shares exercisab 2,45¢ $ 20.6¢ 5.7¢ $ 10,49
As of December 31, 200
Shares outstandir 3,91¢ $ 21.0¢ 6.9¢ $ 3,41(
Shares vested and expected to 3,82( $ 20.81 6.9t $ 3,40¢
Shares exercisab 2,272 $ 17.3¢ 5.7¢ $ 3,35¢
As of December 31, 200
Shares outstandir 3,42¢ $ 20.47 7.4F $ 52,42
Shares vested and expected to 3,33¢ $ 20.2¢ 7.41 $ 51,65¢
Shares exercisab 1,744 $ 13.8( 6.0C $ 38,13¢

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table abepeasent the total pre-tax intrinsic values (thitedtnce between the Company’s closing
stock price on the last trading day of 2009, 2@0®| 2007 and the exercise price, multiplied byrilmber of shares underlying the in-the-
money options) that would have been received byfi®n holders had all option holders exerciseddrtbptions on December 31,

2009, December 31, 2008, and December 31, 200%.arhount changes based on the fair market valttea@ompany’s stock. Total intrinsic
value of options exercised for the year ended Déegr@l, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $3.4 million, $dilRon, and $25.7 million, respectivel

The total fair value of options vested during tleans ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 wésHfion, $9.1 million, and $6.4
million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2009, $15.0 million of total ecwgnized compensation cost related to stock api®axpected to be recognized ¢
a weighted-average period of 1.28 years.

Cash received from option exercises and purchasgsrthe ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $3.0
million, $2.4 million, and $13.7 million, respectiy.

Restricted stock units as of December 31, 20098 280d 2007, and changes during the years endeshier 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007
were as follows (share data in thousands):

2009 2008 2007
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date
Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value

In thousands In thousands In thousands
Restricted stock units outstanding at begint

of year 23t $ 25.5¢ 14¢ $ 27.61 114 $ 225
Restricted stock units grant 171 12.2¢ 158 24.8¢ 101 29.8¢
Restricted stock units vest (2049) 23.4: (58) 28.9: (52) 22.5¢
Restricted stock units cancell (15 19.3¢ 9 27.3: (15 20.3¢
Restricted stock units outstanding at end of ! 287 $ 18.71 23¢ $ 25.5¢ 14¢ $ 27.61
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Total intrinsic value of restricted stock units tegbduring the years ended December 31, 2009, 20@B2007 was $1.4 million, $1.2
million and $1.7 million, respectively.

The total fair value of restricted stock units eestiuring the year ended December 31, 2009, 2002@07 was $2.4 million, $1.7
million and $1.2 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2009, $3.0 million of total wwgnized compensation cost related to non-vesttdated stock units is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period df ye@rs.

Total fair value of stock-based compensation awargpensed for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2ad 2007 was $7.8 million,
$8.5 million, and $6.6 million, respectively, néttax. The actual excess tax benefit recognizedhfertax deduction arising from the exercis
stock-based compensation awards for the years ddelegimber 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 totaled $136&RI)000, and $8.4 million,
respectively.

Common Stock Repurchase Programs

In October 21, 2008, the Company’s Board of Direstuthorized management to repurchase up to ®008@hares of the Company’s
outstanding common stock. Under this authorizatibe timing and actual number of shares subje#parchase are at the discretion of
management and are contingent on a number of factoch as levels of cash generation from opegtiash requirements for acquisitions
the price of the Company’s common stock. The Comulith not repurchase any shares under this autitaizduring the year ended
December 31, 2009. During the fiscal year endecebéer 31, 2008, the Company repurchased approdyiagemillion shares or $12.0
million of common stock under this repurchase atgaion.

In addition, the Company repurchased approxim&2|900 shares, or $282,000 of common stock undeparchase program to help
administratively facilitate the withholding and saguent remittance of personal income and payedd for individuals receiving restricted
stock units during the year ended December 31, .2808ilarly, during the years ended December 30824nd December 31, 2007, the
Company repurchased approximately 9,000 share§,800 shares, respectively, or $206,000 and $18G06ommon stock, respectively,
under the same program to help facilitate tax vattiimg for restricted stock units.

These shares were retired upon repurchase. The &gyrsppolicy related to repurchases of its commntoolksis to charge the excess of
cost over par value to retained earnings. All repases were made in compliance with Rule 10b-1@uthé Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

Note 11—Segment Information, Operations by Geograpb Area and Customer Concentration:

Operating segments are components of an entegisa& which separate financial information is aafalié and is regularly evaluated by
management, namely the chief operating decisioremakan organization, in order to make operating mesource allocation decisions. By
definition, the Company operates in one businegmeat, which comprises the development, marketimsale of networking products for the
small business and home markets. The Company’sapyilreadquarters and a significant portion of ierations are located in the United
States. The Company also conducts sales, marlatilhgustomer service activities through severallsates offices in Europe, Middle-East
and Africa (‘EMEA”) and Asia as well as outsouradidtribution centers.

For reporting purposes revenue is attributed th ggographic location based on the geographicitotaf the customer. Net revenue by
geography comprises gross revenue less such itesaes incentives deemed to be a reduction akmehue, sales returns and price
protection, which reduce gross revenue.
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Geographic information
Net revenue by geographic location is as followslifpusands):
Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
United State: $314,39: $297,64: $273,69!
United Kingdom 91,94: 120,99 183,34:
EMEA (excluding UK) 200,23¢ 233,06¢ 197,01
80,02: 91,64t 73,73¢

Asia Pacific and rest of the wor

$686,59! $743,34: $727,78

Long-lived assets, comprising fixed assets, arerted based on the location of the asset. Longilassets by geographic location are as
follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008

United State: $ 13,22¢ $ 17,63:
EMEA 282 434
China 2,86( 1,86¢
Asia Pacific and rest of the world (excluding Chi 523 357
$ 16,89 $ 20,29:

Customer concentration (as a percentage of nehoeye
Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007

Ingram Micro, Inc. 11% 14% 17%
Best Buy Co., Inc 11% 8% 7%
Tech Data Corporatio 8% 11% 14%
All others individually less than 10% of rever 70% 67% 62%
10C% 10C% 10C%

Note 12—Employee Benefit Plan:

In April 2000, the Company adopted the NETGEAR 4)HRlan to which employees may contribute up to%@d salary subject to the
legal maximum. Through December 31, 2007, the Compantributed an amount equal to 50% of the enmg®agontributions up to a
maximum of $1,500 per calendar year per employegirBing on January 1, 2008 through December 318 20e Company contributed an
amount equal to 100% of the employee contributign$o a maximum of $7,000 per calendar year peid@mp. Beginning on January 1, 2009
for the first three pay periods of 2009 only, whatded on January 30, 2009, the Company contritarteximount equal to 100% of the
employee contributions up to a maximum of $7,000 eimployees that remained active with the comglhrgugh December 31, 2009. The
Company expensed $508,000, $1.3 million and $6988ated to the NETGEAR 401(k) Plan in the yeaidesel December 31, 2009, 2008

2007, respectively.

Note 13—Fair Value of Financial Instruments:
The Company adopted updated authoritative guidéordair value measurements and disclosures effecdtanuary 1, 2008 for financial
assets and liabilities measured on a recurringsb@kis authoritative guidance
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applies to all financial assets and financial lieibs that are being measured and reported oir adhue basis. Although there was no impac
adoption of this authoritative guidance to the obidated financial statements, the Company is nequired to provide additional disclosure
part of its financial statements. In accordancé additional authoritative guidance, the Comparfeitied adoption until January 1, 2009 as it
relates to non-financial assets and liabilitiesegt¢hose measured at fair value in the finant¢égksents on a recurring basis. The updated
guidance establishes a framework for measuring/édire and expands disclosure about fair value areagents. The statement requires fair

value measurements be classified and discloseddrobthe following three categories:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markeds are accessible at the measurement dateefotiédl, unrestricted assets or

liabilities;

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are nowvactr inputs which are observable, either direatlyndirectly, for substantially the full

term of the asset or liability;

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that regjiriputs that are both significant to the fair ealneasurement and unobservable (i.e.,

supported by little or no market activity).

The following tables summarize the valuation of @@mpany’s financial instruments by the above aatieg as of December 31, 2009

and December 31, 2008:

As of December 31, 200

Quoted market

prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable input:
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalen—money market fund $120,32- $ 120,32 $ — $ —
Available-for-sale securitie—Treasuries(1 74,89¢ 74,89¢ — —
Foreign currency forward contractsi 1,32¢ — 1,32¢ —
Total $196,55! $ 195,22. $ 1,32¢ $ —
(1) Included in sho-term investments on the Compi’'s consolidated balance she
(2) Included in prepaid expenses and other currentsaesehe Compar' s consolidated balance she
As of December 31, 200
Quoted market
prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable input:
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foreign currency forward contractsi $(34€ $ — $ 34¢ $ o
Total $(34¢ $ — $ 34¢€ $ —
(3) Included in other accrued liabilities on the Comy’s consolidated balance she
As of December 31, 2008
Quoted market
prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable input:
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalen—money market fund $122,23. $ 122,23 $ — $ =
Available-for-sale securitie—Treasuries(1 10,17( 10,17( — —
Foreign currency forward contractsi 1,49¢ — 1,49¢ —
Total $133,89¢ $ 132,40. $ 1,49¢ $ —

() Included in sho-term investments on the Compi's consolidated balance she
(2) Included in prepaid expenses and other currentsaeseghe Compar' s consolidated balance she

94



Table of Contents

As of Decembe 31, 200€
Quoted market

prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable input:
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foreign currency forward contracts $(3,275) $ — $ (3,279 $ =
Total $(3,275) $ — $ (3,275 $ —

(3) Included in other accrued liabilities on the Comy’s consolidated balance she

The Company’s investments in cash equivalents aailadle for sale securities are classified withavel 1 of the fair value hierarchy
because they are valued based on quoted markespni@ctive markets. All of the Company’s foreamrency forward contracts are with
counterparties that have long-term credit ratinfg&-4oor higher. The Company’s foreign currency fana contracts are classified within Level
2 of the fair value hierarchy as they are valuadgipricing models that take into account the cacttterms as well as currency rates and
counterparty credit rates. The Company verifies&@sonableness of these pricing models using wdislermarket data for related inputs into
such models. Additionally, the Company includesdjustment for non-performance risk in the recogaimeasure of fair value of derivative
instruments. At December 31, 2009 and Decembe2@®18, the adjustment for non-performance risk dilhave a material impact on the fair
value of the Company’s foreign currency forward tcacts.

The carrying value of non-financial assets andlit&gs measured at fair value in the financialtstaents on a recurring basis, including
accounts receivable and accounts payable, appréifa@ia value due to their short maturities.

Note 14—Comprehensive Income and Cumulative Other @nprehensive Income, Net:

The following table sets forth the activity for @amomponent of other comprehensive income, netlated taxes, for the year ended
December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008, and Dece3db@007, respectively (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Net income $9,33¢ $18,05( $45,95¢
Change in unrealized gains and losses on derivetsiriments, net of ts 20 — —
Change in unrealized gains and losses on ava-for-sale securities, net of ti (63) (39 10€
Other comprehensive income (lo. $ (43 $ (39 $ 10€
Total comprehensive incon $9,29( $18,01¢ $46,06(

The following table sets forth the components ahalative other comprehensive income, net of reltaeds, as of December 31, 2009
and December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

As of December 31

2009 2008
Net unrealized gains on derivative instrume $ 20 $ —

Net unrealized gains on availa-for-sale securitie 4 67
Total cumulative other comprehensive income, néaxés $ 24 $ 67

Note 15—Subsequent Events:

In January 2010, the Company completed the acoprisif certain intellectual property and other éssé Leaf Networks, LLC (“Leaf”).
The acquisition qualified as a business acquiskiod will be accounted for using
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the purchase method of accounting. The aggregathase price was $2.1 million, paid in cash. Adudiitilly, the acquisition agreement
specified that Leaf shareholders may receive & aolditional payout of up to $900,000 in cash aberthree years following closure of the
acquisition if developed products pass certain ptacee criteria. The Company has determined tleaptasent value of the $900,000 potential
additional payout is approximately $800,000, foiichhithe Company will record a liability.

In accordance with the purchase method of accogietind as updated with the FASB’s April 2009 addailcauthoritative guidance for
business combinations, the Company will allocagettital purchase price to identifiable intangildseds in the three months ending March 28,
2010 based on each element’s estimated fair vAleguisition costs are expensed as incurred. Puechexangibles will be amortized on a
straight-line basis over their respective estimatseful lives. Goodwill will be recorded based be tesidual purchase price after allocating the
purchase price to the fair market value of intalegéssets acquired certain expensed acquisitids.d@sodwill arises as a result of the
$800,000 present valuation of the $900,000 potkeadditional payout, plus $100,000 in additionayme@nt consideration. The preliminary
allocation of the purchase price is as followstfiousands):

Intangibles, ne 2,00(
Goodwill 90C
Total purchase price allocatis $2,90(

The $2.0 million in acquired intangible assets @asignated as existing technology. The value wiasileded based on the present value
of the future estimated cash flows derived fromgutions of future revenue attributable to existiaghnology. This $2.0 million will be
amortized over its estimated useful life of sevearg.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited quartemaficial information for each of the Company’s kight quarters. This information has
been derived from the Company’s unaudited finarstatiements and has been prepared on the samasdsesaudited Consolidated Financial
Statements appearing elsewhere in this ForrK.10-the opinion of management, all necessarystdjents, consisting only of normal recuri
adjustments, have been included to state fairlygtreaterly results.

September 27 December 31
March 29, June 28,
2009 2009 2009 2009
Net revenus $152,01¢ $144,67- $ 171,07: $ 218,83:
Gross profil $ 42,93: $ 41,26( $ 55,74t $ 66,46¢
Provision for income taxe $ 3,352 $ 4,43¢ $ 5,82 $ 9,62:
Net income (loss $ (3,770 $ (3,280) $ 8,53 $ 7,85%
Net income (loss) per shi—basic $ (0.11) $ (0.10 $ 0.2t $ 0.2¢
Net income (loss) per shi—diluted $ (0.1)) $ (0.10 $ 0.24 $ 0.2z
September 2€ December 31
March 30, June 29,
2008 2008 2008 2008
Net revenus $198,15¢ $204,46« $ 179,36: $ 161,35¢
Gross profil $ 63,86 $ 66,40¢ $ 62,29: $ 48,45¢
Provision for income taxe $ 7,86 $ 8,71¢ $  7,92¢ $ 2,78
Net income $ 11,22¢ $ 11,06¢ $ 3,10¢ $ (7,349
Net income per sha—basic $ 0.32 $ 031 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.2)
Net income per she—diluted $ 031 $ 031 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.2)
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedure
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atidthe participation of our management (including Ghief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer), our Chief Executive Officand Chief Financial Officer have concluded that disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeEttehange Act were effective as of the end of théodecovered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to ensure that information required tadiselosed by us in reports that we file or sutumitler the Exchange Act is (i) recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieneds specified in the SEC’s rules and forms @hdccumulated and communicated to
our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, as appropriateltovatimely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Managemen’'s Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@orting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Exchange Act). Because of its iahtlimitations, internal control over financiapa@ting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures mieteriorate.
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Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, conducted an eviidueof the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of @etber 31, 2009. In making this assessment, our geamant used the criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by Tommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the dingey Commission (COSO). Based
on management’s assessment using those criterimpanagement concluded that our internal contrel édwmancial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2009. The effectiveness of ouratecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®&, 2009 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regisfaiblic accounting firm, as stated in their répdrich is included in this Annual Rept
on Form 10-K.

Remediation of Material Weaknes

During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, in cotivacwith the restatement of our previously isstiedncial statements for the period
ended March 29, 2009, and our assessment of czloslise controls and procedures, management cattlindit as of March 29, 2009, our
disclosure controls and procedures were not effectnd that we had a material weakness in inteoatol over financial reporting. The
material weakness related to the accounting farmetaxes. Specifically, we did not maintain aisight complement of tax personnel with
the required proficiency to identify, evaluate,ieav, and report complex tax accounting mattergrtter to remediate the material weakness,
we engaged tax specialists to assist us in theapgipn and review of the income tax provision. Aiddally, in November 2009 we hired
additional personnel in the tax department witHisigiht knowledge and experience in tax to furttgpplement and strengthen the controls
around the tax provision. As a result of theseoasti management has concluded that we have rereédiest material weakness related to
income taxes as of December 31, 2009.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportmn

The discussion above under “Remediation of Mat&Mabkness” includes a description of the matehahges to the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting during the fougharter of 2009 that materially affected the Conypainternal control over financial reportii

Item 9B.  Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Il is incorpted herein by reference from our proxy statemelated to our 2010 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, which we intend to file no lateah 120 days after the end of the fiscal year @by this Form 10-K.

Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govene

The information required by this Item concerning directors and executive officers is incorpordtgdeference to the sections of our
Proxy Statement under the headings “Election oé@ors,” “Board and Committee Meetings,” and “Sactl6(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance,” and to the information camgd in the section captioned “Executive Officefshe Registrantincluded under Part |«
this Form 10-K.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that appliesit@€bief Executive Officer and senior financial o#fs, as required by the SEC. The
current version of our Code of Ethics can be foanaur Internet site at http://www.netgear.com. #iddal information required by this Item
regarding our Code of Ethics is incorporated bgrefice to the information contained in the seat@ptioned “Corporate Governance Policies
and Practices” in our Proxy Statement.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementeurigm 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendmentitayaiver from, a provision of
our Code of Ethics by posting such information onwebsite at http://www.netgear.com within fousimess days following the date of such
amendment or waiver.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorpetby reference to the sections of our Proxy Stat¢mnder the headings
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Execu@@mpensation,” “Director Compensation,” “CompensatCommittee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” and “Report of the CompdisaCommittee of the Board of Directors.”

ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alinagement and Related Stockholder Matt:
The information required by this Item regarding iggaompensation plans is incorporated by referéndbe section entitled “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” set forth in Iteraf3his Form 10-K.

The additional information required by this Itenirisorporated by reference to the information coved in the section captioned
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersldianagement” in our Proxy Statement.

ltem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenci

The information required by this Item is incorp@cby reference to the information contained ingbetion captioned “Election of
Directors” and “Related Party Transactions” in 8uoxy Statement.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servici

The information required by this Item related taliafiees and services is incorporated by referéa¢be information contained in the
section captioned “Ratification of Appointment aflependent Registered Public Accounting Firm” apgpgan our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ltem 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedu
(a) The following documents are filed as part of tld@part:

(1) Financial Statements.

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEimm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &00D200¢

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the theees ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the three years ended December 31, 20088 and 200
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the theaes ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudite
Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repay

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

Page
52

53
54
55
56
57
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The following financial statement schedule of NETAFE Inc. for the fiscal years ended December 3092@008 and 2007 is filed as

part of this Form 10-K and should be read in codfiom with the Consolidated Financial StatementSlIBTf GEAR, Inc.

Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In thousands)

Allowance for doubtful account
Year ended December 31, 2C
Year ended December 31, 2C
Year ended December 31, 2C

Allowance for sales returns and product warra
Year ended December 31, 2C
Year ended December 31, 2C
Year ended December 31, 2C

Allowance for price protectior
Year ended December 31, 2C
Year ended December 31, 2C
Year ended December 31, 2C

Balance a
Balance a

Beginning

End of
of Year Additions Deductions Year

1,91¢ 217 (97) 2,03¢
2,307 43 (432) 1,91¢
1,727 96€ (38€) 2,307
38,311 67,34( (63,059 42,60:
36,97 69,74¢ (68,40%) 38,317
29,42¢  62,98. (55,436 36,97«
3,43( 6,56¢ (8,44¢) 1,54¢
497 7,48¢ (4,556 3,43(
3,19¢ 5,291 (7,999 497

(3) Exhibits.The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index thiBits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this Annual
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized, in the City of Sage]d&tate of California, on the 1st day of
March 2010.

NETGEAR, INC.
Registran

/s/  PATRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes anairgppPatrick C.S.
Lo and Christine M. Gorjanc, and each of them aligsrneys-in-fact, each with the power of substittfor him in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this Report on Fdi+K and to file the same, with exhibits theretd ather documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Comimisdiereby ratifying and confirming all that easfhsaid attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute
or substitutes, may do or cause to be done byevirareof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and oré#tes indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ Patrick C.S. Lo Chairman of the Board ar March 1, 201(
Patrick C.S. Lo Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC Chief Financial Office March 1, 201(
Christine M. Gorjanc (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/s/  JoCELYNC ARTER-M ILLER Director March 1, 2010

Jocelyn Carter-Miller

/sl RALPHE. FAISON Director March 1, 2010
Ralph E. Faison
/s/ A.TiMOTHY G ODWIN Director March 1, 201(
A. Timothy Godwin
/s/ JEFG RAHAM Director March 1, 2010
Jef Graham
/s/ LinwooDA. L Acy, JR. Director March 1, 201(

Linwood A. Lacy, Jr.

/s/ GEORGEG. C. PARKER Director March 1, 2010
George G. C. Parker
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Signature

/s/ GREGORYJ. RossMANN

Gregory J. Rossmann

/s/ JULIE A. SHIMER

Julie A. Shimer

Director

Director
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Date

March 1, 2010

March 1, 201(
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Exhibit
Number

2.1%

3.3

3.5

4.1
10.1
10.2#
10.3#
10.4#
10.5#
10.8#
10.9#
10.10#
10.12#
10.13

10.13.1
10.14*
10.15*

10.24*
10.25*

10.26*

10.30#
10.33#
10.34

10.41**

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemb20@2, by and among CP Secure International Holtingted, the

stockholders thereof and the registran

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiotihe registrant(2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrat

Form of registrar's common stock certificate(

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors afticers(2)

2000 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreementsthater(2]

2003 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereuic

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Offer Letter, dated December 3, 1999, betweenedbestrant and Patrick C.S. Lo(

Offer Letter, dated December 9, 1999, betweenedbestrant and Mark G. Merrill(Z

Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2002, letvitee registrant and Michael F. Falcor
Employment Agreement, dated January 6, 2003, betieeregistrant and Charles T. Olsor
Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2005, émtvthe registrant and Christine M. Gorjant

Standard Office Lease, dated December 3, 2001 dagtthe registrant and Dell Associates II-A, amdtFAmendment to
Standard Office Lease, dated March 21, 200

Second Amendment to Lease, dated June 30, 20Qdedethe registrant and Dell Associate-A(4)
Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1997, betwthenregistrant and Tech Data Product Managemeni{2)

Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1996, betwiberregistrant and Ingram Micro Inc., as amendedinendment dated
October 1, 1996 and Amendment No. 2 dated JulyL998(2)

Warehousing Agreement, dated July 5, 2001, betwheeregistrant and APL, Logistics Americas, Ltd.

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated April 2002, between the registrant and DSV Solutions Bfdfmerly Furness
Logistics BV)(2)

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated Decemb&0D1, between the registrant and Kerry Logistitsng Kong) Limited
)

Employment Agreement, dated November 3, 2003, ketvtee registrant and Michael Werdanr

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan and forms of agreegm#rereunder(€

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Jul2@66, by and among the registrant, SKJM Holdinggp@ation, SkipJam
Corp., Michael Spilo, Jonathan Daub, Francis Rédehnis Aldover and Zhicheng Qiu(

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May @728y and among the registrant, NAS Holdings Cafion, Infrant
Technologies, Inc., certain Infrant shareholdeesehbf, and Paul Tien as the Holders Represent8)i
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Exhibit
Number

10.42#
10.44
10.45
10.46#
10.47#
10.49#
10.50#
10.51#
10.52#
10.53#
10.54#
10.55#
211
23.1
24.1
311

31.2

32.1

32.2

Description

NETGEAR, Inc. 2007 Bonus Plan(

Office Lease, dated as of September 25, 2007, Bypatween the registrant and BRE/Plumeria, LLC

First Amendment to Office Lease, dated as of ApBil 2008, by and between the registrant and BRE/@&lia, LLC(11)
Amended and Restated 2006 L-Term Incentive Plan(1z

NETGEAR, Inc. Executive Bonus Plan(1

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decem®e2@08, between the registrant and Michael F.dfglc3)
Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decembge2@08, between the registrant and Christine Go(jEB)
Amendment to Offer Letter, dated December 23, 26@8yeen the registrant and Patrick Lo(

Amendment to Offer Letter, dated December 28, 26@8yeen the registrant and Mark Merrill(:

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decemée2@08, between the registrant and Chuck Olsor
Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decembge2@08, between the registrant and Michael Werd)
Amendment #2 to Employment Agreement, dated Sepeih 2009, between the registrant and ChristiogaBc(14)
List of subsidiaries and affiliate

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, IndeperRiegistered Public Accounting Fir

Power of Attorney (included on signature pa

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14&adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuait $ecurities Exchange Act Rules -14(a)/15+14(a), as adopted pursuant
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdtioBe906 of the Sarbar-
Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioBe06 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act 0f2002

#  Indicates management contract or compensatoryglarrangemen

*

Confidential treatment has been granted as toingrtations of this Exhibit

**  Registrant hereby agrees to furnish a copy of thigted schedules and exhibits to the SecuritiesEamhange Commission upon

request

(1) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit beathe same number filed with the Registrant’s QurReport on Form 8-K filed on
September 23, 2008 with the Securities and Exch@uagemission

(2) Incorporated by reference to an exhibit filethwthe Registrant’'s Registration Statement on F8kth (Registration Statement 333-
104419), which the Securities and Exchange Comarisséclared effective on July 30, 201

(3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of thegRtran’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 22, 2005 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic
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(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)

(14)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of thgiR&an’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed on November 17, 2004 with t
Securities and Exchange Commissi

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11ef Registrant’s Annual Report on Form KR @Hed on March 5, 2004 with the Securities ¢
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to the copy inclutheithe Registrant’s Proxy Statement for the 2006 u#al Meeting of Stockholders filed on
April 21, 2006 with the Securities and Exchange Gussion.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Re&gn’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on July 27, 2006 with the Securities ¢
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Ri&gn’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 3, 2007 with the Securities &
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed oayB, 2007 with the Securities and
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1h#f Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filedSeptember 27, 2007 with the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of thgB&an’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed on May 9, 2008 with the Securities ¢
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to the copy includedheRegistrars Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting otiholders filed o1
April 28, 2008 with the Securities and Exchange Gussion.

Incorporated by reference to the copy incluitetthe Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-kdilon March 4, 2009 with the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of thgiR&an’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 21, 2009 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic
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Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Registrant

NETGEAR, Inc.

Netgear International, In

SkipJam Corp. (Delaware)

Infrant Technologies, LLC (California)
Netgear Holdings, Ltd. (Irelant

Netgear International, Ltd. (Irelan

NTGR Cyprus Ltd. (Cyprus

Netgear Czech Republic s.r.o. (Czech Repul
Netgear Poland sp. Z.0.0. (Polal

Netgear Norway AS (Norway

Netgear Switzerland GmbH (Switzerlar
Netgear U.K. Limited (United Kingdon
Netgear New Zealand (New Zealat

Netgear Australia Pty Ltd. (Australi

Netgear Hong Kong Limited (Hong Kon
Netgear (Beijing) Network Technology Co., L
Netgear Austria GmbH (Austri

Netgear Deutschland GmbH (Germa
Netgear Do Brasil Produtos Eletronicos Ltda (Bie
Netgear Mexico S. de R.L. (Mexic

Netgear Japan K.K. (Jape

Netgear Netherlands B.V. (Netherlan
Netgear Technologies India Private Limited (Inc
Netgear Taiwan Co., Ltd. (Taiwa

Netgear Asia Pte. Limited (Singapo

Netgear Asia Holdings Limited (Hong Kon

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémd¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8:-B37718, 333-136892 and 333-
136895) of NETGEAR, Inc. of our report dated Maict?010 relating to the financial statements, faiahstatement schedule and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 1, 2010



EXHIBIT 31.1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick C.S. Lo, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#ttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andfie periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and)1B§(e)) and internal control over financial reogy (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financing réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) dritave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 1, 2010

By: /s/ PatrickC.S.Lo
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 31.2
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Christine M. Gorjanc, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the“Registrar”);

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or angttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementso#imer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andfie periods presented in this
report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and)1B§(e)) and internal control over financial reogy (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financing réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drftave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 1, 2010

By: /s/ CHRISTINE M. G ORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg lifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endimtember 31, 2009, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordéte hereof (the “Report”), Patrick C.S. Lo, Chairman and Chief Executivéi€2f of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 28 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”),
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m);
and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 1, 2010

By: /s/ PatrickC.S.Lo
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished ® $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its sgafiuequest.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with 8exurities and Exchange Commission and is
be incorporated by reference into any filing of empany under the Securities Act of 1933 or tlee®es Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of this Form 10-KgsSpective of any general incorporation languagatained in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg lifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endimtember 31, 2009, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ortéte hereof (the “Report”), I, Christine M. Gorja@hief Financial Officer of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section012& adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”),
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Aa@%84 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fajphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 1, 2010

By: /'s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished ® $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its spafiirequest.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with Becurities and Exchange Commission and is n
be incorporated by reference into any filing of thempany under the Securities Act of 1933 or tleei®es Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of this Forn-K), irrespective of any general incorporation larage contained in such filin



